

To divide or differentiate?

Nestin-mediated regulation of Cdk5 in cell fate decisions

Julia Lindqvist



To divide or differentiate?

Nestin-mediated regulation of Cdk5 in cell fate decisions

Julia Lindqvist

Department of Biosciences Faculty of Science and Engineering, Åbo Akademi University Turku Centre for Biotechnology, University of Turku and Åbo Akademi University Turku Doctoral Programme of Biomedical Sciences Finland, 2015 From the Department of Biosciences, Faculty of Science and Engineering, Åbo Akademi University, Turku Centre for Biotechnology, University of Turku and Åbo Akademi University and Turku Doctoral Programme of Biomedical Sciences

Supervised by

Professor John Eriksson Department of Biosciences, Faculty of Science and Engineering, Åbo Akademi University Turku Centre for Biotechnology, University of Turku and Åbo Akademi University Turku, Finland

Reviewed by

Professor Thomas Magin Institute of Biology and Translational Center for Regenerative Medicine University of Leipzig Leipzig, Germany

Docent Maria Vartiainen Institute of Biotechnology University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland

Opponent

Dr. Karen M. Ridge Feinberg School of Medicine Northwestern University Chicago, USA

ISBN 978-952-12-3239-8 Painosalama Oy – Turku, Finland 2015

To my family and friends

TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of Original Publications	6
Abbreviations	7
Abstract	9
Introduction	10
Review of the Literature	12
1 Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 in development and disease	12
1.1 The molecular structure of Cdk5	12
1.2 Mechanisms of Cdk5 activation	13
1.3 Developmental and physiological functions of Cdk5	17
1.4 Pathological deregulation of Cdk5	24
2 The intermediate filament protein nestin in cell signaling	
2.1 Intermediate filament essentials: structure and dynamics	
2.2 Post-translational regulation of intermediate filament assembly	
2.3 Intermediate filaments as signaling scaffolds	
3 Myogenesis	
3.1 Skeletal muscle stem cells and muscle differentiation	45
3.2 Muscle repair processes	46
3.3 Laboratory models in muscle research	
Aims of the Study	48
Experimental Procedures	
1 Cell culture methods and experimental treatments	
1.1 Cell lines	
1.2 Experimental treatments	
1.3 Transient transfections and plasmids	50
1.4 Cell proliferation assays	50
2 Mouse strains and tissue preparation	51
2.1 Primary muscle myoblast cultures	51
2.2 Myofiber isolation	
2.3 TA-muscle injury	
3 Immunoprecipitation and cell fractionation	
4 Western blotting	
5 Immunocytochemistry and immunohistochemistry	53

6 Flow cytometry
7 Cdk5 kinase activity54
8 In vitro phosphorylation and mass spectrometry54
9 Statistical analysis55
Results and Discussion
1 Cdk5-nestin crosstalk adjusts myogenic differentiation (I)
1.1 Nestin fine-tunes the pace of muscle differentiation
1.2 The importance of the nestin scaffold in regulation of p35 turnover in myoblasts 57
1.3 Cdk5 talks back: self-regulation through nestin
2 Nestin regulates skeletal muscle homeostasis and regeneration in vivo (II)60
2.1 Gender and age-dependent variability in myoblast p35 expression60
2.2 Nestin ^{-/-} mice have less lean mass and show signs of spontaneous muscle regeneration
2.3 Muscle healing after injury is delayed in nestin ^{-/-} mice63
3 Cdk5 controls prostate cancer cell proliferation through Akt and AR (III)65
3.1 Nestin - a Cdk5 scaffold in prostate cancer?65
3.2 Cdk5 phosphorylates AR and guides its target gene specificity
3.3 Cdk5 regulates prostate cancer cell proliferation67
3.4 Complex Cdk5-Akt-androgen interplay in prostate cancer cells
Concluding Remarks
Acknowledgements74
References
Original Publications

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following original publications and manuscripts. They are referred to in the text by their roman numerals. The original publications have been reproduced with permission of the copyright holders. In addition, the thesis includes unpublished data.

- I. Pallari H.-M., <u>Lindqvist I.</u>, Torvaldson E., Ferraris S.E., He T., Sahlgren C., Eriksson J.E. Nestin as a regulator of Cdk5 in differentiating myoblasts *Mol Biol Cell*. 2011 May; 22(9):1539-49
- II. <u>Lindqvist J.</u>*, Torvaldson E.*, Gullmets J., Karvonen H., Taimen P., Eriksson J.E. The intermediate filament protein nestin is required for skeletal muscle physiology and regeneration *Manuscript*
- III. Lindqvist J., Imanishi S.I.*, Torvaldson E.*, Malinen M., Remes M., Örn F., Palvimo J.J., Eriksson J.E. Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 acts as a critical determinant of AKT-dependent proliferation and regulates differential gene expression by the androgen receptor in prostate cancer cells Mol Biol Cell. 2015 June; 26(11):1971-84

*equal contribution

ABBREVIATIONS

ACh	Acetylcholine
AChR	Acetylcholine receptor
AD	Alzheimer 's disease
ADT	Androgen deprivation therapy
ATM	Ataxia telangiectasia mutated
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
AR	Androgen receptor
Bcl-2	B-cell lymphoma 2
CamKII	Ca ²⁺ /calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II
Cdk5	Cyclin-dependent kinase 5
Cdk5-SV	Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 splice variant
CHX	Cycloheximide
CNS	Central nervous system
CRPC	Castration resistant prostate cancer
DARPP-32	Dopamine- and cAMP-regulated phosphoprotein, 32 kDa
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
DN-Cdk5	Dominant negative Cyclin-dependent kinase 5
EDL	Extensor digitorum longus muscle
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
EGFR	Epidermal growth factor receptor
ERK	Extracellular signal-regulated kinase
FAK	Focal adhesion kinase
FCS	Fetal calf serum
FSH	Follicle-stimulating hormone
GFP	Green fluorescent protein
GLUT-4	Glucose transporter type 4
GR	Glucocorticoid receptor
GSK3β	Glycogen Synthase Kinase 3β
hCG	Human chorionic gonadotropin
ICC	Immunocytochemistry
IDE	Insulin degrading enzyme
IF	Intermediate filament
IFP	Intermediate filament protein
IHC	Immunohistochemistry
IL-6	Interleukin 6
IP	Immunoprecipitation
JNK3	c-Jun N-terminal kinase 3
LAP2a	Lamina-associated polypeptide 2a
LC-MS/MS	Liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry
LH	Luteinizing hormone
LLB	Laemmli lysis buffer
L-VDCC	L-type voltage-dependent Ca ²⁺ channel
MEF	Mouse embryonic fibroblast
MEF2	Myocyte enhancer factor-2
MEK1	MAP kinase kinase-1
MEK2	ERK activator kinase 2 (MAP kinase kinase 2)
MHC	Myosin heavy chain

MuSK	Muscle specific kinase		
MSC	Mesenchymal stem cell		
Mst3	Mammalian STE20-like protein kinase 3		
mTOR	Mammalian target of Rapamycin		
MTS	3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-5-(3-carboxymethoxyphenyl)-2-(4-		
	sulfophenyl)-2H-tetrazolium		
Nest-640	GFP tagged nestin truncation construct (amino acids 1-640)		
NF	Neurofilament		
NRG	Neuregulin		
NMDAR	N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor		
NMJ	Neuromuscular junction		
Ndel1	Nuclear distribution protein nudE-like 1		
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline		
PFA	Paraformaldehyde		
PI3K	Phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate 3-kinase		
PIKE-A	Isoform A of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase enhancer		
PIP3	Phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-trisphosphate		
РКС	Protein kinase C		
PPARγ	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma		
PS	Pseudosubstrate (PKCζ inhibitor)		
PSD-95	Postsynaptic density-95		
PTEN	Phosphatase and tensin homolog		
PTM	Post-translational modification		
RT-qPCR	Reverse transcription quantitative polymerase chain reaction		
pRb	Retinoblastoma protein		
RNAi	RNA interference		
SDS-PAGE	Sodium dodecylsulphate- polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis		
Sik2	Salt-inducible kinase 2		
siRNA	Small interfering RNA		
StAR	Steroidogenic acute regulatory protein		
STAT3	Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3		
T2D	Type II diabetes		
ТА	Tibialis anterior muscle		
TNFa	Tumor necrosis factor a		
WAVE 1	Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein family member 1		
WB	Western blotting		

Abstract

The molecular functions of the non-cell cycle-related Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 (Cdk5) have been of primary interest within the neuroscience field, but novel undertakings are constantly emerging for the kinase in tissue homeostasis, as well as in diseases such as diabetes and cancer. Although Cdk5 activation is predominantly regulated by specific non-cyclin activator protein binding, additional mechanisms have proved to orchestrate Cdk5 signaling in cells. For example, the interaction between the intermediate filament protein nestin and Cdk5 has been proposed to determine cellular fate during neuronal apoptosis through nestin-dependent adjustment of the sensitive balance and turnover of Cdk5 activators. While nestin constitutes a crucial regulatory scaffold for appropriate Cdk5 activation in apoptosis, Cdk5 itself phosphorylates nestin with the consequence of filament reorganization in both neuronal progenitors and differentiating muscle cells. Interestingly, the two proteins are often found coexpressed in various tissues and cell types, proposing that nestin-mediated scaffolding of Cdk5 and its activators may be applicable to other tissue systems as well. In the literature, the molecular functions of nestin have remained in the shade, as it is mostly exploited as a marker protein for progenitor cells. In light of these studies, the aim of this thesis was to assess the importance of the nestin scaffold in regulation of Cdk5 actions in cell fate decisions.

This thesis can be subdivided into two major projects: one that studied the nature of the Cdk5nestin interplay in muscle, and one that assessed their role in prostate cancer. During differentiation of a myoblast cell line, the filament formation properties of nestin was found to be crucial in directing Cdk5 activity, with direct consequences on the process of differentiation. Also the genetic knockout of nestin was found to influence Cdk5 activity, although differentiation per se was not affected. Instead, the genetic ablation of nestin had broad consequences on muscle homeostasis and regeneration. While the nestin-mediated regulation of Cdk5 in muscle was found to act in multiple ways, the connection remained more elusive in cancer models. Cdk5 was, however, established as a significant determinant of prostate cancer proliferation; a behavior uncharacteristic for this differentiation-associated kinase. Through complex and simultaneous regulation of two major prostate cancer pathways, Cdk5 was placed upstream of both Akt kinase and the androgen receptor. Its action on proliferation was nonetheless mainly exerted through the Akt signaling pathway in various cancer models. In summary, this thesis contributed to the knowledge of Cdk5 regulation and functions in two atypical settings; proliferation (in a cancer framework) and muscle differentiation, which is a poorly understood model system in the Cdk5 field. This balance between proliferation and differentiation implemented by Cdk5 is ultimately regulated (where present) by the dynamics of the cytoskeletal nestin scaffold.

INTRODUCTION

The stem cells that derive from the inner cell mass of the blastocyst in the developing embryo are the precursors to all cells and tissue types in the body. Through the process of differentiation, the stem cell loses its totipotency, and acquires instead more specialized functions needed by the particular cell type it will differentiate into. Whereas stem cells have the capacity to divide limitlessly, most differentiated cell types have lost the capacity of cell division in humans, and have entered the quiescent G₀-cell cycle phase. During their lifetime, all tissues are disposed to constant environmental stress, which is harmful for the cells. For example, in response to injury and the consequential loss of cells, tissues need to replenish lost material. This typically occurs through the activation and differentiation of tissue-resident progenitor cells, with the help of an inflammatory response, which aids in the recruitment of appropriate cell types to the site of damage. Thus, most tissues do have the capacity of self-renewal, at least to a certain extent. An example of a constantly renewing tissue is skeletal muscle. Skeletal muscle is prone to injuries of variable extent, including the microdamage that is induced by everyday tasks such as motility and exercise. Exercise-provoked activation of muscle progenitor cells heals the damaged myofibers and contributes to muscle mass increase. The muscle progenitors have limited renewal capacity, and will eventually deplete with time. Muscle resident progenitor cells are also depleted or dysfunctional in disease conditions, such as muscle dystrophies. Tissue damage is strictly regulated by the inflammatory environment, and a correct response that drives the proliferation and differentiation of all cell types involved is necessary for proper healing. A prolonged inflammation can cause stem cell depletion and fibrosis, with dire consequences on tissue function.

An interesting example of flawed differentiation, or rather the lack of differentiation, is cancer. Cancerous cells are generated by accumulation of mutations to the cell's genome. Eventually, the mutations provide the cancer cells with growth advantage properties that will allow the cells to divide endlessly, defy cell death, resist cell contact-independent growth and acquire a motile phenotype required for metastasis. Cancer cells and stem cells resemble each other in their great proliferation capacity, which in the case of cancer cells, has gone out of reach of the cellular control mechanisms that have evolved to prevent selfish cell behavior. Although limitless proliferation is used to define cancer, malignancies that arise in different tissues have unique molecular characteristics, different origin and are surrounded by a distinctive environment that transforms the cells it surrounds. While mutations in most common oncogenes and tumor suppressors occur in most, if not all cancers, tissue-specific tumor founder mutations reflect the tissue source. In the case of prostate cancer, which is studied in this thesis, the androgen signaling also required for prostate development, plays a key role in prostate carcinogenesis.

As cells are constantly under the strain of various stress factors of variable severity and type that may damage the cells' proteins and DNA, the cells need a rapid signal transduction system to respond to extracellular cues. All the signals that a cell receives are combined and interpreted by signaling executors inside the cell, allowing an appropriate cellular response to occur. Protein kinases are such crucial components of the cell's signal transduction system. There are thought to be approximately 500 kinases in humans, which are further subcategorized according to sequence and functional homology (Manning et al., 2002) (Figure 1). These kinases have evolved to mediate highly specialized functions within the cell. They regulate target protein function, localization and activity through addition of negatively charged phosphate groups on serine, threonine or tyrosine residues on target proteins. Thus, phosphorylation, a form of post-translational modification, is a quick and reversible modification that transfers cellular signals within minutes inside the cell, but can also be sustained for extended periods. Protein



Figure 1 Classification of human kinases. The approximately 500 human kinases are classified into 9 major groups based on sequence comparison. The groups are further sub-categorized into families (the number of kinase families per group is marked in parentheses). In addition, the atypical kinases consist of 8 groups, containing a total of 15 families. Cdk5 belongs to the CMGC group of kinases, which also includes the GSK and MAPK families. Here, the Cdks are classified into three functionally different groups (not homology-based). Modified from Manning et al., 2002.

phosphorylation is actively counteracted by de-phosphorylation by protein phosphatases such as the Ser/Thr phosphatases PP2A and PP1. In addition to phosphorylation, other forms of posttranslational modifications (such as ubiquitination, SUMOylation, glycosylation, methylation and acetylation) are thought to be equally powerful in the functional alterations of proteins, and can function as efficient on/off switches for cellular responses.

Protein kinases regulate most signal transduction pathways, and have vast effects on cell division, apoptosis, differentiation, growth, migration and invasion. Deregulation of phosphorylation patterns are acknowledged to contribute to diseases such as neurodegenerative conditions as well as cancer, making protein kinases attractive pharmaceutical targets. Kinase inhibitors are in fact one of the most investigated cancer drug types due to their potential to be very selective, and the fact

that many cancer types are often highly dependent on a few signaling pathways, in other words they are "oncogene-addicted". Most oncogenic kinases have broad (pro-proliferative, promigratory, anti-apoptotic) and inter-connected functions; therefore, in the case of one-pathway addiction, single kinase inhibitors may have desirable effects in patients. Acquired resistance in response to chemotherapy is, however, common, and leads to adaptation of cancer cells to a new environment. Functional compensation by other oncogenic pathways that were not initially targeted may require further actions and lead to re-design of medication. Thus, to target specific protein kinases for pharmacological purposes, we first need to understand how these kinases work in different contexts, how they are regulated and how they connect with other signaling pathways.

This thesis aimed to understand the roles and regulation of the atypical protein kinase cyclindependent kinase 5 (Cdk5) in two model systems: muscle and prostate cancer. On one hand, I have studied how the cytoskeletal protein nestin affects Cdk5 signaling in muscle progenitor cell cultures and in animals lacking nestin. Here I describe that nestin is an essential part of the Cdk5-regulatory axis in muscle differentiation, as it fine-tunes the early stages of the differentiation process and acts as a dynamic scaffold for the kinase. The other project has focused on the role of Cdk5 in prostate cancer proliferation. Although Cdk5 is classically considered to be a key component of neuronal differentiation, recent studies have revealed that Cdk5 plays an essential part in many tissue types during homeostasis and disease. In this work, I depict how this differentiation-related kinase also has pro-proliferative effects on cancer cell growth through its mutual effects on the oncogenic kinase Akt and androgen signaling. Together these studies have assessed some less well understood functions of Cdk5 and have broadened the view of typical Cdk5 functions.

REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

1 Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 in development and disease

The Cyclin-dependent kinases (Cdks) are a group of more than 20 Ser/Thr protein kinases in humans. They are mainly activated, as their name suggests, through their association with cyclins or cyclin-like proteins. Cdk4, Cdk6, Cdk2 and Cdk1 (Cdc2) are involved in the progression of mammalian cell cycle (G_1 phase; G_1 phase; G_1/S transition, S and G_2 phases; M-phase, respectively) and are activated through the association with their cognate cyclin partners (D-cyclins; D-cyclins; E- and A-cyclins; B-cyclins, respectively). The Cdk family also contains members that are involved in transcription through their interactions with RNA polymerase II (Cdk7, Cdk8, Cdk9 and Cdk11). Unlike the other kinase family members, Cdk5 was originally described as a master regulator of neuronal differentiation and death, but further studies have revealed complex roles for the kinase in several tissue types, with functions in cellular secretion, survival and motility.

1.1 The molecular structure of Cdk5

The 33-kDa Cdk5 was originally categorized in the subfamily of cyclin-dependent kinases according to sequence homology to Cdk1 (~58%) and Cdk2 (~61%) (Hellmich et al., 1992). Formerly known as neuronal cdc2-like kinase (nclk) or PSSALRE, Cdk5 was first cloned from rat brain lysates (Hellmich et al., 1992). In addition, Cdk5 has been identified in most studied animals, including human (Meyerson et al., 1992). Cdk5 is, in fact, highly conserved in mammals (~99%), suggesting an important cellular function for the protein (Tsai et al., 1993). For comparison, *Drosophila* Cdk5 shows 77% sequence homology to mammalian genes (Hellmich et al., 1994). In addition, evidence point towards the existence of a functional Cdk5-homolog in yeast: the Pho85-kinase deletion phenotype can be rescued with Cdk5 expression, at least in terms of restoration of actin cytoskeleton organization and nutrient sensing, which include some of the functions of Pho85 (Huang et al., 1999).

Despite its close structural resemblance to other Cdks, Cdk5 shows unique features that distinguishes it from the other family members. Firstly, all Cdks contain a distinctive amino acid sequence in between the small N-terminal lobe and the α -helical C-terminus, which in the case of Cdk5 is the one letter amino acid sequence PSSALRE (Meyerson et al., 1992); hence its original name. In between the N- and C-termini of all Cdks lies an adenosine triphosphate (ATP)-directing activation loop that also contributes to substrate specificity. In contrast to other Cdk family members, Cdk5 can associate with certain cyclins, but is mainly activated by non-cyclin proteins. The third major factor that distinguishes Cdk5 from cell cycle Cdks is its independence of activation loop phosphorylation upon activation, a crucial step in classical Cdk activation. Instead, activator binding promotes an active conformation of Cdk5, while simultaneously affecting kinase substrate specificity (Qi et al., 1995; Tarricone et al., 2001). Classically, c-Abl (Zukerberg et al., 2000) and Fyn kinase (Sasaki et al., 2002)-mediated phosphorylation of Cdk5 Tyr15 is thought to promote kinase activity in neurons, while the phosphorylation of the corresponding residues on classical Cdks has a strong inhibitory effect on kinase activity. On the other hand, recent data suggests that Fyn increases Cdk5 activity by promoting p35 stability, and that Tyr15-phosphorylated Cdk5 could in fact reside in an inactive monomeric state (Kobayashi et al., 2014). Thus, phospho-antibodies directed at Cdk5 Tyr15 are not a suitable tool for assessing the Cdk5 activation state. In addition, Cdk5 activity has been suggested to be post-translationally repressed by S-nitrosylation of Cys83 in the ATP binding pocket, a motif not present in other Cdks (Zhang et al., 2010b). While these structural features differentiate Cdk5 from its family members, the substrate consensus phosphorylation sequence of these kinases is strikingly similar. Cdk5 phosphorylates serines (Ser) and threonines (Thr) followed by a proline (Pro) on substrates that contain the consensus sequence (Ser/Thr)ProX(Lys/His/Arg), where X is any amino acid that is followed by one of the basic amino acids lysine, histidine or arginine (Songyang et al., 1996). Thus, Cdk5 and Cdk1 do share several substrates.

In 2010, two independent reports indicated the presence of a ubiquitously expressed novel Cdk5 splice variant (Cdk5-SV) (Kim et al. 2010; Li et al. 2010). The truncated Cdk5-SV has a molecular weight of 29 kDa, and shows a prominent nuclear/perinuclear localization (Kim et al. 2010; Li et al. 2010). Interestingly, Kim and co-authors (2010) reported that exogenous Cdk5-SV co-localized with centrosomes, which according to the authors, possibly signified a cell division-related role. It should be highlighted in this context that Cdk5-SV is detected by most commercial antibodies (including those described in this thesis). Thus, it is impossible to distinguish between the functions of the distinct splice variants from previous literature, as most studies are investigating endogenous Cdk5. However, there is currently no evidence of Cdk5-SV kinase activity in tissues.

1.2 Mechanisms of Cdk5 activation

Cdk5 activation unconditionally requires binding of activator proteins. The certainly most studied activation mechanism of Cdk5 is through its interaction with p35, as well as its cleavage product p25, which is generated by calpain-dependent cleavage of the mother protein. The Cdk5 interaction with p35 occurs between amino acids 138 and 291 on p35 (Amin et al., 2002; Poon et al., 1997). Recent studies have expanded on the mechanisms that regulate Cdk5 activation also beyond classical neuronal models and challenged the previous view of the activation process.

1.2.1 p35 and its proteolytic cleavage products

Cdk5 and p35 (as well as its proteolytic cleavage product p25) were first discovered by pulldown of the active complexes from brain lysates (Lew et al., 1992a; Lew et al., 1994; Tsai et al., 1994). p35 (also known as CDK5R1, and previously nck5a) is unrelated to the cyclin protein family; yet the crystal structure of p25 reveals that the three dimensional conformation shows striking similarities to cyclin A, as the activator contains a cyclin box fold-like motif in the Cdk5-binding region (Tarricone et al., 2001). Hence the tertiary structure of the holokinase allows comparable interactions between the subunits similar to classical cyclin-Cdk pairs; an interaction, which advances ATP-binding and substrate recognition. Activator binding to Cdk5 occurs through interactions with the kinase activation loop and the Cdk5-specific PSSALREregion (Tarricone et al., 2001).

Cleavage of p35 to p25 by calpains has broad consequences on Cdk5 activity through effects on both the stability and localization of the active kinase complex. p35 is normally associated with the plasma membrane, but can also be detected in perinuclear areas in the cytoplasm. If the p35 myristoylation site Gly2 is mutated, the intracellular localization of p35 is dramatically altered, shifting towards a diffuse cytoplasmic and partially nuclear pool (Asada et al., 2008). As calpain cleavage removes the myristoylated p35 N-terminus, the direct outcome of calpain activity is generation of freely motile kinase-p25 complexes, which tend to accumulate in the nucleus (Figure 2). The myristoylation of the N-terminal Gly2 on p35 is adequate for membrane recruitment, but positively charged Lys residues further stabilize the membrane association (Asada et al., 2008). The N-terminal Lys cluster has dual functionality, as the cluster also

interacts with importins facilitate to nuclear import of the protein (Fu et al., 2006). Therefore, the classical view of p35 activator localization has been challenged. Nuclear p35 is known to be important for Cdk5mediated neuronal cell cycle suppression also in the nucleus (Zhang et al., 2010a), supporting the



Figure 2 Cdk5 activity and localization is regulated by activator binding. The processing of p35 affects both the activation of Cdk5 as well as its localization. Both p35 and p25 do have physiological functions, but detrimental and disease-related p25 generation is an important mechanism in neurodegenerative disease. NMJ: neuromuscular junction.

notion that its nuclear localization may have a true biological function.

The second important distinction between p35 and p25 is the difference in their half-life. p35 is rapidly degraded by the proteasome and has a half-life of 20-30 minutes, while p25 shows a notable increase (2-3 times) in protein stability (Patrick et al., 1998a). It is believed that the p10 fraction of p35 contains degradation elements that promote both proteasomal degradation and calpain cleavage at the membrane (Minegishi et al., 2010). The first evidence of calpain-mediated cleavage of p35 came from evidence of neurotoxic (ischemia, amyloid β -peptide and hydrogen peroxide-induced) insults in mice and cultured neurons (Kusakawa et al., 2000; Lee et al., 2000), and the results paved the way for a whole era of intensive Cdk5 research within the area of neurodegenerative diseases.

Calpains are a family of calcium-dependent cysteine proteases that are crucial executors of signaling processes including apoptosis, cell motility and differentiation, through the modification of cytoskeletal structures and signaling proteins, and the calpains are thought to play a role in many pathological events, such as neurotoxicity (reviewed in Goll et al. 2003; Sorimachi & Ono 2012; Sorimachi et al. 2010). Calpains are also important for maintenance of muscle physiology, and calpain mutations have been detected in muscle wasting patients (reviewed in Beckmann & Spencer 2008; Kramerova et al. 2007). Calpains differ in their functionality from the other protein degrading machineries in the cell (e.g. the ubiquitin-proteasome system) in that they are retained inactive in cells, and are quickly activated upon calcium binding, without the need of additional components. Interestingly, it is thought that calpain substrates are recognized based on the spatial structure rather than primary consensus sequence. Both of the ubiquitously expressed classical calpains, μ -calpain (calpain 1) and m-calpain (calpain 2), cleave p35 (Lee et al., 2000).

In a complex auto-regulatory loop, Cdk5 itself regulates p35 processing through phosphorylation. By dual actions, the Cdk5-mediated p35 phosphorylation (Ser8 and/or Thr138) makes the activator more prone to ubiquitination and proteasomal degradation, while simultaneously decreasing its susceptibility to calpain cleavage in order to suppress p25 generation (Kamei et al., 2007; Patrick et al., 1998b; Saito et al., 2003). In this way, Cdk5 can restrict its own activity to prevent unfavorable kinase activity. In addition to Cdk5 itself, two protein kinase C (PKC) isoforms, namely δ (Zhao et al., 2009) and ζ (de Thonel et al., 2010), are known to phosphorylate p35 and regulate its turnover. Whereas PKC ζ phosphorylation of Ser33 promotes p25 generation in a myogenic context (de Thonel et al., 2010), PKC δ appears to phosphorylate p35 on serines 59, 65 and/or 124 (a specific site has not been determined), having a stabilizing effect on the activator in neurons (Zhao et al., 2009). In this fashion, PKC δ acts upstream of Cdk5 during the developmental radial migration of cortical neurons. Ser91 in turn is phosphorylated by Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II (CamKII) in neurons

(Hosokawa et al., 2010) and salt-inducible kinase 2 (Sik2) in pancreatic β -cells (Sakamaki et al., 2014), which negatively regulates p35 stability in the latter case. The phosphorylation sites are highlighted in Figure 3.



Figure 3 The processing of p35 to p25. Calpains cleave p35 to create two fragments; p25 and p10. Due to loss of the myristoylated Gly2, p25 is freely motile within the cells. Known phosphorylation sites of p35 are marked in yellow. The Cdk5 interaction site on p35 is highlighted with a bracket.

The expression of p35 is under the control of an array of extracellular signals (e.g. through laminin-induced integrin activation) and growth factor stimulation (such as nerve growth factor) (Harada et al., 2001; Li et al., 2000). The transcription factor Early growth response 1 (Egr1) has in neuronal PC12 cells been shown to induce p35 mRNA expression in response to nerve growth factor or tumor necrosis factor a (TNFa) (Harada et al., 2001; Utreras et al., 2009). Also, the transcription factor heat

shock factor 2 directly binds to the p35 gene promoter and is essential for proper p35 expression and Cdk5 activity in cortical neurons (Chang et al., 2006). Thus, the cell can accommodate its p35 levels and Cdk5 activity needs in response to environmental changes through a multitude of pathways, which are highly dependent on the cellular environment.

In contrast to Cdk5^{-/-} mice that die perinatally (Ohshima et al., 1996), the deletion of p35 in mice causes less dramatic phenotypes. p35^{-/-} mice are viable and show no gross body changes, but they do have defects in cortical lamination due to abnormal neuronal migration, as well as structural changes in some other areas of the brain (Chae et al., 1997). The p35 null mice do show a compensatory increase in the expression of the Cdk5 activator p39 in brain (Takahashi et al., 2003), which is likely to alleviate certain phenotypic characteristics. Compared to WT mice, the p35 knockout mice showed increased adult lethality probably caused by spontaneous seizures (Chae et al., 1997). Other organs, such as skeletal muscle, have not been studied in detail. Outside the central nervous system (CNS), p35 is expressed in the developing myotome from embryonic day 12 (E12) (Zheng et al., 1998), among many other tissues. It should, however, be noted that Cdk5 activator levels (mRNA or protein) are generally relatively low in most other tissues compared to brain lysates (Lew et al., 1994; Tsai et al., 1994). Therefore, the role of p35 in other tissues was long overlooked, as it was challenging to detect its expression, especially at a basal level. In many tissues, a specific stimulus or stress is often required for up-regulation of Cdk5 activators and Cdk5 activity.

1.2.2 Cdk5 activation by p39

Studies on the Cdk5 activator p39 (CDK5R2) have been hampered by the lack of wellfunctioning antibodies, and most likely the early found strong disease association of p35/p25, as well as the accompanying interest in that specific research area. Sequence alignment of p39 and p35 reveals 57% amino acid similarity between the proteins (Tang et al., 1995). The two proteins are processed analogously by calpains (Patzke and Tsai, 2002b). The calpain cleaved fragment of p39 is correspondingly termed p29, and is like p25, not targeted to the membrane due to loss of its N-terminal myristoylated residue upon proteolytic cleavage (Asada et al., 2008). The biological role and regulation of calpain-dependent cleavage of p29 is not well understood. Compared to p35, the half-life of p39 is significantly longer (Minegishi et al., 2010), but the contrary, the Cdk5/p39 interaction is weak compared to the Cdk5/p35 complex (Saito et al., 2013). Interestingly, the in vitro substrate specificity of Cdk5/p39 is also different (preferentially tau) from that of Cdk5/p35 (preferentially histone H1) (Takahashi et al., 2003), but it is not clear if p35 and p39 have separate functions in vivo.

Whereas disruption of the p39 gene does not cause apparent phenotypes, the p35^{-/-}/p39^{-/-} double knockout mice (Ko et al., 2001) are identical to mice lacking Cdk5 (Ohshima et al., 1996), demonstrating the need of either p35 or p39 in regulation of Cdk5 activity during neuronal differentiation. As restoration of one allele of p35 to the double-knockout restores partial neuronal functionality, while one allele of p39 does not, p35 is believed to be the major Cdk5 activator in neuronal models (Ko et al., 2001). Both p35 and p39 are expressed widely in the CNS during embryonic development, but some spatial and temporal differences can be detected between the two proteins, such as the prevalent p39 expression in the spinal cord during embryogenesis (Zheng et al., 1998) and the postnatal increase in p39 mRNA in the cerebral cortex (Takahashi et al., 2003). Cdk5/p39 interaction and activity has been described in neurons and the complex may functionally be coupled to growth cone maintenance (Humbert et al., 2000). Cdk5/p39 also phosphorylates the cytoskeletal protein tau during brain development (Takahashi et al., 2003). Phosphorylated tau shows less affinity towards microtubules (possibly reducing microtubule stability), and the complex may therefore be involved in the developmental regulation of microtubule dynamics. Cdk5/p39 also regulates lamellipodial actin dynamics through Rac1 (Ito et al., 2014). In addition, Cdk5/p39 is implicated in oligodendroglial (the myelinating cell of CNS) differentiation (Bankston et al., 2013). In contrast to p35, p39 mRNA expression has not been reported in muscle tissue, but the protein has been detected with antibody recognition in rat primary myotubes (Johansson et al., 2005). Both activators have also been described at mRNA and protein levels in pancreatic β cells (Lilja et al., 2001).

1.2.3 Cdk5 and cyclin partners

Podocytes are specialized epithelial cells that surround the vasculature of glomeruli in the kidney. Their characteristic highly branched appearance is reflective of their function; by wrapping their foot protrusions around blood vessels, the cells selectively filter blood and constitute a crucial part of the kidney's homeostatic machinery. The expression of Cdk5/p35 correlates with the differentiated state of podocytes and both proteins can be distinguished at the edges of the podocyte protrusions (Griffin et al., 2004). Cdk5 is thought to have two main functions in podocyte biology. As the inhibition or downregulation of Cdk5 causes a collapse of podocyte protrusions, possibly as a consequence of actin filament reorganization, its presence at the cell periphery may be required for maintenance of podocyte morphology (Griffin et al., 2004). Intriguingly, active Cdk5 also acts as a pro-survival factor after podocyte injury in vivo, a process which is controlled not only by the classical activator p35, but also by the atypical cyclin I (Brinkkoetter et al., 2009). Cyclin I is the only identified cyclin partner with the ability to activate Cdk5 (Brinkkoetter et al., 2009; Brinkkoetter et al., 2010). Although both activators seem to be present in podocytes, the Cdk5/p35 and Cdk5/cyclin I complexes differ in their functionality. The substrate specificity of Cdk5 in vitro is shifted towards tau rather than histone H1 when complexed with cyclin I (Brinkkoetter et al., 2009). This may also explain the differences in the involved cell survival signaling pathways in p35 and cyclin I null mice, even though both conditions sensitize podocytes to injury in a glomerulonephritis-disease model (Brinkkoetter et al., 2009; Taniguchi et al., 2012). While p35 null podocytes have less antiapoptotic Bcl-2, cyclin I null cells show suppressed Extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK)signaling and decreased levels of anti-apoptotic Bcl-XL (Brinkkoetter et al., 2009; Brinkkoetter

et al., 2010; Taniguchi et al., 2012). Whether the structural and survival-related roles of Cdk5 in podocytes are linked, needs to be clarified.

Another independent study regarding the post-translational regulation of cyclin I during cell cycle was reported by Nagano and colleagues (2013). They showed that cyclin I protein levels are regulated by ubiquitin-proteasome-mediated degradation during G_2 -M phases of the cell cycle, and that its presence is required for normal HeLa cell proliferation (Nagano et al., 2013). Curiously, the protein levels of Cdk5 in synchronized HeLa cells oscillated with cyclin I levels, suggesting that Cdk5 may, after all, be actively regulated during cell cycle, at least in cancer cells. The function and activity of Cdk5 during HeLa cell cycle, and the nature of the Cdk5/cyclin I complex remain elusive.

The fact that Cdk5 activation can occur through association with a novel cyclin partner does evoke many questions, and may simultaneously expose exciting new prospects in the research field. As demonstrated by Brinkkoetter and co-authors (2009), the binding of atypical activator partners may shift the substrate specificity of the Cdk5 kinase. This observation defies the classical Cdk5 activity assay, where Cdk5 activity is measured by histone H1 phosphorylation. Thus, the fact that Cdk5 activity has not been detected in most tissues or cell lines (Tsai et al., 1993) should be interpreted with caution. Furthermore, it was demonstrated that Cdk5/p35 and Cdk5/cyclin I complexes can co-exist in cells, and they may simultaneously regulate survival signaling pathways at different levels. Thus, the generality of the actions of the Cdk5/cyclin I complex should be revisited, as cyclin I is present in most tissues, at least at mRNA level (Jensen et al., 2000).

In addition to cyclin I, also E- and D-type cyclins are known to bind to Cdk5. Nevertheless, Cyclin E seems to act as a suppressor of Cdk5 activity, perhaps through inhibition of Cdk5/p35complex formation by competition (Odajima et al., 2011). The Cdk5/cyclin E complex lacks kinase activity towards histone H1, Retinoblastoma protein (pRb) and synapsin 1, all of which are potent Cdk5 substrates. As a consequence of cyclin E knockout, Cdk5 activity was boosted, causing a reduction of dendritic spine and synapse number in vivo (Odajima et al., 2011). Cyclin D has been co-immunoprecipitated with Cdk5, but the complex has no activity measured by histone H1 phosphorylation (Guidato et al., 1998; Zhang et al., 1993); rather, cyclin D may function, similarly to the E-isoform, as a p35 competitor.

Several research papers collectively infer that Cdk5, in fact, does regulate the cell cycle, although in a somewhat indirect fashion, and does therefore in many aspects behave similarly to its protein family members. Overexpression studies of WT and inactive Cdk5 in HeLa cells revealed that Cdk5 can localize to the midbody during cytokinesis (Lee et al., 2010). Intriguingly, Cdk5^{-/-} mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) show increased occurrence of aneuploidy, possibly suggesting that the presence of Cdk5 may be important for proper cell cycle progression (Lee et al., 2010). p35^{-/-}/p39^{-/-} mice are also smaller in body size, pointing to a growth defect in affected mice (Ko et al., 2001). Thus, in certain contexts, Cdk5 may act to substitute at least some classical Cdk functions in more differentiated cell types.

1.3 Developmental and physiological functions of Cdk5

The actions of Cdk5 have mainly been studied in neuronal models, where a wide range of Cdk5 substrates have been characterized. Cdk5 mRNA and protein are expressed most abundantly in the brain, but can in fact be detected in most tissues (including heart, skeletal muscle, kidney and pancreas) and in many cell lines at varying levels (Meyerson et al., 1992; Tsai et al., 1993). Yet Cdk5 activity, as measured by immunoprecipitation and subsequent phosphorylation of histone H1, is relatively limited in many tissues and cells compared to neurons (Tsai et al., 1993). As mentioned previously, Cdk5 activity may not in all cases be directed towards histone,

and therefore, the lack of Cdk5 activity by histone H1 kinase assay does not exclude a function for the kinase. In addition, Cdk5 functions have often been revealed only after stress situations, whereas it may have no evident role under normal circumstances. Many surprising new functions for Cdk5 have been proposed in recent years. The classical functions of Cdk5 in neurons will not be the prime focus of this overview and are only briefly summarized in the following section. Instead, I will highlight some of its more atypical and less understood functions in mammalian physiology.

1.3.1 Cdk5 - a major regulator of neuronal development and function

The first evidence for a role for Cdk5 in neuronal function came from primary neuronal cultures, when expression of dominant negative Cdk5 (Asp145→Asn or Lys34→Thr) was found to robustly decrease dendrite length of cultured rat neurons (Nikolic et al., 1996). Genetic targeting of Cdk5 confirmed its role in neuronal development: most Cdk5^{-/-} mice show embryonic lethality at E18.5, and the few mice that survive until birth die within the first 12 hours (Ohshima et al., 1996). The principal cause for the high prenatal death rate is the severe cortical layering defect caused by the absence of Cdk5 signaling (Ohshima et al., 1996). Also Cdk5 or p35 disruption in the fruit fly causes axon patterning complications and locomotion problems (Connell-Crowley et al., 2000; Connell-Crowley et al., 2007; Kissler et al., 2009). To date, a large number of Cdk5 substrates have been identified in neurons, and together they have uncovered that Cdk5 indeed acts at several levels of neurogenesis (Table 1).

	Selected substrates	Implications	References
ytoarchitecture	FAK, doublecortin, Ndel1, Dixdc1	Microtubule dynamics and neuronal migration	(Niethammer et al., 2000; Singh et al., 2010; Tanaka et al., 2004a; Xie et al., 2003)
	Mst3, p27Kip1	RhoA-mediated actin reorganization and motility	(Tang et al., 2014; Kawauchi, Chihama, Nabeshima, & Hoshino, 2006)
on and e	Neurofilaments	Intermediate filament organization	(Pant et al., 1997; Sun et al., 1996)
Migrati	β-catenin	N-cadherin-dependent cell adhesion	(Kesavapany et al., 2001; Kwon et al., 2000)
signaling	PSD-95, NMDAR, Darpp-32	Regulation of pre- and postsynaptic dopaminergic and glutaminergic neurotransmission	(Chergui et al., 2004; Li et al., 2001; Morabito et al., 2004)
	Munc-18/dynamin 1, amphiphysin 1	Exocytosis/endocytosis at the synapse	(Fletcher, 1999; Tan et al., 2003; Tomizawa et al., 2003)
ynapse	Ephexin 1, WAVE 1	Synaptic plasticity and spine formation	(Fu et al., 2007; Kim et al., 2006)
s	Synapsin 1	Presynaptic vesicle number and trafficking	(Verstegen et al., 2014)
Death and survival	p53, ATM, pRb, MEF2	Positive regulation of apoptosis during neurotoxicity	(Zhang, Krishnamurthy, & Johnson, 2002; Tian, Yang, & Mao, 2009; Hamdane et al., 2005: Gong et al., 2003)
	JNK3, Bcl-2	Advancing neuronal survival	(Li et al., 2002; Cheung, Gong, & Ip, 2008)
	p27Kip1, E2F1	Neuronal cell cycle suppression and cytoprotection (kinase activity independent)	(Zheng et al., 2010a)

Table 1 Summary of neuronal Cdk5 substrates.

Cdk5 is acknowledged to exert its kinase activity towards a large repertoire of cytoskeletal components in neurons, and thereby the kinase effectively molds neuronal architecture and regulates neuronal differentiation. Through phosphorylation of multiple substrates linked to the microtubule cytoskeleton, Cdk5 is believed to directly modulate the migratory capability of cortical neurons, with the consequence of the severely disrupted cortical architecture that was originally observed in the Cdk5 null mouse (Ohshima et al., 1996). In addition, Cdk5 has actinlinked substrates that affect motility of neurons, but more prominently, its actin-regulating substrates are implicated in remodeling of neuronal processes and the maintenance of synaptic structures. At the synapse, the Cdk5-mediated phosphorylation of the secretory machinery and the neurotransmitter pathway is essential for proper neuronal communication, and in doing so, the kinase directly affects the processes of learning, memory formation and addiction (Table 1 and references therein). Recently, conditional knockout of Cdk5 in the oligodendrocyte lineage has revealed a role for Cdk5 in oligodendrocyte maturation and axonal myelination during development and injury through regulation of the Akt-mammalian target of Rapamycin (mTOR) signaling pathway (Luo et al., 2014; Yang et al., 2013). In contrast to neurons, Cdk5dependent myelination seems to be driven by p39 rather than p35 (Bankston et al., 2013).

Hyperactivation and re-localization of Cdk5 causes hyperphosphorylation of several of the targets described in Table 1, which has dramatic consequences on ischemia- and stroke-triggered brain injury, and the accompanied neuronal loss in the pathology of neurodegenerative diseases (e.g. Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis). In fact, most of these processes involve p25 generation. Ever since the Cdk5/p25 complex was connected to the pathological hallmarks of Alzheimer's disease and neuronal death (Patrick et al., 1999), there has been an active search for mechanisms that underlie the observed pathology. Enormous efforts have been put into the understanding of the apparently dual roles of Cdk5 in neuronal apoptosis, and the kinase is today portrayed as both a major executor of neurotoxic apoptosis, as well as a neuroprotective kinase under specific conditions. Cdk5 activator cleavage and degradation that change kinase activity and intracellular localization, are under strict regulation within the cell, and are essential in determination of the anti- and pro-apoptotic functions of Cdk5 (Lee et al., 2000; Patrick et al., 1999). Not only is Cdk5 an indispensable component of the neuronal differentiation and death signaling machinery, but several research papers have highlighted a role in pain signaling, where Cdk5 activity is regulated by inflammation in peripheral neurons (Pareek et al., 2006). Depletion of Cdk5 activity causes a delayed nociceptive heat response in p35 null transgenic mice (Pareek et al., 2006). Several pain-linked Cdk5 substrates have been identified in peripheral nerves that contribute to nociceptive signaling, including the protein kinesin-3 family member 13B that transports synaptic cargo (Xing et al., 2012) and the calcium channel transient receptor potential vanilloid 1 (Pareek et al., 2007).

1.3.2 Cdk5 in muscle development and differentiation

Given the dramatic brain phenotype of the Cdk5 knockout mouse and the fact that the mouse is perinatally lethal, the function of Cdk5 in non-CNS tissues has remained in the shade. As follows, the information on Cdk5 molecular functions in muscle is restricted. A few key research articles contributed to early findings that did however place Cdk5 as an important player in muscle differentiation and development. Lazaro and colleagues (1997) first demonstrated that Cdk5 is indeed expressed and active during serum withdrawal-induced differentiation of murine C2C12 and rat L6 myoblasts, and that expression of a dominant negative (DN-Cdk5) in myoblasts inhibited differentiation. Cdk5 activity peaks at circa 48 hours after initiation of differentiation, when myotubes are readily forming and actively fusing (Lazaro et al., 1997). In Philpott et al. (1997), a different approach was utilized; they took advantage of microinjection of DN-Cdk5 to *Xenopus* embryos with the consequence of

disruption of somite development and patterning in the animals. This effect could be rescued with simultaneous expression of WT plasmid. Intriguingly, DN-Cdk5 expression robustly abrogated the expression of the myogenic factor MRF-4, as well as MyoD (albeit the latter to a lesser extent), without any obvious effect on Myf-5, suggesting that Cdk5 acts also at the level of myoblast commitment. However, Cdk5 does not seem to phosphorylate MyoD in vitro (Kitzmann et al., 1999). While Cdk5 activity peaks at 48 hours of differentiation in C2C12 myoblasts, it is possible that the kinase has multiple functions and substrates during differentiation, explaining the observed effect on both early commitment as well as later differentiation. Interestingly, superfluous Cdk5 activity established through p35 expression also seems to hamper proper muscle development (Philpott et al., 1997), suggesting that proper regulation of Cdk5 activity is crucial for myogenesis. In addition, one report demonstrates that Cdk5 or p25 overexpression negatively affects an activatory auto-phosphorylation site of CamKII in C2C12 myoblasts, an observation that may predominantly be relevant for neuromuscular junction signaling rather than differentiation per se (Zhu et al., 2013).

The PKC superfamily consists of a large group of Ser/Thr kinases with functions in most aspects of cell biology, including proliferation, differentiation, migration as well as in the processes of inflammation and cancer (Hirai, 2003; Rosse et al., 2010). PKCs are further subcategorized according to their activation mechanism into typical and novel PKCs that are activated by diacylglycerol binding, and atypical PKCs (including PKC ζ), which are diacylglycerol-independent. The activity of the atypical PKC ζ isoform, is required for myoblast differentiation (de Thonel et al., 2010), where it controls the process of differentiation through phosphorylation-mediated regulation of p35 turnover (de Thonel et al., 2010). During myoblast differentiation, PKC ζ is required for Cdk5 activation by dual mechanisms: firstly, PKC ζ directly phosphorylates Ser33 of p35, thereby increasing its cleavage to p25. The phosphodeficient S33A p35 mutant is indeed more resistant to calpain cleavage. Secondly, PKC ζ phosphorylates and affects the activity of calpains 1 and 3. Inhibition of calpain activity, which obstructs p25 cleavage, hampers myogenic differentiation (de Thonel et al., 2010). Therefore, PKC ζ is a major upstream regulator of Cdk5 activity and muscle cell differentiation.

Phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate 3-kinase (PI3K) phosphorylates plasma membrane phosphatidylinositols to create the second messenger phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-trisphosphate (PIP3), to which pleckstrin homology domain containing proteins (such as Akt) can anchor to. Through activation of Akt and other downstream effectors, the PI3K pathway regulates a plethora of signaling events affecting cell proliferation, survival, motility, metabolism and differentiation (reviwed in Brazil & Hemmings 2001; Manning et al. 2002). In muscle, Akt activity is important especially for muscle fiber anabolic growth (Blaauw et al., 2009; Bodine et al., 2001) and glucose metabolism (Bouzakri et al., 2006; Cleasby et al., 2007), but the kinase is also involved in muscle differentiation (Gardner et al., 2012; Héron-Milhavet et al., 2006; Rotwein and Wilson, 2009). The inhibition of Akt kinase activity with the PI3K inhibitor LY294002 during L6 rat myoblast differentiation was, interestingly, found to disturb Cdk5 activity (Sarker and Lee, 2004). Although a detailed mechanism for the observed phenomenon has not been described, the work indicates that PI3K-Akt signaling may directly or indirectly be involved in Cdk5 activation. Akt activity is increased rapidly upon induction of differentiation (within 24 hours) (Sarker and Lee, 2004; Tamir and Bengal, 2000), placing it temporally upstream of the reported maximal Cdk5 activation. As the PI3K pathway positively affects PKCζ activity in other model systems (Mendez et al., 1997; Neri et al., 1999; Standaert et al., 1997), it is tempting to speculate that they all would lay within the same signaling network also in myocytes.

Up to the present time, the only described association partners of Cdk5 in differentiating myoblasts are the sarcomere-associated protein Bin1 (Fernando et al., 2009) and the

cytoskeletal intermediate filament protein nestin (Sahlgren et al., 2003) (described further in: 2.3.2 Interplay between Cdk5 and nestin in muscle models). Although Cdk5 can be immunoprecipitated with Bin1 from differentiating myoblasts, there is no further data on the details of the interaction. Bin1 seems to be crucial for sarcomere assembly, and the authors propose a possible titin-Bin1-Cdk5 interaction that nevertheless remains unconfirmed (Fernando et al., 2009). Titin is a sarcomeric protein, which is heavily phosphorylated during myoblast differentiation on Cdk consensus sites (Gautel et al., 1993), but Cdk5-dependent phosphorylation has never been shown. Surprisingly, there are no other published studies to date addressing the actual targets of Cdk5 in differentiating myoblasts that would rationalize the observed muscle phenotype in various models, leaving a significant area of Cdk5 research unrecognized.

1.3.3 Differentiation of neuromuscular junctions requires Cdk5 activity

Skeletal muscle is innervated by motor axons at specialized intersections, termed neuromuscular junctions (NMJs). NMJs are not only important for muscle contraction, but are essential for the active maintenance of muscle mass throughout the lifespan of the organism. The postsynaptic (muscle) side of the NMJ consists of a specialized cluster of signaling proteins that transduce signals from the synaptic cleft to the muscle. Acetylcholine receptors (AChR), which bind the neurotransmitter acetylcholine (ACh), are dynamically regulated by positive and negative signals that cluster or disperse the transmembrane proteins during NMJ formation. Through binding to its cognate ErbB receptors and consequent activation of ERK-signaling, the neuronally secreted Neuregulin-1 (NRG) promotes transcription of postsynaptic genes, including AChR. The proteoglycan agrin is one of the central molecules that positively regulate AChR clustering through interactions with the muscle specific kinase (MuSK) receptor. MuSK-initiated signaling maintains the AChR clusters on the post-synaptic side of the junction. The active regulation of the NMJ during development allows a flexible spatiotemporal innervation pattern of muscle where it is most required.

The expression of Cdk5 in muscle is concentrated most obviously at NMJs, and both Cdk5 and p35 are regulated by NRG-induced signaling (Fu et al., 2001). Cdk5 was shown to phosphorylate and activate ErbB2/3 receptor tyrosine kinase signaling in response to NRG treatment, thus positively regulating AChR transcription both in vitro and in vivo (Fu et al., 2001; Fu et al., 2005). Genetic ablation of Cdk5 causes an increase of embryonic NMJ width and dispersion in both diaphragm and skeletal muscle, consequently impeding motor skills of the few newborn pups that survive until birth (Fu et al., 2005). In addition, Cdk5 directly phosphorylates the transcription factor signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3), and promotes its activity after NRG stimulation of C2C12 myotubes (Fu et al., 2004). Through these mechanisms, Cdk5 is involved in the positive regulation of NMJ development.

On the other hand, also ACh, which acts as to disperse AChR clusters, induces Cdk5 activity (Lin et al., 2005). Thus, acting in an opposing manner, Cdk5 activity also increases AChR dispersion, unless the receptors are stabilized by specific cluster-promoting signals (Lin et al., 2005). The exact mechanism has not been identified yet, but is unlikely to involve direct AChR phosphorylation by Cdk5. Thus, the Cdk5-mediated AChR clustering occurs in conjunction with agrin signaling; if the AChR clusters are on the other hand not stabilized by agrin, Cdk5 acts instead negatively on the AChR clusters in an ACh-dependent manner (Figure 4).

Moreover, Cdk5 knockout mice also show Schwann cells defects (Fu et al., 2005), and genetic disruption of Cdk5, or DN-Cdk5 expression in the muscle, causes increased presynaptic neurotransmitter release, and more frequent generation of postsynaptic potentials (Fu et al., 2005; Zhu et al., 2013). These observations highlight that Cdk5 is required for NMJ

maintenance at both the pre- and postsynaptic sides of the junction. In addition, postsynaptic Cdk5 activity is involved in regulation of presynaptic events, perhaps through regulation of retrograde nitrogen oxide signaling (Zhu et al., 2013). Cdk5/p35 also phosphorylates and binds to the Cdk-related kinase Pctaire-1, which is localized to NMJs, but the biological relevance of the interaction is not comprehended (Cheng et al., 2002). Although Cdk5 kinase activity is required for proper NMJ development, the NMJ signaling pathway that is regulated by the kinase is likely to be distinct from the one involved in myogenic differentiation, which involves NMJ-independent myoblast determination and differentiation.



Figure 4 Cdk5 signaling at the postsynaptic neuromuscular junction. Cdk5 acts to both promote and suppress acetylcholine receptor (AChR) clustering during NMJ differentiation. Firstly, neuregulin (NRG) binds to its cognate receptor, which promotes Cdk5 activation at the synapse (1). Cdk5 activity potentiates activation of the pathway through phosphorylation of the ErbB-receptor (2) as well as the STAT3 transcription factor (3). Through these mechanisms, Cdk5 positively stimulates AChR transcription and NMJ development. Meanwhile, the main positive signal that stabilizes AChR clusters is agrin, and it is counteracted actively by acetylcholine (ACh). Interestingly, also ACh induces Cdk5 activity (4), which acts to disperse AChRs (5) that have not been stabilized by agrin. The signals that promote AChR cluster formation are depicted in green, while negative (dispersive) signals are highlighted in red.

1.3.4 Cdk5 actions in male and female reproductive organs

The testes contain a variety of cell types that are involved in sperm maturation. In seminiferous tubules, germ cells develop into motile haploid spermatozoa in a differentiation process termed spermatogenesis. Within the seminiferous tubules lie also the Sertoli cells that provide a structural support, secret sustaining hormones and provide nursery for developing spermatozoa. Sertoli cells are connected to each other through tight junctions, thereby separating the germ cells from the blood and creating the blood-testis barrier. Thus, similarly to the brain, the testis is a highly protected organ. In the interstitial space, located outside of the seminiferous tubules, lie the principal androgen-producing cells of the body, the Leydig cells. The androgen production in Leydig cells is mainly controlled by a complex feedback mechanism, which is ultimately orchestrated by the pituitary through secretion of the hormones Luteinizing hormone (LH) and Follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH).

Only a handful of studies have examined Cdk5 in the testicles. Cdk5 and p35 (but not p39) are expressed in the developing and adult testes in rodents and humans, mainly in Leydig and Sertoli cells (Musa et al., 2000; Rosales et al., 2004a; Session et al., 2001). Cdk5 protein is detected in the Sertoli (TM4) and Levdig (TM3) mouse cell lines, and shows histone-targeted, p35-dependent kinase activity in cells as well as in testes lysates (Musa et al., 1998; Musa et al., 2000; Rosales et al., 2004a). Interestingly, Cdk5 activity coincides with p35 expression and peaks at postnatal day 40 in rats, around the time when animals reach sexual maturity (Rosales et al., 2004a). Cdk5 activity was also found to correlate with serum, epidermal growth factor (EGF), LH, and human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG) stimulation of TM3 Levdig cells (but not TM4 Sertoli cells), possibly indicating that Cdk5 may have a role in Levdig cell proliferation, differentiation or testosterone production, which followed the treatments (Lin et al., 2009; Musa et al., 1998; Musa et al., 2000). The hCG-dependent testosterone production was counteracted by roscovitine treatment and Cdk5 small interfering RNA (siRNA), possibly through the protein Steroidogenic acute regulatory protein (StAR), which is involved in testosterone production (Lin et al., 2009). In addition to Sertoli and Leydig cell expression, Cdk5 is found in spermatids where it is thought to phosphorylate sperm tail structural proteins called outer dense fibers, at least in vitro (Rosales et al., 2004a; Session et al., 2001).

In the female reproductive organs, Cdk5/p35 is expressed and active in developing and adult ovary oocytes (Lee et al., 2004). It seems as Cdk5 does have some target proteins in the organ, as shown by phosphorylation of ovary lysates, but they remain yet unidentified.

1.3.5 Cdk5 in metabolic control

The pancreas is both an exocrine and endocrine organ that regulates the secretion of digestive enzymes and metabolic hormones in separate parts of the gland. The endocrine tissue is organized in specific structures called islets of Langerhans, which in turn are composed of a variety of cell types, including the insulin secreting β -cells and glucagon secreting α -cells. While insulin secretion lowers blood glucose, glucagon counteracts its effect in a delicately regulated signaling process that affects whole body metabolism.

Cdk5, p35 and p39 proteins are expressed in β -cells, where they partly co-localize with insulin (Lilja et al., 2001; Lilja et al., 2004; Ubeda et al., 2004). The proteins have not been described in other parts of the pancreas. The role of Cdk5 in insulin secretion has been a matter of debate, as it has shown both inhibitory and stimulatory effects on the glucose-stimulated insulin pathway; the discrepancies seem to derive from the use of different model systems, differences in experimental setup (glucose concentrations and treatment times), and possibly Cdk5 activator specificity. Early studies did suggest that Cdk5 activity is required for glucose-stimulated insulin secretion in β -cells isolated from both lean and obese mice (Lilja et al., 2001). Also, high glucose stimulation caused and increase in p35 levels and Cdk5 activity (Ubeda et al., 2004; Ubeda et al., 2006), which however, in this particular context may in fact link Cdk5 to high glucose induced β -cell apoptosis (glucotoxicity) rather than insulin secretion. Indeed, p25 generation, and the consequent hyperactivation of Cdk5, does induce caspase-3 cleavage, as has been independently demonstrated by Zheng and collaborators (2013). Exogenous p25 was, however, found to suppress insulin secretion (Zheng et al., 2013), highlighting that the experimental setup and the condition of the cells needs to be considered with care when interpreting data. Interestingly, p39 expression seems to induce general β -cells exocytosis more strongly than p35 expression (Lilja et al., 2004), suggesting that p35 is not the sole Cdk5 activator in β -cells.

On the other hand, many recent publications show that Cdk5 negatively regulates insulin secretion both in vitro and in vivo. Cdk5 phosphorylates the L-type voltage-dependent Ca^{2+} channel (L-VDCC) in β -cells, affecting its interactions with endogenous inhibitors (Wei et al.,

2005). If β -cell Cdk5 activity is inhibited with olomoucine, L-VDCC conductance capability is increased, with the consequence of boosted insulin secretion in glucose stimulated conditions (Wei et al., 2005). The cellular experiments were supported by experimental glucose-tolerance tests in the p35 knockout mouse, showing that KO mice have higher insulin levels after intraperitoneal glucose injection, and consequently lower blood glucose (Wei et al., 2005). Basal blood glucose levels were unchanged in the animals. Another study supporting the previous data, demonstrated that glucose-induced Sik2-kinase activation in β -cells caused phosphorylation-dependent degradation of p35, and an elevated insulin secretion (as did also Cdk5 inhibition) (Sakamaki et al., 2014). Moreover, p35 levels were reduced in islets isolated from high-fat diet fed mice (Sakamaki et al., 2014). Thus these in vivo-data convincingly support that Cdk5/p35 are important negative regulators of glucose-triggered insulin secretion, thereby affecting whole body metabolism. Meanwhile, Cdk5/p25 may preferably be involved in acute β -cell glucotoxicity.

In the 3T3-L1 adipocyte model, insulin treatment promotes Cdk5 activity (Lalioti et al., 2009; Okada et al., 2008). Both Cdk5 and p35 are expressed in white adipose tissue and differentiated 3T3-L1 adipocytes, where Cdk5 is involved in Glucose transporter type 4 (GLUT-4)-mediated and insulin-induced glucose uptake (Lalioti et al., 2009; Muruáis et al., 2009). Inhibition of Cdk5 activity with roscovitine or siRNA hampered glucose uptake (Lalioti et al., 2009; Muruáis et al., 2009), suggesting that Cdk5 is required for insulin-mediated glucose import. GLUT-4 is expressed only in insulin sensitive tissues, such as white fat and skeletal muscle. Insulin stimulates GLUT-4 expression at the cell membrane, allowing increased glucose uptake in the target cells. Some discrepancy exists in the literature describing the exact mechanism of adipocyte signaling, as Cdk5 siRNA is also reported to promote GLUT-4 membrane translocation induced by TNF α (Nohara et al., 2011; Okada et al., 2008). On the contrary, Muruáis and co-authors (2009) failed to detect a Cdk5-dependent difference in GLUT-4 intracellular localization in response to insulin.

1.4 Pathological deregulation of Cdk5

The correct regulation of Cdk5 activity at the right time and in the right place has proven to be crucial for normal cell function and prevention of diseases. Stress insults and other environmental- or intracellular stimuli affect the expression and turnover of Cdk5 and its activators, with the consequence of unfavorable Cdk5 hyperactivation (or sometimes hypoactivation), re-localization, and altered substrate specificity. p25-associated Cdk5 activity is indeed detrimental in many diseases of the brain, but the function of other activators in other tissues and disease contexts have remained more abstract, or have not always been questioned. Thus, Cdk5 is currently emerging as an attractive drug target in various diseases beyond the brain.

1.4.1 Neurodegenerative diseases and hyperactivation of Cdk5

Cdk5 has been strongly linked to the pathological neurodegeneration of a number of diseases, including Alzheimer's disease (AD), Parkinson's disease, Huntington's disease and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (reviewed in Patzke and Tsai, 2002b; Su and Tsai, 2011; Shukla et al., 2012). These diseases are characterized by elevated neuronal death, and despite the common disease prevalence, the mechanisms that contribute to the pathology are not completely understood due to their complex nature. A key factor that causes neuronal loss in these disorders is the accumulation of neurotoxic aggregates, such as amyloid- β plaques and neurofibrillary tangles in AD, generated by the aberrant activities of multiple kinases. In neurodegenerative pathogenesis, Cdk5 regulates both directly and indirectly the phosphorylation of such proteins that are involved in aggregate formation, including amyloid

precursor protein (Liu et al., 2003) and the microtubule stabilizing protein tau (Cruz et al., 2003; Noble et al., 2003; Piedrahita et al., 2010). In addition, Cdk5 is important for neurofilament (NF) transport in axons through a phosphorylation-dependent mechanism, which may in a disease context lead to NF aggregation (Ahlijanian et al., 2000; Rudrabhatla et al., 2010; Shea et al., 2004). Especially in AD, Cdk5 seems to act at many levels of disease progression through phosphorylation of several cytoskeletal targets, thereby contributing to the accumulation of both neurotoxic amyloid- β plaques and neurofibrillary tangles; the two hallmarks of AD-brain. Cdk5 does not act alone in neuronal pathogenesis, and it seems that a detrimental feed-forward loop of external cytotoxic insults promote Cdk5 neurotoxic activity even further (Lee et al., 2000).

It is well established that the calpain-mediated generation of p25, with the consequent deregulation of Cdk5, is in many ways neurotoxic (Ahlijanian et al., 2000; Lee et al., 2000; Patrick et al., 1999). While p25 generation is considered to be a direct cause of cell death in the abovementioned diseases, Cdk5/p35 does not seem to be capable of induction of apoptosis in neurons. Thus, calpain-mediated cleavage of p35 to p25, which can be induced by neurotoxic stimuli, ultimately determines whether Cdk5 acts as a neuron-sustaining kinase or a neuronal killer. Intriguing novel data indicates that p25 can, independently of Cdk5, bind to, activate and alter the substrate specificity of glycogen synthase kinase 3β (GSK3 β) in neurons and thereby contribute to a neurodegenerative phenotype characterized by hyperphosphorylated tau and apoptosis (Chow et al., 2014). Recently, there has been significant interest towards the p10 fragment, which is generated from the p35 N-terminus during calpain cleavage. p10 has been shown to both promote (Zhang et al., 2012) and inhibit (Chew et al., 2010) Cdk5/p25-mediated apoptosis. The neuroprotective roles of various p35 peptide fragments have also been proposed to have an interesting clinical potential (Zheng et al., 2002; Zheng et al., 2010b).

1.4.2 Cdk5 in muscle pathology

Increased expression of Cdk5 or its activators have been associated with a few types of muscular diseases. Until now, there is no information whether the increased expression actually relates to an active role for Cdk5 in myopathic processes, or if the expression is simply reflecting a regenerating myogenic stage of the organ. Cdk5 has, for example, been detected in vacuolated myofibers in inclusion-body myositis (Nakano et al., 1999; Wilczynski et al., 2000). Interestingly, the disease resembles AD in that the degenerating myofibers contain AD-like hyperphosphorylated tau-inclusions that stain Cdk5 positive, possibly suggesting its involvement in the pathological progress of the disease (Wilczynski et al., 2000). In addition, increased p25 expression and Cdk5 activity have been reported in muscles from a mouse model for congenital endplate acetylcholinesterase deficiency (a type of myasthenic syndrome), which is characterized by loss of NMJ function (Zhu et al., 2013; Zhu et al., 2014). Denervation and necrotizing injury of skeletal muscle are also known to cause p35 expression and Cdk5 activity in the muscle, which most likely mimics a regenerative response that involves differentiation of muscle cells (Fu et al., 2002; Sahlgren et al., 2003). Thus, based on these few reports one cannot speculate further on an active role of Cdk5 in the generation of muscle pathology per se, but nonetheless, the kinase does seem to play some part in muscle healing and regeneration.

1.4.3 Type 2 diabetes and obesity: the Cdk5 connection

In type 2 diabetes (T2D) and T2D-associated obesity, Cdk5 has been found to promote the disease in at least two different cell types: in white adipose tissue and pancreatic β -cells. In a high fat diet-induced obesity mouse model, Cdk5 activity and p25 expression were shown to be induced in white adipose tissue after the mice were subjected to a 7-week long high fat diet (Choi et al., 2010). Interestingly, the Cdk5-mediated phosphorylation of peroxisome

proliferator-activated receptor γ (PPAR γ) was required for the obesity-linked metabolic changes. Either Cdk5 inhibition with roscovitine or shRNA, or expression of the Cdk5 phosphosite-deficient S273A mutant PPARy, increased expression of the anti-adipocytic adiponectin and adipsin that negatively regulate fat content (Choi et al., 2010). Hence, interrupting the Cdk5-mediated PPARy phosphorylation has been considered as a novel antiobesity strategy (Choi et al., 2011). PPARy phosphorylation was additionally induced in adipocytes treated with cytokines TNFa and interleukin 6 (IL-6), suggesting that the obesityprovoked inflammatory response may drive the pathway described above (Choi et al., 2010). On the contrary, adipocyte-specific knockout of Cdk5 was found to cause a compensatory hyperactivation of ERK activator kinase 2 (MEK2)-ERK1/2-signaling, as well as PPARy Ser273 phosphorylation by ERK1/2 (Banks et al., 2014). Intriguingly, due to the aforementioned mechanism, the high-fat diet fed adipocyte-specific Cdk5 knockout mice exhibit increased insulin levels and glucose intolerance (Banks et al., 2014), underscoring the two-faced actions of Cdk5 in the fat cell diabetic phenotype (Figure 5). Thus, the mechanisms that are controlled by Cdk5 in obesity are complex. Currently there is no further information on whether Cdk5 could contribute to maintenance of body homeostasis and glucose metabolism in other diseaserelated metabolic tissues, such as skeletal muscle.



Figure 5 The diabetogenic actions of Cdk5 in T2D-associated pathology. The signaling functions of Cdk5 in diabetes are controversial. Accumulated data do point towards a pro-diabetogenic generation of Cdk5/p25. In pancreatic β -cells, high glucose induces Cdk5 activity (1), which in turn seems to inhibit insulin release, at least in vivo (2). While Cdk5/p35 seems to have a cytoprotective role under certain situations, high glucose causes generation of toxic Cdk5/p25, which is fatal for β -cells (3). Cdk5 activity is also induced by insulin in white adipocytes, where the kinase is involved in glucose transport (4). The generation of Cdk5/p25 can in turn be observed after high fat diet (HFD), or treatment of adipocytes with inflammatory cytokines. This excessive Cdk5 activity is involved in PPAR γ phosphorylation and progression of diabetes through the increased expression of obesity-linked genes and promotion of insulin resistance (5). Thus, the data collectively suggests that while Cdk5/p35 has important physiological functions in both pancreas and fat tissue, the disease-induced Cdk5/p25 may have a critical role in generation of a diabetogenic phenotype in both β -cells and adipocytes. Therefore, an analogy in Cdk5 signaling can be drawn between neurodegeneration and diabetes.

Another aspect of T2D is the loss of function and eventual death of pancreatic β -cells. The hyperactivation of Cdk5 in β -cells with either exogenous p35 or p25 seems to cause high glucose-induced apoptosis in Min6 cells (Zheng et al., 2010c; Zheng et al., 2013). On the contrary, Cdk5 is also described to possess cytoprotective functions in rat insulinoma INS 832/13 cells (β -cell origin) and in isolated rat islets, where its downregulation causes increased apoptosis already in non-induced cells, but maximally upon islet treatment with amyloid polypeptide (Daval et al., 2011). In INS cells, Cdk5 or p35 downregulation caused a repression of the Focal adhesion kinase (FAK)-Akt survival pathway, which culminated in increased apoptosis. The contradicting results from Daval et al. (2011) and Zheng et al., (2010c, 2013) may be attributed to the use of different death-inducing stimuli and cell lines, or alternatively, by distinct functions of p35 and p25. Being cancer-derived, the cells may initially rely on different mechanisms to support proliferation and inhibit cell death. As in neuronal models, also the localization and proper amount of Cdk5 activity, which is regulated by the different activators, is critical for determination of Cdk5 kinase function; therefore both too little and too much activity may be unfavorable for β -cell survival signaling. Together these results illustrate the complexity of Cdk5 mechanisms in the pathogenesis of T2D, suggesting that it may regulate disease formation in several cell types simultaneously.

1.4.4 The multifaceted roles of Cdk5 in cancer

With the extending life-span of humans, we are confronted with an increasing amount of agedependent cancer cases in the clinics. Different cancer types vary significantly in the molecular mechanisms that drive the uncontrollable proliferation of the cancer cells, the one property that initially caused malignancies to be classified into one disease category. Therefore, cancers actually seem to constitute a range of different diseases. Regarding their molecular characteristics and therapy options, we are in reality dealing with a broad spectrum of diseases that show variation not only at patient level, but also in terms of cellular heterogeneity within the tumor itself. According to Hanahan and Weinberg (2011), there are several key traits that portray cancer cell properties: the cells evade growth suppression, maintain cell proliferation, avoid immune destruction, deregulate cell energy metabolism, resist cell death, enable replicative immortality, activate invasion and metastasis, induce angiogenesis and accumulate mutations that stimulate genomic instability. The current consensus is that the tumor microenvironment and cancer-associated cells play a key role in tumorigenesis by allowing a cancer-permissive environment for the cancerous cells, including an inflammatory surrounding that drives oncogenesis (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011). Thus, the cancer cells are not the sole targets for cancer therapy, as tumors are concurrently driven by cell-cell interrelationships and their dynamic environment over a long time that often spans an entire human lifetime.

Cdk5 has been connected with progression of at least melanoma (Abdullah et al., 2011), multiple (plasma cell) myeloma (Zhu et al., 2011), prostate cancer (Strock et al., 2006) and pancreatic cancer (Eggers et al., 2011), when evaluated by Cdk5 immunoreactivity in cancer patient samples. In addition, Cdk5 is significantly overexpressed at RNA level in breast, ovarian, lung, bladder and colorectal cancers, as well as in sarcomas, myelomas and lymphomas (Levacque et al., 2012). Cdk5 is also detected in Western blot samples from glioblastoma patients (Catania et al., 2001). The CDK5 promoter was found hypomethylated in mantle-cell lymphoma patients (Leshchenko et al., 2010), whereas CDK5 was found to be co-amplified with components of the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR)-Akt pathway in non-small cell lung cancer (Lockwood et al., 2008). Also polymorphisms in the CDK5 regulatory elements have been identified in lung cancer (Choi et al., 2009).

There are a few fundamental features in the molecular regulation of Cdk5 activity that challenge the analysis of its activation status in disease versus healthy tissue. Whereas several proteins are

over- or under-expressed in cancerous tissue, the expression levels of Cdk5 RNA or protein does not give an accurate picture of its functionality. As this is often the strategy of cancer tissue arrays, the involvement of proteins that are under complex regulation like Cdk5, may be underrepresented in such datasets. Therefore, the expression of its activators at protein level give a better understanding of the activity status of Cdk5, but even this approach seems to be obscured by the limited information on how the specific activators work in extra-neuronal tissue and how they are processed. In addition, there are no phospho-antibodies that could be used as reliable markers for Cdk5 activation, as is the case with many other well-studied kinases. As illustrated by prostate cancer, there is mixed information on the expression levels of Cdk5 in patient samples (Hsu et al., 2011; Levacque et al., 2012) that may have affected its appreciation as a feasible cancer drug target.

1.4.4.1 Regulation of cancer cell motility by Cdk5

As in neurons, where Cdk5 is an essential part of the signaling network that regulates migrating neurons' cytoarchitecture, also cancer cells seem to utilize similar signaling pathways to drive migration, invasion and metastasis. In pancreatic cancer, K-Ras-mediated cell transformation promotes Cdk5 activity and migration through upregulation of p35, p39 and their cleavage products (Eggers et al., 2011; Feldmann et al., 2010). Most pancreatic tumors (67%) seem to have upregulated expression of Cdk5, p35 or p39, highlighting that the pathway is hyperactivated in patients (Eggers et al., 2011). Cdk5 is also important for invadopodia formation in head and neck squamous cell carcinomas (Quintavalle et al., 2011). In glioblastoma, Cdk5 is essential for cell migration and invasion through the stimulatory phosphorylation of Isoform A of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase enhancer (PIKE-A), which acts upstream of the Akt-signaling pathway (Liu et al., 2008). Cdk5/p35 is also important for lung cancer cell migration (Demelash et al., 2012).

In breast cancer patients, Cdk5 and p35 levels are found to be upregulated and to correlate with higher tumor grade (Levacque et al., 2012; Liang et al., 2013). In fact, the proteins were also upregulated in transforming growth factor β -induced epithelial-mesenchymal transition of MCF10A cells, and Cdk5 was found to play an important role in the differentiation process through phosphorylation of FAK (Liang et al., 2013). Interestingly, Cdk5 has also been suggested to phosphorylate a microtubule-associated pool of FAK in melanoma cells that contributes to microtubule stability and mitosis (Rea et al., 2013), whereas phosphorylation of the same site in neurons affects microtubule-dependent migration (Xie et al., 2003). FAK seems to lie downstream of Cdk5 also in pancreatic cancer (Eggers et al., 2011).

1.4.4.2 Cdk5 in cancer cell proliferation and survival

Although Cdk5 activity is primarily linked to physiological differentiation processes, many cancer studies are supporting a novel role for Cdk5 in regulation of the cell cycle of malignant cells. For instance, Cdk5/p25 is crucial for medullary thyroid carcinoma formation in vivo, possibly through the phosphorylation of the tumor suppressor pRb, which promotes transcription of cell cycle regulators to promote proliferation (Pozo et al., 2013). Cdk5 has also been suggested to act through STAT3 in medullary thyroid carcinoma proliferation in cellular experiments (Lin et al., 2007). In SAOS-2 osteosarcoma cells, Cdk5 activity has on the contrary been implicated in an induced senescence cell model, where the phosphorylation of the actin-linked protein ezrin promotes the typical flattened senescent phenotype, and thus regulates actin polymerization through Rac-inhibition (Alexander et al., 2004; Yang and Hinds, 2006). A role for Cdk5 in senescence has not been established in other cell lines.

There is also accumulating evidence that Cdk5 functions as a pro-survival kinase in cancer cells. In leukemic Jurkat T-cells, Cdk5 was shown to phosphorylate Noxa on Ser13 upon glucose stimulation (Lowman et al., 2010). Noxa is a pro-apoptotic member of the Bcl-2 protein family, which is activated by p53 in response to DNA damage (Oda et al., 2000). Ser13 phosphorylation suppressed the apoptosis-inducing functions of Noxa and promoted cell survival (Lowman et al., 2010). The authors proposed an interesting hypothesis, where Cdk5 acts as a glucose-sensing master switch in lymphocyte cell survival. Cdk5 is also involved in T-cell activation and the following actin polarization in encephalomyelitis (Pareek et al., 2010).

Most studies support the fact that Cdk5 would sustain cancer progression by different mechanisms and there is less evidence on the roles of Cdk5 as a pro-apoptotic and antiproliferative kinase in cancer. In HeLa cells, Cdk5 inhibition was suggested to promote cell survival, but direct evidence was lacking in both cases (Ajay et al., 2010; Kuo et al., 2009). In astrocytoma cells, Cdk5 overexpression promoted apoptosis of heat shocked cells, whereas expression of dominant negative Cdk5 did not (Gao et al., 2001). In the end, most studies support that Cdk5 promotes carcinogenesis through various pathways, many of them linked to cytoskeletal elements.

1.4.4.3 Prostate cancer: major signaling pathways and therapeutic challenges

Prostate cancer initially originates from the frequent age-dependent benign prostatic hyperplasia, which may eventually transform into prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia and further into full blown carcinoma (Figure 6). Thus, prostate cancer is most frequently diagnosed in men beyond 70 years. Main risk factors that contribute to disease development are age, race and familial susceptibility, but also dietary factors may facilitate disease progression. In Finland, prostate carcinoma is today the most common cancer type in the whole population with 4600 new cases registered in 2012 (Finnish cancer registry), which is nearly 30% of all male cancers. Of all cancer deaths in male patients, prostate cancer stands for almost 14% (or 855 in total). Prostate cancer has a high 5-year survival rate of 97%, but once it develops into castration-



Figure 6 The development of prostate cancer. The pre-carcinogenic prostate hypertrophy and prostate intraepithelial neoplasia can, upon accumulation of mutations, develop into localized adenocarcinoma. Eventually the otherwise androgen dependent cells become androgen independent through mutations in the androgen pathway. At this stage the disease is termed castration resistant prostate carcinoma (CRPC), which cannot be treated. Prostate cancers are typically diagnosed at a stage when they are relatively harmless (localized prostate carcinoma), and can then be treated with prostatectomy. Eventually relapse may occur, to which the only treatment is androgen deprivation therapy (ADT). Unfortunately, ADT drives the development of CRPC, which is non-responsive to any treatment. Therefore, current therapy forms only stall disease progression and they eventually cease in effectiveness.

resistant prostate cancer, current therapies can only limitedly stall disease progression. Hence, there is a need to develop new therapies against the frequent and less aggressive androgen responsive carcinoma, to prevent its progression into castration resistant cancer. More importantly, there is an acute demand for novel drugs targeting the androgen independent state.

There are a few central signaling pathways that sustain prostate cancer proliferation (Figure 7). The androgen receptor (AR) is activated by cognate ligand binding (such as testosterone), and regulates prostate development, as well as secondary male gender characteristics. AR is amplified in 80% of prostate cancers and is thought to be the key regulator of prostate oncogenesis. As the AR is frequently amplified in prostate cancer, it is considered to be the main target for castration resistant tumor evolution, as it regulates a variety of pro-proliferative genes, anti-apoptotic players and promotes pathways required for invasion (reviewed in Green et al., 2012; Waltering et al., 2012). In addition, growth-promoting and apoptosis-inhibiting signaling cascades that are commonly found in a spectrum of cancers, are also deregulated in prostate cancer, including the PI3K-Akt and Ras-MAPK pathways, p53, c-Myc, pRb, etc. (Abate-Shen, 2000; Barbieri et al., 2013; Feldman and Feldman, 2001; Majumder and Sellers, 2005). For example, deregulation of the PI3K-Akt pathway occurs in 42% of primary prostate cancers, while mutations are found in 100% of metastatic cases, emphasizing the key role of this pathway in prostate cancer progression (Taylor et al., 2010). Further complexity of cancer signaling is achieved by cross-talk between pathways, as exemplified by partial functional compensation between AR and Akt (Carver et al., 2011; Thomas et al., 2013; Zhu and Kyprianou, 2008). In the case of inactivation of either pathway, feedback mechanisms can promote the activity of the other (Carver et al., 2011), while inhibition of both was shown to synergistically prevent tumor growth (Zhang et al., 2009). The Akt-AR interaction is, however, complex and not fully understood. The heterogeneity of prostate cancer mutations and the poor knowledge of patient stratification have hampered both the understanding of disease progression as well as prostate cancer drug development.



Figure 7 Central signaling pathways frequently deregulated in prostate cancer. One of the hallmarks of prostate cancer is the deregulated androgen signaling. AR is often amplified or mutated to allow ligand-independent activation or promiscuous activation by other hormones, or in other cases, AR co-factors are deregulated. Tumors can also sustain their own (intra-tumoral) hormone synthesis as an adaptation mechanism. Although AR drives many targets involved in cell proliferation, anti-apoptosis and migration, essential for prostate growth, also more general tumorigenic pathways (receptor tyrosine kinases, PI3K-Akt signaling, Wnt signaling) have been associated with prostate carcinogenesis. Commonly mutated tumor suppressors in prostate cancer are highlighted in red, whereas oncogenic proteins are in green.

1.4.4.4 Cdk5 signaling in prostate cancer

Implied by studies in other cancer models, Cdk5 has also been reported to regulate prostate cancer cell behavior. Inhibition of Cdk5 with either chemical inhibitors (roscovitine) or expression of dominant negative kinase strongly inhibits the migration and invasion of prostate cancer cells (Strock et al., 2006; Wissing et al., 2014). Decreased numbers of lung metastases in a xenograft mouse model agreed with cell-based results (Strock et al., 2006). Cdk5 also seemed to be important for tubulin polarization at wound edges in a cellular wound healing assay, suggesting that depletion of Cdk5 disturbs microtubule architecture (Strock et al., 2006). In a later study, Cdk5 targets were assessed in more detail, and Cdk5 was found to promote talin Ser425 phosphorylation in a metastatic subclone of PC-3 prostate cancer cells (Jin et al., 2014). Phosphorylated talin promoted β 1-integrin activation and invasion both in vitro and in vivo, and reduced cancer cell susceptibility to anoikis (Jin et al., 2014). In SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells, the Cdk5-dependent talin Ser425 phosphorylation decreased proteasomal talin-degradation, increased optimal focal adhesion assembly and promoted cell migration (Huang et al., 2009a). Therefore, phosphorylation of talin by Cdk5 may be relevant in multiple diseases.

As previously discussed, one of the major pathways that contribute to prostate cancer proliferation is the AR-signaling axis. Experiments in LNCaP prostate cancer cells showed that Cdk5 promoted AR stabilization and Ser81 phosphorylation of the receptor (Hsu et al., 2011). Cdk5 also phosphorylates other members of the steroid hormone family, such as glucocorticoid receptor (Kino et al., 2007) and mineralocorticoid receptor (Kino et al., 2010), both of them resembling AR in terms of structure and activation mechanisms. The Cdk5-AR pathway is proposed to contribute to cell proliferation and prostate cancer xenograft growth (Hsu et al., 2011). Paradoxically, there is at least one publication reporting that Cdk5 does not phosphorylate AR Ser81 (Gordon et al., 2010). Both abovementioned reports are based on the use of phospho-specific antibodies. Instead, Cdk1 (Chen et al., 2006) and Cdk9 (Chen et al., 2012b; Gordon et al., 2010) are shown to phosphorylate AR Ser81, causing strong AR activation and chromatin binding. Given that Cdk5 can promote Cdk1 activity in neurons through phosphorylation of cell division cycle 25 phosphatases (Chang et al., 2012), the possibility for crosstalk between the Cdks should be considered when interpreting results, and special caution should be employed with use of pan-Cdk inhibitors. In addition, Cdk5 seems to promote STAT3 phospho-Ser727 immunoreactivity and target gene transcription in prostate cancer cells (e.g. junB, c-Myc), which could support a Cdk5-STAT3 signaling pathway in prostate cancer cell proliferation (Hsu et al., 2013). STAT3 Ser727 phosphorylation does additionally seem to correlate with prostate cancer grade (Qin et al., 2008).

Studies conducted in DU145 prostate cancer cells have on the other hand demonstrated that the cytotoxic activities of digoxin and retinoic acid induce calpain-mediated p25 cleavage, Cdk5 activation and apoptosis (Chen et al., 2012a; Lin et al., 2004). Downregulation or inhibition of Cdk5 decreases apoptotic marker expression, proposing that Cdk5 may relate to cell death signaling as well, but conceptually the results conflict with data described above, which portray Cdk5 as a tumor promoting kinase (Hsu et al., 2011; Hsu et al., 2013; Jin et al., 2014; Strock et al., 2006). The controversial results from prostate cancer model systems have left the Cdk5-regulated mechanisms debatable.

In many contexts, the complex regulation of signaling processes by Cdk5 has generated a large number of research papers, many of which are contradictory and require further investigation. The common use of high concentrations of roscovitine, especially in the cancer field, has hampered the credibility of many Cdk5-research papers, and they should be interpreted and recited with caution. Nevertheless, the view of Cdk5 functions is expanding. The intention of this review was to highlight its complex functions that have emerged in recent years, not only in

pathology, but also during tissue homeostasis. Exciting discoveries of novel Cdk5 activators have added to the knowledge of its complex regulatory mechanisms. Although Cdk5 and p35 were originally described to be found at highest levels in neurons, it has become apparent that even modest amounts of Cdk5 may be adequate for powerful and specific regulation of its target proteins. The work on Cdk5 activation mechanisms needs to be expanded in the future. Interestingly, in many cases Cdk5 and the mitotic Cdks appear to have similar substrates, although their functions rarely overlap temporally. Thus, Cdk5 could be considered to have evolved as a differentiation-linked Cdk also at a functional level. In many disease conditions, the Cdk5 hyperactivity gained by proliferating (cancer) cells or differentiated cell types drives inappropriate functions that were not intended for during tissue homeostasis.

2 The intermediate filament protein nestin in cell signaling

The cytoskeleton forms a core inside cells and is essential for cell motility, cell division and morphology. The mammalian cytoskeleton is divided into three structurally unrelated, and functionally different, classes; actin filaments (microfilaments), microtubules and intermediate filaments (IFs). In contrast to the early perception that the IF cytoskeleton only maintains cellular integrity and structure by acting as an immobile intracellular frame, it is today acknowledged to receive signals from outside cues, affect cellular signaling pathways and transmit or modify signals according to the cell's needs. While protein kinases actively re-mold the cytoskeleton through the phosphorylation of cytoskeletal components and various regulatory proteins, the kinases are themselves subjected to regulation by their scaffolds in a continuous feedback loop.

2.1 Intermediate filament essentials: structure and dynamics

Compared to the generic actin and microtubules, which are found in all (eukaryotic) cell types, IFs show a cell type-specific expression pattern. The more than 70 members of IFs have evolved to perform highly specialized functions within their particular operative niche, and they are often conveniently used as markers for distinct cell types. Most metazoan cells have two separate IF networks; one in the cytoplasm, which is mainly accumulated around the nucleus, and the nuclear lamina, made up of the type V IF proteins lamins. Cytoplasmic IFs are important in organizing intracellular compartments and are vital components of desmosomes and other adhesive structures. The IF proteins (IFPs) are classified into subtypes (I-VI) according to sequence homology (Table 2). Although IFs vary in in terms of expression pattern, and share as little as 20% sequence homology among themselves, there is striking functional similarity between the different IF classes. Whereas actin and microtubule polymerization is a highly regulated energy-requiring process, IFs assemble spontaneously without the need of external energy. This feature stems from the secondary structure of the IF proteins (IFPs) and their apolar character. All IFs have a roughly similar central α -helical rod domain containing a repetitive pattern of hydrophobic amino acids that together with ionic interactions allow the formation of stable coiled-coil dimers of two IF monomers. The rod is subdivided into four domains that are separated by three non- α -helical linker regions, termed L1, L1-2 and L2. Many IFPs (such as nestin) cannot form homodimers in the initial head-to-head dimerization stage, but require the presence of another IFP type (such as vimentin and desmin in the case of nestin). Also keratins assemble through pair-formation between two different classes, while vimentin and desmin readily form homodimers. Two homo/heterodimers associate head-to-tail to form tetramers, which assemble into 16-dimer unit-length filaments and further into filaments, where the last step involves condensation of the structure to the final functional 10 nm thick filament. Although the rod domain contains the structural elements required for IF

polymerization, also the N-terminus is thought to play an important role in the actual filament formation by stabilizing the dimer structure. The most variable domains of IFs are in fact the N- and C-termini (heads and tails, respectively) that characterize the individual proteins. (Fuchs and Weber, 1994; Strelkov et al., 2003; Godsel et al., 2008; Herrmann et al., 2009.)

Class	IFPs	Expression	Associated diseases
Type I & II	Keratins	Epithelia, hair	EBS, hyperkeratosis
	Desmin	Skeletal and cardiac muscle	Myopathy, cardiomyopathy
Type III	GFAP	Astrocytes	Alexander disease
	Vimentin	Mesenchymal cells	Cataract
	Peripherin	PNS neurons	ALS
	Nestin	CNS progenitor cells, muscle	
T	Neurofilament H, L and M	Neurons	ALS, PD, CMT
Type IV	Synemin α and β	Skeletal muscle	
	a-internexin	Neurons	
T	Lamin A/C	Most differentiated cells	Progeria, myopathy, cardiomyopathy
Type v	Lamin B1 and B2	All eukaryotic cells	Lipodystrophy
Type VI	Phakinin	Lens	Cataract
	Filensin	Lens	

Table 2 Classification of Intermediate filament proteins and their associated diseases.

Abbreviations: EBS: Epidermolysis bullosa simplex, CMT: Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease, ALS: Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, PD: Parkinson's disease, GFAP: Glial fibrillary acidic protein. Source: Human Intermediate filament database, www.interfil.org (accessed 4.11.2014).

The importance of the IF cytoskeleton is underscored by the nearly 100 human diseases associated with IF mutations, some of which are summarized in Table 2. For example, several myopathic conditions of skeletal muscle and heart have been associated with desmin and lamin A/C mutations (Lu et al., 2011; Paulin and Li, 2004; Paulin et al., 2004). The lamin myopathy mutations can severely disrupt the stress-tolerance of myoblasts at the level of cellular signaling (Muchir et al., 2009; Muchir et al., 2013). Lamin A/C mutations are also implicated in the force endurance of cells, suggesting that the nuclear IFs may regulate the physical stress-tolerance of cells in myopathic conditions (Zwerger et al., 2013). Desmin on the other hand, is an important structural component of muscle found at Z-disks, NMJs, myotendinous junctions, as well as heart intercalated disks, and desmin null-mutation causes severe heart and skeletal muscle phenotypes, including cardiomyopathy and skeletal muscle weakness due to loss of muscle architecture and mitochondrial abnormalities (Li et al., 1997; Milner et al., 1996). Taking into consideration its role as a structural protein of mouse muscle, it is perhaps not surprising to find the many human myopathy mutations in the gene encoding desmin.

2.1.1 The IF protein nestin

Nestin is categorized as a class IV IFP due to similarities in intron positioning with the genes encoding neurofilaments (Dahlstrand et al., 1992a) and was first identified with the Rat-401 antibody in developing CNS (Hockfield and McKay, 1985). The rat nestin protein is 1805, mouse 1864 and human only 1621 amino acids long, and the C-terminus is the prime domain for inter-species variability (Yang et al., 2001). The human nestin protein is slightly shorter than in rodents, due to the loss of 11-amino acid repeats in the nestin C-terminus (41 vs. 18 copies in humans) (Dahlstrand et al., 1992a). Although the repeat copy number varies, the repeats themselves are highly conserved. The nestin N-terminus is curiously only 8 amino acids, while the tail is unusually long compared to other IFPs (1307 amino acids in humans). For comparison, the typical vimentin head/tail domains are 103/54 amino acids in length, respectively. Thus, the exceptional nestin tail, protruding from the filament structure, is accessible to PTMs and protein interactions. Nestin is conserved in mammals, but is found in both zebrafish (Chen et al., 2010) and birds (where it is termed transitin) (Jalouli et al., 2010; Wakamatsu et al., 2007), and both animals have been used as model systems to study nestin

functions in neuronal and muscle development. Opposed to transitin, zebrafish nestin is not expressed in developing muscles (Mahler and Driever, 2007). The closest human IF homologs to nestin is synemin, which has a similar short head/long tail protein structure (Guérette et al., 2007; Titeux et al., 2001). Synemin is enriched in skeletal muscle tissue where it polymerizes with desmin and vimentin (Titeux et al., 2001). Recently it was shown that synemin null mice show muscle hypertrophy and muscle membrane defects (Zhenlin et al., 2014). Also paranemin has been described as a high-molecular weight IF protein that resembles nestin by its rod-domain and long tail as well as its synemin-like expression pattern (Hemken et al., 1997), but it may actually be a splice variant of transitin.

Many IFPs, such as synemin (Xue et al., 2004) and GFAP (Middeldorp and Hol, 2011) have isoforms that are not only expressed in a tissue and developmental-stage specific manner, but also seem to have unique functions within the cells. Two nestin isoforms have been described so far: Nes-S and Nes-S Δ 107-254, which are exclusively expressed in the otherwise nestin-negative dorsal ganglia (Su et al., 2013a; Wong et al., 2013). Nes-S incorporates into filaments in rat postnatal dorsal root ganglia sensory and motor neurons from postnatal day 5 (P5) onwards, and is not expressed elsewhere (including e.g. kidney and muscle tissue). Nes-S is alternatively spliced from the nestin gene so that exon 4, encoding part of the C-terminus, is lacking, giving rise to a protein of 49,5 kDa, with a 94 amino acid long tail containing a Nes-S-specific 32 amino acid tail domain (Su et al., 2013a). Nes-S-vimentin filament structures form in SW13 cells, while in dorsal root ganglia, Nes-S seems to form a filamentous network with the IFs peripherin and neurofilament-H (Su et al., 2013a). It is intriguing to speculate that Nes-S might have evolved in this particular cell type to perform nestin-like functions. Nes-S Δ 107-254 on the other hand is missing most of its rod domain and cannot form filaments (Wong et al., 2013). Although present in dorsal root ganglia at low levels, it may lack a physiological function. An N-terminally GFP-tagged Nes-S∆107-254 by Wong and colleagues (2013) did form cytotoxic aggregates when overexpressed, but this does not truly reflect a pathological function either.

Due to its short N-terminus, nestin needs another IFP partner to form filaments. Vimentin is thought to be the major polymerization partner of nestin in most cell types (Eliasson et al., 1999). In muscle cells, nestin co-polymerizes mainly with desmin (Sjöberg et al., 1994b), but interestingly, nestin distribution seems to be unaltered at NMJs and myotendinous junctions in desmin^{-/-} muscle, suggesting that there are possibly other IFs compensating for desmin filament ablation in vivo (Carlsson et al., 1999). It should be noted that the desmin^{-/-} NMJs are, however, more diffuse in their organization compared to wildtypes (Agbulut et al., 2001). Nestin can also form filaments in vitro with the neuronal IFP α -internexin (Steinert et al., 1999).

Although vimentin complements the structure that nestin is lacking in filament formation, also nestin seems to have a regulatory role in the heteropolymers. In vitro filament formation occurs optimally at a nestin:vimentin ratio of 1:4 (Steinert et al., 1999), and disruption of the ratio with high nestin concentrations has a negative effect on vimentin assembly. The same is true when nestin is overexpressed in mitotic cells: while overexpression of nestin shifts vimentin to a more soluble pool, nestin downregulation may promote vimentin filament formation around the mitotic spindle (Chou et al., 2003). However, nestin expression did not cause vimentin solubilization during cell division when the mitotic vimentin N-terminal phosphorylation site Ser56, required for vimentin required for nestin filament formation, but it seems like the nestin-vimentin interaction plays a role in regulation of vimentin organization through altered dimerization properties in vitro, as well as changed cellular signaling functions of vimentin. Thus, depending on the cellular context, nestin incorporation into major IF networks may drastically change the nature of the IF cytoskeleton in terms of functionality. Also nestin is

phosphorylated during mitosis on Thr316 by Cdk1, which alters its organization during cell division (Sahlgren et al., 2001).

2.1.1.1 Factors that control nestin expression

The nestin promoter is located in the 5'-untranslated region and its expression is mainly driven by the zinc-finger Sp1 and Sp3 transcription factors in most tissues (Cheng et al., 2004). Nestin expression is not regulated by upstream elements, but instead by enhancers in two of its three introns in a tissue-specific fashion. Nestin expression in the somites and myotome is regulated by the first intron, while the second intron regulates CNS-specific nestin expression (Kawaguchi et al., 2001; Zimmerman et al., 1994). The CNS-directed enhancer in the second intron of nestin is under the control of SOX- and Pit-1/Oct/Unc-86-family of transcription factors and contains hormone response elements that may add to the tissue specific fine-tuning of nestin expression (Josephson et al., 1998; Tanaka et al., 2004b).

Although the genetic regulation of nestin is crucial for its timely expression in specific tissues, nestin is, like most IFPs, strictly regulated at the post-translational level. The phosphorylation and ubiquitination of nestin (Sahlgren et al., 2001; Sahlgren et al., 2003; Sahlgren et al., 2006) allows its rapid reorganization in response to extracellular and intracellular stimuli. For example, nestin expression is under the control of stem cell-associated Notch during neuronal differentiation in glioma cells (Mellodew et al., 2004; Shih and Holland, 2006). In response to induction of differentiation, nestin is rapidly degraded by the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway (Mellodew et al., 2004). Notch signaling is by no means the only factor to regulate its expression, but also a variety of growth factors that inhibit or promote differentiation processes, regulate nestin. For example, nestin protein expression is under the control of the growth factors thrombin, EGF and platelet-derived growth factor and FGF-2 (Chang et al., 2013; Huang et al., 2008; Huang et al., 2009b). Also noteworthy is the strict regulation of nestin protein expression during muscle differentiation (Sahlgren et al., 2003; Vaittinen et al., 2001), which is immediately initiated upon growth factor withdrawal in cell culture systems. It is likely that both genetic and PTM-mediated stabilization occur simultaneously to regulate nestin protein levels in most systems. Depending on the context, the regulation of nestin may be direct, or alternatively, a response to initiation of a differentiation or de-differentiation program. It is not well understood what role nestin plays in the active maintenance of a progenitor-like state. Experiments in liver cancer tumorigenesis have revealed that nestin expression is regulated by p53-Sp1 signaling as an essential part of tumor initiation (Tschaharganeh et al., 2014), suggesting that nestin expression may in fact drive an oncogenic de-differentiation program in this particular setup, and proposing that nestin may be more than a mere marker of immature cells.

2.1.1.2 Dynamic expression of nestin during development and tissue pathology

Nestin is best known for its protein expression in neuroepithelial progenitor cells in the CNS and peripheral nervous system from early development (E7 neural ectoderm detected with GFP reporter; Kawaguchi et al., 2001), in a cell lineage that contributes to both neurons and glial cells (astrocytes, oligodendroglia). Nestin expression is not correlated with stem cell-like indefinite self-renewal and proliferation, but rather with a restricted proliferative capacity typical of progenitor cells (Wiese et al., 2004), which is why it is regularly used as a marker for those. In the embryonic muscle-forming somites, nestin LacZ-reporter activity (directed by intron 1) is apparent in E9 somite myotomes (Zimmerman et al., 1994), and nestin protein is detected from E9.5 (Kachinsky et al., 1994; Sejersen and Lendahl, 1993). Although nestin expression in the somites is directed by elements in the first intron, nestin intron 2-driven GFP reporter expression (Mignone et al., 2004) is detected in a few different progenitor cell types in
adult muscle (Birbrair et al., 2011; Birbrair et al., 2013b; Day et al., 2007). Using this (intron 2directed) GFP mouse model, it was shown that the quiescence of muscle satellite cells goes strictly hand-in-hand with neuronal nestin-GFP reporter activity (Day et al., 2007). Nestin-GFP reporter expression in skeletal muscle also characterizes pericytes with myogenic precursor capacity, which contribute to muscle repair (Birbrair et al., 2013b), as well as neuronal lineagecommitted precursors that resemble oligodendrocyte precursor cells (NG2-glia, which also express nestin protein) (Birbrair et al., 2011; Birbrair et al., 2013a). Nestin-protein is also expressed in the highly proliferative myoblasts (neuronal nestin-GFP negative; Day et al., 2007), which are expanding from satellite cells, as well as in differentiating myotubes (Kachinsky et al., 1994). In addition, nestin protein expression is induced when the adipogenic 3T3-L1 cell line is forced to differentiate into a myogenic lineage through exogenous expression of muscle transcription factors myogenin or MyoD (Kachinsky et al., 1994). Together these facts suggest that nestin expression is indeed highly linked to the muscle lineage. In the heart, nestin protein is transiently expressed in myocytes during E9-10.5 (Kachinsky et al., 1995).

Besides these major organ systems, nestin protein is expressed in some specific cell types during development and maturation, but has also been repeatedly reported in adult tissue resident progenitor cells (mostly mesenchymal stem cells; MSCs) that assist in tissue repair and renewal (Table 3, and references therein). It should be noted that the expression of nestin at protein level has not been carefully addressed in most research papers focusing on GFP reporter activity. The cases in Table 3 include examples where nestin protein has specifically been detected, unless indicated otherwise. Nestin protein is also expressed in certain myofibroblast populations, such as in breast myoepithelial cells, in the propria mucosa of colon and intestine, as well as in the endometrium (Kishaba et al., 2010). A more detailed description of nestin expression pattern is summarized in Table 3.

With the induction of tissue stress and injury, nestin protein has been found to be re-expressed at protein level at least in regenerating muscle after injury and in myodegeneration (Sjöberg et al., 1994a; Vaittinen et al., 1999), astrogliosis after CNS injury (Frisén et al., 1995), regenerating testes (during Leydig cell differentiation from vascular smooth muscle cells and pericytes) (Davidoff et al., 2004), healing kidney after nephritis (in mesangial cells and podocytes) (Daniel et al., 2008; Perry et al., 2007), as well as myocardium after infarction (Scobioala et al., 2008). Nestin is also upregulated in neoangiogenic blood vessels in re-molding tissue during development, injury and cancer (Mokrý et al., 2004). In addition to its expression in tumor vessels, nestin is found in many tumor cells, some of which are presented in Table 3. It is not clear whether nestin can be used as a cancer stem cell marker, although its expression in healthy tissue is associated with progenitor cell-like features. The expression of nestin in tumors has recently evoked plenty of interest due to its potential use as a clinical marker in certain cancers and as a possible therapeutic target. Nestin expression has been found to correlate with poor prognosis in at least melanoma and breast cancer (Ishiwata et al., 2011a), but the underlying function is incompletely understood.

2.2 Post-translational regulation of intermediate filament assembly

The prominent PTMs of IFs have in recent years been of utmost interest in the field, as virtually every member of the family is subjected to PTM. While PTM-forms such as ubiquitination is fundamental in regulation of IF protein levels, the PTMs additionally fine-tune the polymerization process of IF filaments, usually by increasing their solubility. The assembly of IFs is by no means a static process, but the turnover of filaments occurs constantly, although the proteins themselves might be stable proteins.

Table 3 Expression of nestin in various tissues.						
Organ system	Specification	Physiological context	Pathological implications	References		
Skeletal muscle	Satellite cells	Satellite cells (GFP		(Day et al., 2007; Kachinsky		
		reporter), myoblasts		et al., 1994)		
	NMJ and MTJ	Constitutive expression	Denervation-regulated	(Carlsson et al., 1999;		
				Vaittinen et al., 1999)		
	Myotubes	Developing muscle	Regenerating myofibers	(Sejersen and Lendahl, 1993;		
				Sjöberg et al., 1994a)		
	Pericytes	Myogenic progenitors		(Birbrair et al., 2013b)		
Candiovocaulan	Candiamus auto	(GFP reporter)	Informated mana condium	(Vashinslay at al. 1005)		
Cartilovasculai	Carcionyocyte	expression	infarcted myocarcium	Scobioala et al. 2008)		
	Neovasculature	Smooth muscle and	Tumor angiogenesis	(Mokrý et al., 2004: Oikawa		
		endothelial cells	8 8	et al., 2010)		
CNS	Neural stem	Common marker in	Correlation with various	(Dahlstrand et al., 1992b;		
	cells	early development	high-grade brain tumors	Dahlstrand et al., 1995;		
				Lendahl et al., 1990)		
	Astrocytes		Reactive astrocytes in CNS	(Frisén et al., 1995)		
			injury, astrocytoma	····		
Kenal	Glomeruli	Podocytes	Kidney injury in podocytes,	(Daniel et al., 2008; Ishizaki		
Male	Testis	(constitutive) Developing (and less	Testicular cancer	(Davidoff et al., 2007)		
reproductive	1 0010	mature) Leydig and	resticular cancel	Fröidman et al., 1997: Lobo et		
organs		Sertoli cells		al., 2004)		
8	Prostate		Prostate cancer (variably)	(Gu et al., 2007)		
Female	Ovary		Ovarian cancer	(He et al., 2013)		
reproductive	Mammary	Myoepithelial cells	Basal epithelial breast	(Li et al., 2007; Liu et al.,		
organs	gland		cancer	2010)		
Digestive	Teeth	Tooth development and	Odontogenic tumors	(About et al., 2000; Fujita et		
system		mature odontoblasts		al., 2006; Terling et al., 1995)		
	Gastrointestinal		Expressed in various tumors	(Ishiwata et al., 2011a;		
Lung	(Mya)fibrablast		Inium induced	(Chap at al. 2014; Kishaha at		
Lung	(wyo)nbrobiast		myofibroblast, lung cancer	(Cheff et al., 2014; Kishaba et al. 2010: Ryuge et al. 2011)		
Liver and	Liver	Mesenchymal	Stellate cells.	(Herrera et al., 2006: Niki et		
pancreas		progenitor cells	hepatocellular- and	al., 1999; Tschaharganeh et		
-			cholangiocarcinoma	al., 2014)		
	Pancreas	Endocrine and exocrine	Pancreatic cancer	(Bernardo et al., 2006;		
		precursor cells, stellate		Lardon et al., 2002; Matsuda		
		cells		et al., 2011; Zulewski et al.,		
To Ja esta a	A duonal contour	Dation lavor	Canaan	2001) (Lashanmayar et al. 2000)		
endocrine	Autenal cortex	Keucular layer	Cancer	(Lachenmayer et al., 2009)		
Skeletal	MSCs	Osteoblast progenitors	Osteosarcoma	(Méndez-Ferrer et al., 2010)		
Skeletar	11003	Osteoblast progenitors	Osteosureomu	Ono et al., 2014; Veselska et		
				al., 2008)		
Hematopoietic	MSCs	Bone-marrow resident	Multiple myeloma	(Méndez-Ferrer et al., 2010;		
		mesenchymal stem cells		Svachova et al., 2011)		
Adipose	MSCs	mRNA in isolated		(Timper et al., 2006)		
	D 14 11	MSCs		(41) (1.2012		
Skin	Progenitor cells	Hair follicle and skin-	Skin cancers (e.g.	(Akiyama et al., 2013;		
		derived progenitor cells	meianoma)	riørenes et al., 1994; Li et al., 2003: Toma et al. 2005)		
Sensory	Eve	Developing lens and		(Lee et al., 2012b: Yang et al		
Sensor y		retina, Müller cells		2000)		
	Taste	Fungiform papilla stem		(Mii et al., 2014)		
		cells (GFP reporter)				
	Ear	Progenitor cells in		(Kojima et al., 2004)		
		cochlea (GFP reporter)				
	Olfactory	Olfactory mucosa stem		(Tomé et al., 2009)		
		cells				

IFs are mainly phosphorylated on the head and tail domains, which protrude from the filament structure. The addition of phosphate groups dramatically affect the solubility of IFPs and mediates re-organization of the filament structure that is required e.g. during mitosis. For example, mitotic kinase activity is crucial for the solubilization of both cytoplasmic IFs, such as

vimentin (Yamaguchi et al., 2005), as well as the nuclear lamina (Peter et al., 1990). Also cell stress often causes prominent IF phosphorylation. As an example, keratin 8 can function in a cytoprotective manner in liver injury by attracting stress-kinase phosphorylation, a process which is thought to re-target harmful kinase activity away from apoptotic substrates (Ku and Omary, 2006). In addition, phosphorylation is important in the regulation of IF interactions. Also the significance of other PTMs (e.g. SUMOylation, glycosylation, acetylation, farnesylation), and their inter-dependence, is becoming more evident in the IF-field (Snider and Omary, 2014). Nestin has been found to be phosphorylated, ubiquitinated (Sahlgren et al., 2001; Sahlgren et al., 2003; Sahlgren et al., 2006) and glycosylated (Grigelioniené et al., 1996). To date, no other PTMs of nestin have been described in literature, but it would be surprising if nestin was not modified in a similar complex manner as other IFs. In addition, nestin antibodies often detect multiple differently migrating bands by Western blotting, suggesting the prominent existence of nestin splicing-, degradation- or PTM-isoforms.

2.2.1 Intermediate filaments as targets of Cdk5

Not different from other kinases, also Cdk5-mediated phosphorylation of IF networks affects the dynamics of IF assembly. Due to the close relation of Cdk phosphorylation motifs, many mitotic sites on IFs have been found to be regulated by Cdk5 during interphase. Thus, when a non-cycling cell meets a challenge that requires acute reorganization of the IF network, Cdk5 can be envisioned to substitute for the functions of classical Cdks in this context, allowing the cell to respond accordingly. Deregulation of Cdk5 activity can have serious consequences on IF assembly through the promotion of aggregate formation.

Neurofilaments

Cdk5, alike other members of the kinase family, phosphorylates multiple Lys-Ser-Pro (KSP) motifs on the C-terminus of neurofilament (NF) M and H isoforms (Lew et al., 1992b; Pant et al., 1997). The NF-H C- terminus contains over 50 KSP-repeats and is a heavily phosphorylated protein (Sun et al., 1996). The physiological importance of Cdk5 in regulation of NF localization was first demonstrated in the Cdk5^{-/-} mouse model (Ohshima et al., 1996), and later, the phosphorylation has indeed been shown to regulate axonal transport of the IFs (Ackerley et al., 2003; Shea et al., 2004). Deregulated Cdk5 is believed to cause NF hyperphosphorylation in many neurodegenerative diseases, such as Parkinson's disease (Nakamura et al., 1997), amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (Nguyen et al., 2001), and Niemann-Pick type C disease (Bu et al., 2002), which has a neuronal pathology that resembles AD. Most Cdk5-related neurodegenerative phenotypes are, however, not single-handedly caused by NF hyperphosphorylation.

Nestin

A series of reports have described the interplay between nestin and Cdk5. Identified by in vitro phosphorylation and mass spectrometry, Cdk5 was shown to phosphorylate nestin on Thr316 and Thr1495, which is involved in remodeling of the nestin cytoskeleton (Sahlgren et al., 2003). Additionally, Thr316 is phosphorylated by Cdk1 during mitosis, causing reorganization of nestin filaments (Sahlgren et al., 2001). Also nestin Ser1837 phosphorylation (a Cdk5 consensus site) was reported to be downregulated in E18.5 Cdk5^{-/-} brain in a phosphoproteomic-study, possibly implying it may be a Cdk5 site in vivo (Contreras-Vallejos et al., 2014). The phosphoregulation of nestin has vast consequences on Cdk5 itself, and the detailed signaling mechanism is discussed further in forthcoming chapters.

Lamins

Lamin phosphorylation during cell division is essential for disruption of the physical nuclear lamina, allowing proper chromosome segregation to occur (Heald and McKeon, 1990; Peter et al., 1990). Some major mitotic sites (e.g. Ser22, Ser392) have also been found to exist in a phosphorylated status during interphase (Kochin et al., 2014), and thus, they are believed to be crucial in determination of lamin solubility. In a neuronal model of glutamate- or amyloid- β induced apoptosis, Cdk5 was suggested to promote phosphorylation of lamin A on Ser392 and Ser22 (as well as of the equivalent sites on lamin B1) (Chang et al., 2011). Chang and colleagues (2011) postulated that upon neurotoxic insults, the hyperactivation of Cdk5 kinase activity drives the solubilization of the nuclear lamina as an early step of neuronal apoptosis. In fact, mutation of Ser392 to alanine did reduce neurotoxicity, suggesting that lamins are important targets of hyperactivated Cdk5, and that the nuclear dispersion is not solely a consequence of cell death (Chang et al., 2011).

Vimentin

Vimentin Ser56 was originally found to be phosphorylated by Cdk1 during mitosis, allowing rearrangement of vimentin filaments during cell division (Chou et al., 1991). Upon artificial neutrophil activation, Cdk5 was shown to phosphorylate vimentin on Ser56, causing a polarization of the vimentin cytoskeleton (Lee et al., 2012a). The phosphorylation-mediated remodeling of vimentin was proposed to be the key factor for Cdk5-dependent neutrophil secretion (Lee et al., 2012a; Rosales et al., 2004b).

2.3 Intermediate filaments as signaling scaffolds

Not only is the IF cytoskeleton constantly being remodeled as a response to the cell differentiation stage, but the solubility, altered intracellular localization and organization have dramatic effects on IF interaction partners. In recent years, it has come to the attention of the field that the IFs actively regulate functions and positioning of organelles, and are involved cell migration, adhesion, differentiation and mitosis; processes which are highly dependent on the flexibility of the cells' cytoskeleton. Many IFs are crucial for the stress tolerance of cells when they are challenged to a particular strain.

Because of their strict differentiation-regulated expression pattern, it is perhaps not completely unexpected that IFPs act at the gates of differentiation processes. The differentiation of muscle is an interesting example, as the different stages are characterized by the dynamic expression of many IFPs. Myoblasts lacking lamin A/C differentiate at a slower rate due to the decreased expression of the myogenic determinant MyoD (Frock et al., 2006). Nucleoplasmic lamin A/Clamina-associated polypeptide 2a (LAP2a)-pRb complexes suppress proliferation and enhance differentiation of at least adipocytes and muscle stem cells at initial stages of commitment (Dorner et al., 2006; Gotic et al., 2010). Thus, the lamin A/C-regulated differentiation of muscle cells is likely to be under strict control of not only lamin protein levels, but by the solubility state of lamins. As the PTMs are essential for regulation of lamin solubility, it would be highly interesting to assess the function of lamin phosphorylation during muscle differentiation. As another example, the genetic depletion of synemin increases the myogenic commitment of muscle stem cells (Zhenlin et al., 2014). Desmin, in turn, does not seem to play an essential role in muscle differentiation or fusion in a knockout-approach (it is likely that some its functions can be substituted by other similar proteins), but the organization of the sarcomeric structure of muscle (Li et al., 1997; Milner et al., 1996), as well as organelle distribution, are severely devastated. Conversely, the transient downregulation of desmin inhibits myoblast differentiation very potently, suggesting that desmin is nevertheless required for earlier processes of muscle differentiation (Li et al., 1994). Together these results illustrate the

importance of IFPs and their solubility state in regulation of myogenic differentiation. Naturally, this is not the only differentiation model where IFPs are essential for cell fate determination. The roles of IFPs in regulation of the proliferation/differentiation switch are of special interest in the context of cancer.

2.3.1 The physiological functions of nestin

The function of nestin has remained somewhat unclear, with the only very recent generation of three distinct mouse models lacking nestin. The first one to be published targeted the coding region of nestin exon 1 by homologous recombination and the mice showed perinatal lethality (Park et al., 2010); a relatively uncommon, but not unheard of, phenotype in the field of IF knockout models. These nestin knockout mice died due to high apoptosis-rate of neuronal precursors during development (Park et al., 2010). Later, Mohseni and colleagues (2011) published a viable and grossly normal nestin knockout mouse, where most of exon 1 and part of the 5'-untranslated region were deleted by gene targeting. The knockout mouse by Mohseni et al. (2011) did, however, show aberrant NMJ structure and motor coordination problems. Both knockouts were in C57BL/6 background (Mohseni et al., 2011; Park et al., 2010). In line with Mohseni et al. (2011), a third nestin deficient mouse was generated by ubiquitous lentiviral expression of nestin shRNA plasmid, causing a disruption of NMJ organization in nestin downregulated mice (Yang et al., 2011). Also the shRNA mouse was viable. As two independent mouse strains lacking nestin were viable, and because the deletions of minor IFPs are rarely deadly, it seems probable that the embryolethal knockout model generated by Park and coauthors (2010) may have suffered from some unidentified defect, which eventually may have caused the observed lethality.

As nestin expression is generally linked to highly proliferative tissues, such as developing neuroepithelium and several types of cancer, there has been an interest to understand the role of nestin as a regulator of progenitor cell proliferation. One interesting aspect was provided by Reimer and colleagues (2009), when they reported an interplay with the steroid hormone receptor family member glucocorticoid receptor (GR) and the nestin-vimentin IF network. They proposed that this IF cytoskeleton is important for sequestration of the glucocorticoid receptor to the cytoplasm: depletion of nestin promoted nuclear accumulation of the GR, while its overexpression resulted in GR cytoplasmic sequestration (Reimer et al., 2009). As the shRNA-mediated downregulation of nestin, the growth inhibitory effects of nuclear GR were amplified. Nestin and GR co-expression has also been reported in melanoma patient samples (Lai et al., 2013).

The nestin/vimentin-scaffold also regulates the activity of the ubiquitous insulin degrading enzyme (IDE). Besides insulin and amyloid- β , also ubiquitin belongs to the substrates of IDE (Ralat et al., 2011). IDE bound specifically to the soluble pool of the nestin-vimentin cytoskeleton in a phosphorylation-dependent fashion, but also separately to the nestin tail fragment 641–1177 in vitro (Chou et al., 2009). Soluble nestin-vimentin reduced IDE-activity towards insulin and ubiquitin, while stimulating degradation of the small substrate peptide V (Chou et al., 2009; Ralat et al., 2011). Together these results indicate that the solubility of the nestin-vimentin filaments control the activity and substrate specificity of this enzyme. Taking into consideration the numerous and highly potent substrates of IDE, the IF phosphorylation status can have extensive effects on cell physiology.

Studies on transitin, the bird ortholog of nestin, have revealed roles in both proliferating bird myoblasts and neuroepithelial cells. While knockdown of transitin in chick myoblast prevents differentiation and promotes proliferation (Jalouli et al., 2010), transitin knockdown in

neuronal progenitors promotes neuronal differentiation at the expense of proliferation (Wakamatsu et al., 2007). In fact, transitin binds to the Notch inhibitor Numb and directs its asymmetrical division during mitosis of neuronal progenitors, which may underlie the observed effect of transitin knockdown on neuronal progenitor fate (Wakamatsu et al., 2007).

2.3.2 Interplay between Cdk5 and nestin in muscle models

Nestin and Cdk5 were first shown to interact in the rat-derived neuronal progenitor cell line ST15A (Sahlgren et al., 2003). Expression of Cdk5/p35 strongly promoted nestin phosphorylation on Thr316, but several phosphosites that remained unidentified, seemed to be induced (Sahlgren et al., 2003), suggesting that nestin is heavily phosphorylated by the kinase. The nestin-Cdk5 interaction was confirmed to occur also in differentiating myoblasts, where both nestin protein expression and Cdk5 activity are induced strongly at later stages of differentiation (Sahlgren et al., 2003). The organization of nestin during muscle differentiation is highly dynamic, when the typical perinuclear nestin found in proliferating cells reorganizes into long filaments that follow the shape of the elongated and fused myotubes (Sahlgren et al., 2003). The transport of nestin (and other muscle IFs) to the tips of myotubes is regulated by the kinesin-motor protein family member Kif5b during myoblast differentiation (Wang et al., 2013), but the reorganization is otherwise phosphorylation-dependent (Sahlgren et al., 2003). Phospho-Thr316 on nestin was found to exist exclusively in soluble fractions in differentiating myoblasts, suggesting that Cdk5-mediated nestin phosphorylation releases a pool of soluble nestin. The strong induction of nestin protein levels and filament re-organization during differentiation are also dependent on Cdk5 activity (Sahlgren et al., 2003). Therefore, there were clear indications of Cdk5-mediated regulation of nestin organization in myocytes. Interestingly, the inhibition of Cdk5 with roscovitine increased the association between nestin and p35, suggesting that Cdk5 activity regulates the scaffolding properties of nestin towards its own activator. Later, PKCζ, which is an essential upstream regulator of Cdk5 activity, was also demonstrated to be important for nestin filament organization and induction of nestin protein levels during the process, as Cdk5 remains essentially inactive in the absence of functional PKCζ (de Thonel et al., 2010).

In mature muscle, nestin is localized directly underneath the postsynaptic plasma membrane of the NMJ (Vaittinen et al., 1999; Vaittinen et al., 2001), where it extends into sarcomeres in the vicinity of the NMJs and surrounds the junctional myonuclei (Kang et al., 2007). Nestin expression at the postsynaptic NMJ is regulated by innervation, causing nestin mRNA to be transcribed in the synaptic myonuclei (Kang et al., 2007). Although the regulation of nestin in muscle is not completely understood, it seems as nestin expression is regulated by several factors.

As nestin is present at NMJs, and co-localizes with the postsynaptic AChRs together with Cdk5 (Sahlgren et al., 2003), it is perhaps not surprising that nestin-mediated scaffolding of Cdk5 is essential in determination of its kinase activity at the NMJs. As discussed previously, Cdk5 acts at several levels of NMJ development to regulate both positive (NRG-induced AChR transcription) and negative signals (ACh-mediated Cdk5 activity disperses AChR clusters, which are not stabilized by agrin) that act on AChR clustering (Fu et al., 2001; Fu et al., 2005; Lin et al., 2005). As a response to ACh agonists, C2C12 myotubes upregulate Cdk5 activity, induce p35 membrane recruitment and consequently trigger nestin Thr316 phosphorylation (Yang et al., 2011). Downregulation of nestin, or expression of phospho-deficient T316A mutant nestin, causes suppression of Cdk5 activation and a reduction in ACh agonist-dependent NMJ dispersion, showing that (phosphorylated) nestin is required for Cdk5-mediated AChR dispersion (Yang et al., 2011) (summarized in Figure 8). Nestin shRNA mice that were generated by Yang et al., (2011) did show an increase in AChR cluster number, indicating

that nestin is required for optimal NMJ dispersion. The results were supported by a genetic nestin deletion mouse model, which similarly to the shRNA mice, showed an increase in AChR cluster number and size, causing motor coordination problems in the nestin deficient mice when measured by the Roto-Rod test (Mohseni et al., 2011).

2.3.3 Cdk5 and nestin in neuronal cell death and survival

A cytoprotective role for nestin was first demonstrated in the neuronal ST15A cells (Sahlgren et al., 2006). When the cells were treated with hydrogen peroxide to induce apoptosis, nestin was found to undergo proteasomal degradation at the time of cell death, and intriguingly, downregulation of nestin increased apoptosis further, while expression of exogenous nestin had a strong cytoprotective effect (Sahlgren et al., 2006). Cdk5 turned out to be the executor of apoptosis in this particular model, and expression of DN-Cdk5 rescued the increased apoptosis of nestin-downregulated cells (Sahlgren et al., 2006). In fact, exogenous expression of nestin protected p35 from ubiquitination and proteasomal degradation, while reducing its calpain cleavage to p25 during apoptosis. Studies that were based on expression of N-terminally green fluorescent protein (GFP)-tagged nestin truncations showed that the nestin tail contributes strongly to its own degradation; the nestin truncation containing amino acids 1-640 of rat nestin (Nest-640) is considerably more stable compared to full length forms (Sahlgren et al., 2006). Immunoprecipitation studies also revealed that Cdk5/p35 binds to the nestin C-terminus (between amino acids 314-640) next to the rod domain (Sahlgren et al., 2006). Finally, Sahlgren and colleagues (2006) showed that while expression of Nest-640 did not increase steady-state p35 protein levels as such, its intracellular localization (and thus Cdk5 activity) shifted towards a soluble pool as determined by cellular fractionations. Thus it is believed that a soluble pool of Nest-640, which exists in significant amounts in the transfected cells, sequesters Cdk5 activity to the cytoplasm and protects p35 from ubiquitination, thereby preventing cytotoxic Cdk5/p25 activity in the nucleus. Importantly, the nestin-Cdk5 interplay occurred in both directions: while nestin was shown to regulate p35 turnover, disruption of Cdk5 activity with roscovitine or DN-Cdk5 significantly retarded the H2O2-induced nestin degradation (Sahlgren et al., 2006). As Cdk5-mediated nestin phosphorylation promotes filament solubilization (Sahlgren et al., 2003), the evidence from both neuronal and muscle systems imply that Cdk5 itself acts to regulate the turnover of p35 through nestin, to prevent unwanted kinase activity. The signaling events at the NMJ and during apoptosis are recapitulated in Figure 8.

The novel Nes-S isoform was also seemingly interacting with Cdk5 when overexpressed in N2a neuroblastoma cells that are intrinsically Nes-S deficient (Su et al., 2013a). In support of nestin-Cdk5 interplay in neurons, expression of Nes-S promoted survival after H_2O_2 treatment (Su et al., 2013a). In addition, Nes-S downregulation seemed to impair primary dorsal root ganglia viability. Although further evidence is required to understand the interplay between Nes-S and Cdk5, these results nicely support the nestin-Cdk5 interaction, which has been under intense investigation in muscle and neurons previously. Also in zebrafish, the downregulation of nestin causes an increase in apoptosis of neuronal precursors during development of brain and eye, leading to severely malformed and small-sized brains and hydrocephalus (Chen et al., 2010). In rat vascular smooth muscle cells nestin downregulation enhances H_2O_2 -induced apoptosis similarly to the ST15A model system, but the link to Cdk5 remained unclear from this particular study (Huang et al., 2009c). Results suggested that Cdk5 may have acted as an anti-apoptotic kinase instead in this particular model system, leaving the details unclear.



Figure 8 The role of the nestin scaffold in the regulation of Cdk5 signaling. In a model by Yang et al. (2011) and Mohseni et al. (2011) (upper panel), nestin is required for Cdk5 activation at the NMJ membrane, where Cdk5 kinase activity acts to disperse non-stabilized AChRs. ACh itself drives Cdk5 activation. Activated Cdk5 phosphorylates nestin, which stabilizes Cdk5/p35 transiently at the membrane. Eventually, the phosphorylated nestin is degraded. If nestin is completely removed from the system, Cdk5 is not activated as efficiently, resulting in increased AChR clustering, as observed in the nestin deficient mice. A similar regulatory scaffold determines Cdk5-mediated neuronal apoptosis (Sahlgren et al., 2006) (lower panel). In the presence of nestin, oxidative stress induces Cdk5 activity, which is targeted towards the nestin filaments. The consequential phosphorylation-mediated nestin solubilization protects Cdk5/p35 at the expense of Cdk5/p25. Eventually, nestin is degraded. In the case nestin is removed by shRNA, p35 is uncontrollably processed and Cdk5/p25-generation is favored, resulting in increased apoptosis when the death-inducing Cdk5 activity is unleashed.

2.3.4 The role of nestin in podocyte signaling

As highlighted before, Cdk5 activation by p35 and/or cyclin I is important for renal podocyte survival through the maintenance of adequate levels of anti-apoptotic proteins (Brinkkoetter et al., 2009; Griffin et al., 2006; Taniguchi et al., 2012). In transgenic mice lacking either p35 or cyclin I, podocyte apoptosis was increased compared to WT mice during podocyte stress, and kidney function was further impaired in the double knockout mice (Brinkkoetter et al., 2009; Brinkkoetter et al., 2010; Taniguchi et al., 2012), proposing that the activators could partly compensate for each other's functions, although Cdk5 may have altered substrate specificity depending on which activator it is bound to. Baseline kidney function and podocyte apoptosis was normal in all mice. Also a pro-apoptotic role for Cdk5 in high glucose-treated cultured podocytes has been suggested in opposition to the abovementioned observations (Zhang et al., 2014). In a streptozotocin-induced model of rat diabetic nephropathy, Cdk5 expression was found to be induced in injured glomeruli (Liu et al., 2013). Furthermore, Cdk5/p35 expression and activity was promoted by high glucose treatment, but apoptosis was found to be only modestly inhibited in the presence of relatively high concentrations of roscovitine (50 μ M) or specific Cdk5 targeting (Liu et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2014).

Intriguingly, nestin is also expressed in fetal and adult podocytes, where it co-localizes with Cdk5 in immunostainings (Bertelli et al., 2002). In the adult organism, podocytes are one of the

few places where nestin and Cdk5 are strongly expressed under homeostasis and can be studied jointly, implying that together they may have highly specialized functions in that particular cell type. In fact, downregulation of nestin in cultured podocytes caused a modest increase in the apoptotic population (Liu et al., 2012), suggesting that it may have neuron-like cytoprotective scaffolding functions for Cdk5 during podocyte apoptosis (Sahlgren et al., 2006). The nestin-Cdk5 signaling axis has not been studied in further detail in renal systems. Nestin expression levels are known to respond to podocyte injury in different injury models and kidney disease patients, but both up- and downregulation has been observed, probably due to different models used and differences in the degree of injury (Su et al., 2007; Wagner et al., 2006; Zou et al., 2006). Nestin is also expressed in intraglomerular mesangial cells (specialized pericytes) upon specific injury towards these cells (Daniel et al., 2008). When depleted, the mesangial cells proliferate and repopulate their niche and depletion of nestin with siRNA suppresses their proliferation to some extent (Daniel et al., 2008).

2.3.5 Nestin - more than a marker in cancer

Nestin is expressed in a variety of cancers. The downregulation of nestin seems to negatively affect the cell migration/invasion of at least pancreatic cancer cells (Matsuda et al., 2011), glioma cells (Ishiwata et al., 2011b), lung cancer cells (Takakuwa et al., 2013) and melanoma cells (Akiyama et al., 2013). In prostate cancer cell models, two separate studies have questioned the role of nestin in migration and invasion. While Kleeberger and colleagues (2007) found that nestin downregulation inhibited migration and invasion, a later study argued that nestin downregulation promotes invasion through regulation of focal adhesion component turnover and integrin membrane expression (Hyder et al., 2014). The downregulation of nestin also promotes melanoma cell invasion and matrix-metalloprotease upregulation (Lee et al., 2014). Some reports suggest that nestin expression might be linked to epithelial-mesenchymal transition, at least in pancreatic (Su et al., 2013b) and breast (Zhao et al., 2014) cancer cell models. In many types of cancer cells the knockdown of nestin has been found to interfere with cell growth and viability, including lung cancer cells (Takakuwa et al., 2013), liver and breast cancer cells (Tschaharganeh et al., 2014; Zhao et al., 2014) and in melanoma (Akiyama et al., 2013). These, and many other publications, do support that nestin plays a role in tumorigenesis and cancer cell motility, but the effects are cancer cell line-specific and the mechanisms are in many cases not understood well, if at all. Also the aspects of nestin as a potential regulator and target for tumor angiogenesis (Ishiwata et al., 2011a; Matsuda et al., 2013) have showed growing interest in the past years, as nestin is highly expressed in pericytes and endothelial cells in neovasculature.

The specificity of nestin expression in mesenchymal stem cells, neuronal progenitors and cancer have created an interest to understand its expression pattern in more detail, possibly even including its use as a clinical marker. There are, however, only a limited number of research articles that address in detail the functionality of nestin and the significance of its presence in tumors. Given its surprisingly abundant, but highly specific expression, which has expanded in recent years, there is an increasing need to understand better the molecular functions of nestin.

3 Myogenesis

Skeletal muscle contributes to approximately 40% of the total body weight in mammals. Limb skeletal muscles originate from the embryonic somites of mesodermal origin, which reside in pairs on both sides of the developing vertebrae. The somites are sites of myoblasts expansion, from where the myogenic cells migrate to the myotome, where primitive skeletal muscle tissue

is formed. First somites appear around E8 in mouse development, after which they multiply to a final number of more than 60 somite pairs. During the three first postnatal weeks in mice, muscle stem cells proliferate actively and build up muscle tissue, after which muscle enters a steady-state where muscle mass increase occurs only in response to stress in form of injury or exercise. Muscle stem cells are activated upon cell stress to answer the demand created by injury-mediated tissue loss, but the cells only have a restricted regenerative potential, which gradually decreases with age.

3.1 Skeletal muscle stem cells and muscle differentiation

Satellite cells are tissue-resident stem cells of skeletal muscle that reside mitotically quiescent on top of myofibers, underneath the basal lamina. Satellite cells are typically found in large numbers in the vicinity of NMJs, at the ends of myofibers, and close to blood vessels. Satellite cells, and their progeny, are a heterogeneous group of cells in terms of the expression of muscle stem cell markers (such as Myf5, M-cadherin, integrin- α 7, CD34), as individual cells express a different setup of molecular markers and also show variability in the expression levels of myogenic proteins (Sacco et al., 2008). The expression of the transcription factor Pax7 is, however, a ubiquitous and well-established marker for all quiescent and proliferating satellite cells in all muscle types across species (Seale et al., 2000). The molecular variability of satellite cells (within a muscle and between muscle types) is considered to stem from environmental factors that mold the satellite cell niche, generating differences in the differentiation potential of individual cells. Also the amount of satellite cells varies between muscle types. In addition to satellite cells, several other types of myogenic stem cells exist that can readily contribute to muscle differentiation and regeneration. Examples of such are the muscle resident PW1+/Pax7- interstitial cells (Mitchell et al., 2010) and pericytes (Dellavalle et al., 2007). Homing of bone marrow-originated MSCs to sites of muscle injury is also believed to contribute to the muscle regeneration process in vivo (Corbel et al., 2003). Nonetheless, the depletion of satellite cells severely blocks myogenic regeneration after muscle damage, and hence, the satellite cells are considered to be the most significant muscle stem cell population in acute muscle injury (Lepper et al., 2011). Researchers have shown that as few as seven still myofiber-associated satellite cells engrafted to dystrophic muscle can readily regenerate considerable parts of host muscle tissue (Collins et al., 2005), demonstrating the enormous myogenic potential of the cells. Satellite cells can, in suitable conditions, be differentiated to osteoblasts or adipocytes, suggesting that they ultimately have a mesenchymal stem cell character (Asakura et al., 2001).

When entering the cell cycle in response to a stress signal, the activated satellite cells immediately turn on the expression of muscle regulatory factors (MyoD, Myf5) (Cooper et al., 1999), and are thereafter considered to be part of the proliferative myogenic progeny of satellite cells, the myoblasts (illustrated in Figure 9). Myoblasts can either fuse to existing muscle fibers or fuse with other myoblasts to form new myofibers. The satellite cell pool is replenished by asymmetrical division, or alternatively, activated satellite cells can lose MyoD expression and return to a quiescent state (Pax7+, MyoD-) (Zammit et al., 2004). Myoblasts that enter the terminal myogenic differentiation program exit the cell cycle and upregulate the expression of transcription factors myogenin and Mrf4 (which are direct targets of MyoD and Myf5), thereby switching on an orchestrated series of events that involves increased motility and alignment of myoblasts preparing to fuse, as well as expression of muscle-specific proteins. The prerequisite for the initiation of differentiation is cell cycle inhibition (including upregulation of cell-cycle inhibitors) and repression of mitotic Cdk activity, whereas cell differentiation-related Cdks (such as Cdk5) are activated. Thus, the initiation of differentiation is balanced by (inhibitory) mitotic Cdks and (permissive) differentiation Cdks.



Figure 9 The expression of myogenic transcription factors during differentiation. Satellite cells are characterized by Pax7 expression, which is immediately lost upon commitment to differentiation. Pax7+, MyoD+ activated cells can also return to quiescence to maintain the stem cell pool. The molecular signature of proliferating myoblasts reflects their individual differentiation state. Eventually, at the stage of myotube formation, myogenin (MyoG) expression is downregulated from the newly formed myonuclei.

3.2 Muscle repair processes

Satellite cells can be activated by physical muscle damage (e.g. muscle injury, exercise, loss of innervation) or secreted factors (e.g. hormones, nutrients) to replenish muscle tissue. Importantly, a pool of satellite cells is always maintained in a quiescent state to ensure the preservation of the regenerative capacity of muscle, while other cells activate, proliferate and differentiate in response to muscle damage. The satellite cells become fewer with age and lose their myogenic potential due to the aging extracellular environment (Conboy et al., 2005), causing an age-dependent reduction in regenerative capacity of muscle (sarcopenia).

In practice, the process of muscle development, differentiation and healing all involve activation of satellite cells and their commitment into the myogenic differentiation program. Small injuries, like those that arise from exercise, mainly involve the activation of a few satellite cells that heal the microdamage of myofibers, whereas wounds of larger areas comprises the regeneration of several tissue types (myofibers, connective tissue, vasculature, nerves) and involves an inflammatory reaction. Destructive damage, disease conditions or excessive inflammation (myositis) may eventually lead to extensive myofiber death, sustained fibrosis and accumulation of adipocytes between myofibers, which impair normal muscle function and its contractile capacity. The injury-evoked inflammation is a crucial part of the healing process: macrophages and leukocytes, which are attracted to muscle in response to injury, are essential for phagocytosis of dead myofiber debris, but the inflammation also promotes activation of myogenic satellite cells and fibroblasts, which secrete transient (as well as fibrosis-related) extracellular matrix (reviewed in Mann et al., 2011; Yin et al., 2013; Chang and Rudnicki, 2014).

Muscle dystrophies derive from mutations of a variety of genes that mutually cause fragility in the muscle structure. Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD) is a recessive X-linked severe, but yet relatively common (1/3500 males), muscle wasting disease that derives from mutations in the muscle structural protein dystrophin. DMD causes severe progressive muscle wasting that will eventually cause premature death of the patient due to wasting of vital muscles, such as heart and those involved in breathing. The disruption of the dystrophin gene in mice (often referred to as mdx-mice) suitably recapitulates many DMD symptoms and is a commonly used mouse model in muscle wasting disease research. Another less common myopathy is Emery-Dreifuss muscular dystrophy, which is caused by lamina-disrupting mutations in genes that

encode lamin A/C or emerin, causing both skeletal and cardiac myopathy. The mechanisms of nuclear lamina-related muscular dystrophies are not well understood. Most myopathies progress slowly and do not affect the patient's life expectancy, while others (such as DMD) dramatically shorten patient life-span. The differences in severity rise from different mechanisms, although the diseases have in common the continuous myofiber regeneration, fibrosis and adipocyte accumulation, as well as chronic inflammation of the muscle, which eventually depletes the myogenic stem cell pool, leaving the muscle incapable of repair. The progress of muscle dystrophy is a multi-cause process and the mechanisms of the cells involved are complex and poorly understood at a molecular level. On one hand, the muscle fibers are weak, while the myogenic cells lose their potential to self-renew or differentiate, which causes a gradual decline in muscle mass. Simultaneously, other cell types show an increased fibroblast and adipocyte differentiation potential, leading to the persistent problem of chronic fibrosis within muscle tissue. Muscle fibrosis is one of the key challenges in muscle dystrophies as it cannot currently be treated, or even restrained. At present, there is no treatment against muscle dystrophy, but especially muscle mass-supporting stem cell therapy has been successful in preclinical research models (reviewed in Mann et al., 2011; Miyagoe-Suzuki et al., 2012; Bareja and Billin, 2013).

Prolonged muscle damage initiated by secondary causes includes for instance sarcopenia, immobility-triggered atrophy, myositis and cancer- and AIDS cachexia. Although these muscle conditions can be more transient by nature, the muscle atrophy cannot be treated medically and thus they pose a serious healthcare problem due to their high prevalence. If curable, the recovery time from atrophy is usually long and has a huge impact on the quality of life of the patient.

3.3 Laboratory models in muscle research

Differentiation-competent immortalized muscle progenitor cell lines are frequently used to study muscle differentiation, one of them being the C2C12 cell line, which originates from a dystrophic mouse model (Yaffe and Saxel, 1977). C2C12 myoblasts differentiate promptly at high confluency and serum-withdrawal, after which they form multinucleated myotubes in 2D culture. Primary muscle progenitor cell cultures can be isolated from muscle by enzymatic digestion and physical disruption of muscle tissue, but have the disadvantage of the presence of other cell types in cultures: these cultures typically contain a combination of myoblasts, fibroblasts, adipocytes and other cell types, the proportions of which may vary interexperimentally. Pure satellite cell cultures are commonly isolated with the help of nestin (Day et al., 2007) or Pax7-driven (Bosnakovski et al., 2008) fluorescent reporters, or by the selection of CD34+/integrin a7+/CD45-/CD31-/CD11b-/Sca1- cells by cell sorting (Pasut et al., 2012). A higher grade of purity can alternatively be reached by culturing of satellite cells from intact myofibers. These myoblast cell models, all of which have their own advantages and shortcomings, are useful to study myoblast proliferation and differentiation. There is, however, no in vitro model to study muscle regeneration, given the complex interplay between tissue types that occurs during muscle healing. Therefore, muscle injury is often studied in rodent injury models. The most commonly used injury types include chemical injury (BaCl₂, cardiotoxin), nerve injuries and physical injuries (cutting-, freeze-, or squeeze injury), all of which reflect slightly different injury conditions in terms of healing, inflammation and tissue remodeling.

AIMS OF THE STUDY

Prior to this work, there had been an interest towards the nestin/Cdk5/p35 signaling complex in the laboratory. First, Cdk5 was found to phosphorylate nestin during myogenic differentiation, leading to re-organization of nestin filaments (Sahlgren et al., 2003). Later, nestin was discovered to constitute a regulatory scaffold for the kinase in a model of stress-induced apoptosis in neuronal precursor cells (Sahlgren et al., 2006). This thesis aimed to question the role of nestin-Cdk5 interplay in muscle differentiation and healing. Considering the aforementioned work, the depletion of nestin was hypothesized to affect Cdk5 signaling also in myoblasts, with consequences on myoblast differentiation, muscle development and healing. Furthermore, nestin was hypothesized to retain its Cdk5-regulatory functions in cancer cell signaling, which was the research focus of the last part of this thesis. In total, this thesis consists of three studies that were designed as a natural continuum on the above-mentioned publications, and which together aimed to understand in detail the complex interplay between Cdk5 and the IFP nestin in development and disease. The specific objectives of the distinct projects were the following:

- I. To understand the detailed role of the nestin scaffold in regulation of Cdk5 during muscle differentiation.
- II. To assess in a broader perspective how skeletal muscle physiology and regeneration is affected by the genetic ablation of the nestin scaffold.
- III. To examine the specific functions of Cdk5 in prostate cancer, and to address whether the concept of nestin/Cdk5 interplay could be extrapolated into a disease context.

EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURES

Table 4 Methods utilized and reference to specific descriptions.			
Method	Further references (in this thesis)		
Cell culture	I, II, III		
Cell sorting	III		
Cdk5-kinase assay	II, III		
Echo-MRI	II		
Immunocytochemistry	I, II, III		
Immunohistochemistry	II		
Immunoprecipitation	I, II, III		
LC-MS/MS	III		
Live cell imaging	III		
MTS-assay	I		
Muscle injury	II		
Myofiber cultures	II		
Primary myoblast cultures	I, II		
RT-qPCR	I, III		
Statistical analysis	I, II, III		
Transient transfections	I, III		
Western blotting	I, II, III		

and reference to energific descriptions

1 Cell culture methods and experimental treatments

1.1 Cell lines

C2C12 myoblasts (I), HeLa cervical cancer cells (I), HEK293 epithelial cells (III), VCaP prostate cancer cells (III) and vimentin positive- and negative subclones of SW13 adenocarcinoma cells (I) were cultured in DMEM (Sigma-Aldrich) supplemented with 10% fetal calf serum (FCS), 2 mM l-glutamine, 100 U/ml penicillin and 100 µg/ml streptomycin in a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO₂ at 37°C. Subconfluent C2C12 myoblasts were induced to differentiate in DMEM containing 1% FCS with supplements. Myotube formation was followed as differentiation progressed (myotube formation occurred typically from 48 hours). LNCaP prostate cancer cells (III), PC-3 prostate cancer cells (III) and 22Rv1 prostate cancer cells (III) were cultured in RPMI-1640 media (Sigma-Aldrich) including supplements. Sodium pyruvate (Sigma-Aldrich) was added to LNCaP culture media to a final concentration of 1 mM. RWPE-1 prostate epithelial cells were cultured in keratinocyte serum free media (Life Technologies) with 5 ng/ml human recombinant EGF and 50 µg/ml bovine pituitary extract. LNCaP and 22Rv1 hormone depletion (-androgen) was conducted by exchanging medium to 10% charcoal/dextran treated FCS (Thermo Fisher Scientific) in phenol red-free RPMI-1640 (Gibco) with supplements. Hormone stimulation (+androgen) included the addition of 1 nM synthetic androgen mibolerone in the previous conditions. Hormone starvation/stimulation lasted 16-24 hours.

1.2 Experimental treatments

To study how the expression and solubility state of nestin affects p35 stability (I), HeLa cells and vimentin positive and negative SW13 subclones that were previously transfected (p35, Cdk5 and Nest-640 or GFP for HeLa and Nest-640 and p35 for SW13) were treated with $10 \,\mu M$ calcium ionophore A23187 (Calbiochem). A23187-treatment induces highly selective Ca2+ influx to cells, causing activation of the calcium-dependent calpain proteases and p35 cleavage. After controlling the viability of the cells by microscopy, samples were collected for Western blot analysis after 0, 2, 4 and 6 hours treatment. To address whether inhibition of PKCζ affects nestin protein levels during differentiation (I), C2C12 myoblasts were induced to differentiate while treated with control peptide (Scr-P) or PKC ζ -inhibitor (pseudosubstrate; PS) (MilleGen Biotech) at 20 μ M concentrations (de Thonel et al., 2010). Samples were harvested for Western blotting after 48 and 72 hours, when prominent myotubes were apparent. Inhibition of Cdk5-activity with 10 μ M roscovitine was compared to vehicle (dimethyl sulfoxide; DMSO) controls of similar concentrations in both C2C12 myoblasts (I) and prostate cancer cells (III). Fresh roscovitine was supplemented daily in differentiating myoblasts, and every two days in prostate cancer cells.

Neuregulin treatment for hyperactivation of ErbB-receptor/Akt kinase signaling in prostate cancer cells (III) was conducted through the addition of recombinant human neuregulin-1 (100 ng/ml) to growth media overnight (16h), after which samples were collected for Western blot. An equal concentration of PBS was used as control. To study protein stability in the absence of Cdk5 (III), protein synthesis was stalled with the translation-inhibitor cycloheximide (CHX) at 10 μ g/ml. Ethanol was used as solvent to reconstitute CHX powder, and was used as control vehicle at comparable concentrations.

1.3 Transient transfections and plasmids

Before transfection through electroporation, HeLa and SW13 cells (I) were collected in Opti-MEM (Life Technologies). Cells were electroporated in the presence of DNA plasmids with a single electric pulse (220 V, 975 μ F) in electroporation cuvettes using Bio-Rad Gene Pulser. Cells were then diluted in DMEM growth media and incubated 24-48 hours before further experiments. C2C12 (I) and LNCaP (III) cells were transfected with overexpression plasmids using JetPEI transfection reagent (PolyPlus Transfection) according to manufacturer's protocol, and PC-3 cells with Lipofectamine LTX with PLUS reagent (Invitrogen) according to instructions of the manufacturer. Overexpression plasmids are listed in Table 5. Transient downregulation of Cdk5 (III) or nestin (I, unpublished) by siRNA in C2C12, LNCaP, PC-3, HEK293 or 22Rv1 cells was performed using Lipofectamine RNAiMAX transfection reagent (Invitrogen) according to instructions of the manufacturer in antibiotic-free cell culture media. siRNA oligos were purchased from Qiagen (species specific GeneSolution for nestin or Cdk5 downregulation, as well as All Stars scrambled negative control) and used at a final concentration of 50 nM. All cells were incubated a minimum of 24 hours after transfection before further experiments.

DNA construct	Origin	Reference
CA-Akt-GFP	(Peuhu et al., 2010)	III
DN-Cdk5 (D145N)	Kind gift from Professor Harish Pant	Ι
Nest-640-GFP	(Sahlgren et al., 2006)	Ι
p35	Addgene	I, III
pcDNA	Kind gift from Professor Harish Pant	I, III
pEGFP	Clontech	I, III
WT-Cdk5	Kind gift from Professor Harish Pant	III

Table 5 The origin of DNA constructs used in experiments.

1.4 Cell proliferation assays

In the 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-5-(3-carboxymethoxyphenyl)-2-(4-sulfophenyl)-2Htetrazolium (MTS) assay to assess proliferation (I), C2C12 cells were transfected with nestin or scrambled siRNA, re-suspended the next day and plated on 12-well plates in equal numbers. After 24 hours, a solution of MTS (Promega) and phenazine methosulfate (Sigma-Aldrich) was added to the cells, and the optical density was measured with Victor² plate reader (PerkinElmer) after one and two hour incubation. As MTS is converted to a colored formazan product in metabolically active cells, colorimetric analysis of cell cultures can be utilized to study the metabolic state of cells, which is higher in faster proliferating cells.

To study cell population size in prostate cancer cells with and without Cdk5 (III), LNCaP and PC-3 cells were plated in equal amounts, transfected with siRNA, and counted every 24 hours with the trypan blue exclusion-technique in a Bürker cell counting chamber. VCaP cells were transfected similarly and counted after 0 and 72 hours. For double transfection, LNCaP or PC-3 cells were first transfected with overexpression plasmids overnight, and Scr or Cdk5 siRNA the following night, after which the cells were incubated for 48 hours and finally counted. Western blotting lysates were collected from all experiments to verify transfection efficiency.

For live cell imaging (III), LNCaP and 22Rv1 cells were plated, transfected overnight and then continuously imaged with a phase contrast Cell-IQ imaging platform (CM Technologies) with CO₂ supply at 37°C. Cell confluency of at least three separate areas was quantified using Cell-IQ Analyser-software (CM Technologies) with constant settings, and results plotted as relative area growth.

2 Mouse strains and tissue preparation

Nestin^{-/-} and wild type mice (II) (Mohseni et al., 2011) were maintained in pathogen-free facilities at Central Animal Laboratory of Turku University in a 12:12h light-dark cycle and were provided with standard pelleted chow and tap water. Mice were sacrificed by CO₂ asphyxiation and cervical dislocation. Nestin knockout mice were in C57BL/6-background. Vimentin knockout and wild type mice (Colucci-Guyon et al., 1994) as well as FVB-n mice (I) were housed in a similar environment. For analysis of body composition (II), live animals were analyzed with EchoMRI body composition analyzer twice per measurement, of which the mean was calculated.

2.1 Primary muscle myoblast cultures

Primary mouse myoblasts from P3 FVB-n and vimentin knockout or wild type mice (I) were isolated from limb skeletal muscles. The muscle tissue was chopped and digested in 0.2% collagenase XI (Roche diagnostics) and 0.1% trypsin at 37°C for 60 minutes. Cells were filtered, centrifuged 1000 x g for 5 minutes and reconstituted in growth media (15% FCS, 2 mM l-glutamine, penicillin/streptomycin, 2.5 ng/ml fibroblast growth factor- β [Promega] in Hams-F10 [Sigma]) and plated on plastic. When cells reached 80% confluency, differentiation was induced by addition of 2% FCS/DMEM and supplements.

Primary mouse P3 myoblasts from nestin wild type and knockout mice (II) were isolated according to (Danoviz and Yablonka-Reuveni, 2012) from limb skeletal muscles with some modifications. Briefly, muscles were isolated, minced and digested in a solution of dispase II (StemCell Technologies) and collagenase A (Roche Diagnostics) for 60 minutes at 37°C. Myoblasts were released by serial trituration and filtration of the slurry. Cells were then centrifuged 1000 x g for 10 minutes and were reconstituted in growth media (20% fetal bovine serum, 10% horse serum, 1% chicken embryo extract in high glucose DMEM with standard supplements and 1 mM sodium pyruvate). Myoblasts were plated on gelatin-coated cell culture dishes or growth factor-reduced Matrigel-coated coverslips (BD Biosciences). Isolation of primary myoblasts from adult (2 month old) nestin^{-/-} and wild type mice (II) from tibialis anterior (TA), extensor digitorum longus (EDL) and gastrocnemius muscles was executed according to Danoviz and Yablonka-Reuveni (2012) following the protocol described above. Differentiation of primary myoblast cultures was induced at 80% confluency by serum depletion (1% horse serum in DMEM including supplements).

2.2 Myofiber isolation

To study satellite cell function, live myofiber isolation (II) was performed according to (Pasut et al., 2012). Concisely, intact EDL muscles were isolated from adult mice and digested in 0.2% collagenase I (Calbiochem) solution for 60 minutes at 37°C, or until loose myofibers appeared from the muscle structure. The muscles were rinsed and serially titrated until more than 100 live myofibers were released from the muscle. Single myofibers were plated on Matrigel-coated dishes for attached cultures, horse serum-coated plastic for floating cultures or fixed immediately in 3% paraformaldehyde (PFA), and immunolabeled following the protocol for fixed cells.

2.3 TA-muscle injury

For assessment of muscle regeneration of nestin knockout mice (II), the mice were anesthetized with vaporized isoflurane. The left TA muscle was injured by half of its thickness by a transverse incision with a razor blade through the skin in the TA midpoint. The other TA muscle served as an internal control. The skin was sutured and 0.1 mg/kg intraperitoneal buprenorfine (Temgesic; Reckitt Benckiser Healthcare) (0 and 8 h post-operatively) and 5 mg/kg subcutaneous carprofen (Rimadyl; Pfizer Animal Health) (0, 24 and 48 h post-operatively) were used as analgesics. Animals were allowed to move freely in their cages and were housed with littermates until the time of sacrifice, after which muscles were collected and immediately fixed in 3% PFA.

3 Immunoprecipitation and cell fractionation

After collecting equal numbers of cells for immunoprecipitation, pellets were lysed 30 minutes on ice in lysis buffer. The following lysis buffers were used; for immunoprecipitation of nestin (I): 50 mM Tris (pH 8.0), 150 mM NaCl, 1% Nonidet P-40, 0.5% deoxycholate, 0.05% SDS, 5 mM EDTA, 5 mM EGTA, Complete Protease Inhibitor Cocktail (Roche Diagnostics); for immunoprecipitation of p35 (I), AR (III), Cdk5 (III) or Akt (III): 50 mM Tris (pH 7.5), 150 mM NaCl, 1% Triton X-100, 10% glycerol, 5 mM EDTA, 5 mM EGTA including protease and phosphatase inhibitor cocktail. Samples were then centrifuged at 15000 × g for 10 min at 4°C. Supernatants were pre-cleared using protein A-Sepharose beads (Sigma-Aldrich) for at least 1 h at 4°C under rotation. 2 μ g of each antibody was then added accordingly and incubated for 1-2 hours, after which protein A-sepharose beads were included in the mixture for further incubation. Last, the samples were washed three times with lysis buffer, re-suspended in Laemmli lysis buffer (LLB) and boiled. Immunoprecipitates were analyzed with Western blotting.

In cell fractionation assays (III), LNCaP cells were collected 48 hours after transfection. Cells were lysed in 10 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.5), 1.5 mM MgCl₂, and 5 mM KCl with protease and phosphatase inhibitors for 30 minutes on ice, after which lysates were cleared with 720 × g centrifugation for 3 minutes. The cytosolic (supernatant) and membrane fractions (pellet) were collected after separation (20000 × g, 30 minutes), after which membrane fractions were washed once (20000 × g, 30 minutes). LLB was added to samples, and they were finally boiled and analyzed with Western blotting.

4 Western blotting

For Western blot analysis (I, II, III), cells were harvested in LLB and boiled. Lysates were resolved by sodium dodecylsulphate-polyacrylamid gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) and transferred to nitrocellulose (Protran, Sigma-Aldrich) (I) or polyvinyl difluoride (Millipore) (II,

III) membranes using the wet-tank transfer method (Hoefer). Membranes were blocked in 5% fat-free milk and incubated with primary and HRP-conjugated secondary antibodies (Table 6), and proteins were visualized using enhanced chemiluminiscence (GE Healthcare) on X-ray film (Fujifilm). Western blots in (I) were subjected to densitometric quantification using ImageJ software.

Antibody	Manufacturer (clone/number)	Application	Reference
Actin	Sigma-Aldrich (AC-40)	WB	I, III
Akt	Cell Signaling (#9272)	WB, ICC	III
p-Akt Ser473	Cell Signaling (#9271)	WB	III
AR	Santa Cruz (N-20)	WB, ICC	III
p-AR Ser308	Santa Cruz (sc-26406-R)	ICC	III
ß-catenin	BD Biosciences (14)	WB, ICC	III
Caspase-3	Cell Signaling (#9662)	WB	III
Cdk5	Thermo Scientific (DC34)	WB, IP	I, II, III
Cdk5	Santa Cruz (C-8)	WB, IP	II
Desmin	Santa Cruz (RD-301)	WB	Ι
Desmin	Cell signaling (#4024)	WB, ICC	II
GAPDH	Cell Signaling (#14C10)	WB	III
GFP	BD Clontech (JL-8)	WB, IP	Ι
p-GSK3β Ser9	Cell Signaling (#9336)	WB	III
Hsc70	StressGen (SPA-815)	WB	I, III
Ki-67	AbCam (15580)	WB	Ι
МНС	Santa Cruz (H-300)	WB	Ι
MyoD	Santa Cruz (C-20)	ICC	II
Myogenin	Santa Cruz (M-225)	WB	Ι
Nestin	BD Pharmingen (611659)	WB	I, II
Nestin	BD Pharmingen (556309), Rat 401	IP, ICC, IHC	I, II
Nestin	AbCam (10C2)	WB	unpublished
p-nestin Thr316	(Sahlgren et al., 2003)	WB	Ι
p21	Santa Cruz (C-19)	WB, ICC	I, III
p27	Santa Cruz (C-19)	WB	I, III
p35/p25	Santa Cruz (C-19)	WB, IP	I, II, III
PARP-1	Sigma-Aldrich (C-2-10)	WB	III
Pax7	DSHB	ICC	II
PCNA	Sigma-Aldrich (P-8825)	WB	Ι
S6	Cell Signaling (#2217)	WB	III
p-S6 Ser235/236	Cell Signaling (#4858)	WB	III
Troponin T	Sigma-Aldrich (JLT-12)	WB, ICC	I, II
Vimentin	BD Pharmingen (550513)	WB	I, II
Vimentin	Cell signaling (D21H3)	WB, ICC	II
Vimentin	Sigma-Aldrich (V9)	WB	Ι
Anti-rabbit HRP	Promega	WB secondary ab	I, II, III
Anti-rat HRP	GE Healthcare	WB secondary ab	I, II, III
Anti-mouse IgG HRP	GE Healthcare	WB secondary ab	I, II, III
Anti-mouse IgG1 HRP	Southern Biotechnology	WB secondary ab	I, II, III
Anti-mouse IgG2a HRP	Southern Biotechnology	WB secondary ab	I, II, III
Anti-mouse IgG2b HRP	Southern Biotechnology	WB secondary ab	I, II, III
Anti-mouse Alexa 488, 555, 633	Invitrogen	ICC secondary ab	I, II, III
Anti-rabbit Alexa 488, 546, 633	Invitrogen	ICC secondary ab	I, II, III

T.	hla	4 Lint	ofantihad	ion mood .	and their	anacific and	alication
	апле	O LISU	оганноой	ies useu a	and then	SDECITIC aDI	рисацон.

5 Immunocytochemistry and immunohistochemistry

For immunocytochemistry (ICC), cells were plated on coverslips and processed as described for each experiment (I, II, III). Briefly, cells were fixed with 3% PFA, rinsed in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) and permeabilized with 0.5% Triton X-100 for 5-10 minutes. Samples were then washed with PBS and blocked in 1-5% BSA for at least 60 minutes, after which samples were incubated in primary antibodies according to specific needs (I, II, III). After three washes,

samples were incubated in secondary species specific Alexa fluorescent probe-conjugated antibodies (Invitrogen), diluted 1:500-1:1000. All antibodies are presented in Table 6 and used as described in specific references (I, II, III). After four consecutive washes, cells were mounted in Vectashield with DAPI (Vector laboratories) (I), or ProLong Gold with DAPI (Life technologies) (II, III). Same protocol was used for immunolabeling of myofibers, where single myofibers were transferred from one solution to another. Confocal images were produced using Zeiss LSM 510 META and Zeiss LSM 780 laser scanning confocal microscopes at the Cell Imaging Core at Turku Centre for Biotechnology. Images were processed with ImageJ, Bioimage XD and Zen Software (Zeiss) software.

For immunohistochemistry (IHC) (II), muscle samples were collected and fixed in 3% PFA, dehydrated and embedded in paraffin. 2 µm thick sections were cut and collected on Superfrost plus slides (Thermo Scientific). Samples were stained with hematoxylin and eosin, or specific antibodies. IHC samples were imaged with Pannoramic 250 Slide Scanner (3DHISTECH) and analyzed with Case Viewer and Pannoramic Viewer software (3DHISTECH). The analysis of muscle fiber size and injured area was done manually using Pannoramic Viewer.

6 Flow cytometry

Transfected cells (III) were trypsinized, collected and re-suspended in propidium iodine buffer (40 mM Na-Citrate, 0.3% Triton X-100, 50 mg/ml propidium iodine [Sigma-Aldrich]) for 10 minutes at room temperature. Samples were then analyzed in duplicates with LSRII flow cytometer (BD Biosciences) with HTS platform at Turku Centre for Biotechnology. The fraction of nuclear fragmentation events (sub G1) was gated for as a measure of cell death.

7 Cdk5 kinase activity

Primary myoblasts from 3 months old male mice (II) were induced to differentiate for 24 h, after which the cell were collected in PBS, and the cell pellet was lysed for 30 minutes in lysis buffer on ice (50 mM Tris [pH 8.0], 150 mM NaCl, 1% Nonidet P-40, 0.5% deoxycholate, 0.05% SDS, 5 mM EDTA, 5 mM EGTA, Complete Protease Inhibitor Cocktail [Roche Diagnostics], PhosSTOP Phosphatase Inhibitor Cocktail [Roche Diagnostics]), and samples were centrifuged. Prostate cancer cells (III) were treated and lysed as above. The soluble fraction was pre-cleared with sepharose G beads (GE Healthcare) and incubated with Cdk5 antibody (DC34) for one hour. Protein G sepharose was added and samples were incubated under rotation for 2.5 hours. Samples were washed once with lysis buffer and two times with kinase reaction buffer (50 mM HEPES pH 7.2, 0.1 mM EDTA, 0.1 mM EGTA, and 5 mM MgCl₂). A mixture of ATP and 3 μ Ci radioactively labelled [γ -³²P] ATP was added to the beads to a final concentration of 100 μ M. Histone H1 (Sigma-Aldrich) or AR were utilized as Cdk5 substrates. Kinase reaction took place at 30°C for 30 minutes, and was discontinued by the addition of LLB and boiling. The samples were run on 12.5% SDS-PAGE and stained with Coomassie brilliant blue. After drying, the ³²P-labelled substrates were visualized on X-ray film.

8 In vitro phosphorylation and mass spectrometry

For analysis of endogenous AR PTMs (III), androgen stimulated VCaP and calyculin A-treated (50 nM, 10 minutes) AR overexpressing HEK293 cells (Rytinki et al., 2012) were collected and lysed, after which AR was immunoprecipitated as described above in the presence of protease and phosphatase inhibitors (Roche). Immunoprecipitates were resolved on SDS-PAGE, gels were stained with Coomassie brilliant blue, and the appropriate bands were excised from the

gels. In-gel digestion with trypsin, phosphopeptide enrichment by TiO₂ affinity chromatography and analysis by liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) were performed as described previously (Imanishi et al., 2007) with some modifications. For LC-MS/MS analysis of the digests with and without enrichment, an EASY-nLC II nanoflow liquid chromatograph coupled to LTQ Orbitrap Velos mass spectrometer and an EASY-nLC 1000 coupled to a Q Exactive mass spectrometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific) were used. Database search was performed against Swiss-Prot database (Homo sapiens) using Mascot 2.4.1 (Matrix Science) via Proteome Discoverer 1.4 (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Label-free quantification was performed using Progenesis LC-MS 4.1 (Nonlinear Dynamics).

For identification of in vitro Cdk5 phosphorylation sites on AR (III), AR was immunoprecipitated from VCaP cells as described before. Immunoprecipitates were then washed in kinase reaction buffer (10 mM HEPES [pH 7.2], 60 mM NaCl, 0.5 mM CaCl₂, 2.5 mM EGTA, and 2 mM MgCl₂). A mixture of ATP (Sigma-Aldrich) and 3 μ Ci [γ -³²P] ATP (final concentration 100 μ M) and purified active Cdk5/p25-complex (a kind gift from Professor Sin-Ichi Hisanaga) was added to the beads. The kinase reaction took place at 30 °C for 30 min, after which LLB was added, samples boiled, and samples treated as described above for identification of endogenous AR PTMs by mass spectrometry.

For identification of in vivo Cdk5 phosphorylation sites on the AR (III), Cdk5 was downregulated with siRNA in LNCaP cells and incubated for 48 hours. Cells were then collected in ice-cold PBS and subjected to AR immunoprecipitation in the presence of phosphatase inhibitors as described previously, run on 7.5% SDS-PAGE and analyzed by LC-MS/MS as described for VCaP and HEK293 cells.

9 Statistical analysis

GraphPad Prism 5.0 statistics software was used to analyze statistical significance where needed (I, II, III) and analysis method was chosen according to experimental requirements (indicated in each experiment). p<0.05 was considered significant and marked with *; p<0.01 marked with **; p<0.05 marked with ***. Results are presented as mean±standard error of the mean (S.E.M.) and $n \ge 3$.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

1 Cdk5-nestin crosstalk adjusts myogenic differentiation (I)

Previous reports clearly indicated that nestin plays an important role in the regulation of the apoptotic functions of Cdk5 (Sahlgren et al., 2006). In addition, both proteins were found to be expressed in muscle (Sahlgren et al., 2003). At the time of this work, two other laboratories manifested an interest towards nestin-mediated scaffolding of Cdk5 at NMJs (Mohseni et al., 2011; Yang et al., 2011). In contrast to the neuromuscular models, the specific objective of this project was to answer whether nestin regulates the activity of Cdk5 to drive the pace of myogenic differentiation, given that nestin is prominent in mesenchymal stem cells and expressed in differentiating myotubes. Although the studied tissue types are the same, there is clear distinction in NMJ development and muscle differentiation both functionally and temporally. To address the differentiation signaling aspect, differentiating C2C12 mouse myoblasts were primarily utilized as a model system.

1.1 Nestin fine-tunes the pace of muscle differentiation

Nestin is dynamically expressed during myoblast differentiation, starting from the proliferating myoblasts. To address the specific role of nestin during myogenic differentiation, nestin protein was downregulated using RNA interference (RNAi) in proliferating C2C12 myoblasts, after which differentiation was induced by serum withdrawal. We observed that the absence of nestin caused an increase in the expression levels of early cell cycle-exit markers (p21, p27) and the myogenic transcription factor myogenin, and the cells also showed enhanced expression of muscle structural proteins (troponin t, myosin heavy chain; MHC), which are strongly induced upon initiation of differentiation (I: Figure 1). On the contrary, myoblast proliferation was not altered by the downregulation of nestin (I: Figure 1). The assessment of differentiation was executed both by Western blotting, as well as counting of MHC-positive differentiating C2C12 cells. Although efficient transfection was difficult to obtain in primary cells, nestin downregulation also promoted differentiation of freshly isolated myoblasts (I: Figure 3). While nestin downregulation seemed to enhance the differentiation pace, the reverse could be observed when nestin was overexpressed: the expression of differentiation markers was clearly suppressed after Nest-640 transfection compared to GFP control (I: Figure 2). As the true effect of nestin on differentiation may have been partly masked by the weak transfection efficiency of Nest-640 in the heterogeneous Western blot lysates, differentiating cells were quantified by immunolabeling of the differentiation markers MHC and troponin-t. The expression of the GFP-tagged Nest-640 was found to strongly delay (or nearly abolish) differentiation compared to GFP controls, when GFP/MHC and GFP/troponin t double positive cells were counted (I: Figure 2). Thus, when nestin is found in excess amounts in proliferating myoblasts, the process of differentiation is severely hampered.

Together these results suggest that nestin is not a passive bystander in muscle precursors, but that it is rather required for the fine adjustment of initiation of the differentiation process. Due to its expression in proliferative cells, nestin is often expected to affect cell division. Instead, we found that nestin acts on the cell cycle of myoblasts only after induction of differentiation, as its depletion causes premature differentiation after a stimulus, and as nestin siRNA did not affect myoblast proliferation. By standing at the gates of differentiation, nestin seems to regulate the earliest events of differentiation, the cell cycle exit, which is crucial for commitment of differentiation. The precocious cell cycle exit, as seen by increased cell cycle inhibitor expression in nestin siRNA transfected myoblasts, also results in earlier expression of muscle structural proteins as the differentiation process as a whole is accelerated. These experiments demonstrated for the first time an unexpected role for nestin in cell differentiation, rather than proliferation. As nestin is widely and specifically expressed in mesenchymal stem cells in numerous tissues (Table 3), its role in initiation of differentiation of other cell types would be highly interesting to assess. Although the expression pattern of nestin during muscle differentiation is unique, suggesting it may play a role at several levels in this particular system, it is possible that the presence and balance of nestin in mesenchymal stem cells may determine differentiation of other cell lineages as well.

1.2 The importance of the nestin scaffold in regulation of p35 turnover in myoblasts

Cdk5 activity is known to be required for muscle cell differentiation (Lazaro et al., 1997). To establish a link between the observed nestin-associated effects on differentiation and Cdk5, the activity of Cdk5 was constrained by inhibition with roscovitine, as well as with the expression of DN-Cdk5, alongside nestin downregulation with specific siRNA. While nestin knockdown cultures differentiated at a faster pace than Scr control cells according to expectations, the abrogation of Cdk5 activity with either method effectively counteracted the hastening effect of nestin ablation (I: Figure 5), suggesting that the proteins do in fact act in the same signaling pathway. Thus, similarly to that which Sahlgren and colleagues (2006) showed to occur in dying neuronal progenitor cells, the depletion of nestin seemed to cause an increase in Cdk5 activity, which in the muscle context would translate into a faster differentiation pace. To provide verification for this hypothesis, the protein levels of Cdk5 activators were analyzed in nestinmodulated myoblasts. Supportive to our hypothesis, downregulation of nestin did increase the cleavage of p35 to the more stable p25 (I: Figure 6), a process known from previous reports to be required for C2C12 differentiation and generation of adequate Cdk5 activity (de Thonel et al., 2010). Overexpression of Nest-640 did in turn decrease p25 generation at the whole population level, again a process presumably masked by the low transfection efficacy (I: Figure 6). At the single cell level, the hampered p25 generation would be expected to have strong inhibitory effects on the initiation of the differentiation program. Unfortunately, the absence of suitable tools, such as antibodies that would allow the assessment of p35 kinetics through microscopy at the single cell level, debilitates the detailed examination of the exact signaling events. Our results, together with previously published data did, however, support that nestin regulates p35/p25 turnover in differentiating myoblasts, and consequently Cdk5 activation at the right time, and in the correct place within the cell.

Nestin is a minor IFP in muscle in terms of protein abundance and requires a polymerization partner to form filaments. It is known from before that nestin exists in both soluble and filamentous pools, the stoichiometry of which changes dynamically during myoblast differentiation due to phosphorylation (Sahlgren et al., 2003). Thus, we asked ourselves whether the solubilization of nestin has actual consequences for p35 signaling. To address this issue, we utilized vimentin positive (v+) and negative (v-) subclones of SW13 adenocarcinoma cells. As the SW13 cells do not express other IFPs that would permit nestin filament formation, Nest-640 remains completely soluble in v- cells, while it incorporates at least partially into normal filaments in v+ cells. Interestingly, co-transfection of Nest-640 and p35, and the following p35 co-immunoprecipitation from both v+ and v- cell lines, demonstrated that soluble nestin (in v- cells) enhances Cdk5/p35 complex formation (I: Figure 6). The association of Cdk5 and p35 driven by soluble nestin also has a stabilizing effect on p35 after calpain activation with A23187 (I: Figure 6), suggesting that when Nest-640 is transfected into myoblasts (or HeLa cells [I: Figure 6]), p35 is stabilized by the soluble Nest-640 particles. This nestin-mediated sequestration of p35 is likely to perturb the initiation of myoblast differentiation. When p35

cannot be cleaved to p25, differentiation does not occur. Similarly, Cdk5/p35 complex formation has been reported to decrease p25 generation in neurons (Kamei et al., 2007). Whether the effect of nestin occurs at the level of Cdk5 activation or re-localization (both of which are affected by p25 generation [Patrick et al., 1998, Asada et al., 2008]) cannot be answered at this moment, as not even the myogenic substrates of the kinase are understood.

These results did highlight the important effect of nestin solubility on Cdk5 activity; a feature of IFs often overlooked. The PTMs of IFs not only affect the localization of the proteins, but usually promote filament disassembly (Yamaguchi et al., 2005). We found that in the case of nestin, its solubilization has a function in Cdk5-mediated scaffolding, and it seems to act to redirect kinase activity or suppress hyperactivation of the kinase to prevent unwanted activities that may be harmful for the differentiation process. Thus, when nestin is targeted with siRNA in myoblasts, also the soluble pool of nestin is depleted, leading to uncontrolled cleavage of p25 and stimulation of differentiation. Similar features of other IFPs have been described; not only in relation to phosphorylation, which has been under intense investigation, but also other factors regulate the solubility and signaling properties of IFs. For example, the regulation of lamin solubility and its displacement to the nucleoplasm by LAP2 α is a decisive factor in myoblast cell cycle exit (Gotic et al., 2010). Recently there has been a great interest to understand how substrate stiffness regulates (at least partly through phosphorylation) the assembly of both cytoplasmic and nuclear IFs (Murray et al., 2014; Swift et al., 2013) with prominent consequences on cell fate. Thus, the solubility of IFPs has become a widespread interest in the research community.

Another intriguing detail is the nature of the filament structures that nestin forms. As described in the review of literature, soluble nestin-vimentin differentially regulates IDE activity (Chou et al., 2009), not only stressing the importance of nestin solubility in regulation of IDE enzymatic activity, but also underscoring the need of an appropriate polymerization partner even in a non-filamentous state. On the other hand, also vimentin expression and turnover is regulated by nestin, at least under particular circumstances (Chou et al., 2003; Eliasson et al., 1999). With the help of primary myoblasts isolated from vimentin null mice, we found that the ablation of vimentin did cause an increase in the differentiation pace, presumably through alteration of nestin dynamics during differentiation (I: Figure 4). Although nestin protein levels were not greatly decreased in vimentin^{-/-} myoblasts, the filament properties of nestin could be dramatically different, even if nestin looks similar in WT and vimentin^{-/-} myoblasts under the microscope, at least at later stages of differentiation when desmin expression has been induced (Figure 10). Whether nestin forms filaments with vimentin or desmin, is probably a matter of



Figure 10 Nestin in proliferating and differentiating primary vimentin^{-/-} myoblasts. Initially, when proliferating vimentin null myoblasts have low expression levels of desmin, the nestin cytoskeleton forms truncated filaments (left panel). In differentiated vimentin knockout myotubes, where desmin levels are generally high (48 h), the nestin cytoskeleton forms long filaments that follow the shape of the myotubes, similar to vimentin WT myotubes (not shown).

temporal regulation, as vimentin is substituted by desmin during differentiation. Preferentiality of nestin polymerization partners in muscle has not been addressed. In general, the knockout of desmin has little effect on the appearance of nestin (Carlsson et al., 1999), highlighting the dynamic compensation of individual IFs by other family members.

In terms of cytoskeletal regulation of Cdk5, it is

tempting to speculate that other IF substrates (such as lamins or neurofilaments) may constitute a similar scaffold for the kinase that impact cell fate determination. Similarly to IFs, also actin seems to form a regulatory scaffold for Cdk5/p39; if actin polymerization is disturbed by cytochalasin D treatment, p39 is dramatically reorganized and Cdk5 activity increased (Humbert et al., 2000). Although the mechanism is very different, other cytoskeletal elements play a crucial role in correct Cdk5 regulation, especially in neurons, but perhaps also in other model systems.

1.3 Cdk5 talks back: self-regulation through nestin

Intriguingly, a further level of complexity of the regulatory function of the nestin scaffold system is added by Cdk5 itself. It is known that the Cdk5-mediated phosphorylation of nestin promotes solubilization of the filament structure (Sahlgren et al., 2003; Sahlgren et al., 2006). If Cdk5 activity is inhibited in differentiating myoblasts, phosphorylated nestin (p-Thr316) is diminished together with the soluble nestin pool (Sahlgren et al., 2003). As soluble nestin attracts Cdk5/p35 complex formation to protect p35 from calpain-induced deregulation, it seems that Cdk5 can modify its own activation through acting on the solubility state of nestin. This hypothesis is difficult to study in differentiating myoblasts due to the presence of many simultaneous IFPs that change dynamically during the process, all of them affecting the nestin cytoskeleton in their own way. It is however important to note, that the levels of soluble and phosphorylated nestin are elevated during differentiation (Sahlgren et al., 2003), suggesting that restriction of Cdk5 activity in an auto-regulatory feedback-loop might be required at later stages of differentiation. During myotube formation, the nestin cytoskeleton is actively remodelled, also including an increase in nestin protein levels before it is abolished completely from mature muscle. Interestingly, if Cdk5 activity is inhibited directly (with roscovitine or DN-Cdk5), or indirectly through PKC ζ (with PS peptide inhibitor), nestin levels are held low, as differentiation is not initiated at all, and the characteristic up-regulation of nestin protein levels during differentiation does not occur (I: Figure 7). It is possible, that the up-regulation of nestin during differentiation (which is initiated by Cdk5 itself) is required for temporally appropriate regulation of Cdk5 activity, and the nestin cytoskeleton may serve different purposes during different time points of the differentiation process.

Thus, the nestin-mediated scaffolding of Cdk5 during muscle differentiation closely resembles its cytoprotective function during neuronal apoptosis (Sahlgren et al., 2006): when nestin is depleted, p35 is uncontrollably processed to p25, leading to hyperactivation of Cdk5 with the



Figure 11 Cdk5-nestin crosstalk determines muscle differentiation, NMJ clustering and neuronal apoptosis. Cdk5 regulates the turnover of its own scaffold through phosphorylation, which consequently enhances Cdk5/p35 complexing, at the expense of p25 generation during differentiation and apoptosis. At the NMJ, only p35 has been found to be involved in Cdk5 activation. Depending on the model system, the promotion of Cdk5/p35 has different effects on the cellular outcome.

outcome of increased cell death or increased myogenic differentiation (Figure 11). In the NMJ system, the role of nestin in regulation of Cdk5 is slightly different due to intrinsic distinctions between the systems. For example, p25 is not known to have a function at the NMJs. Whereas nestin siRNA increases p25 cleavage in differentiating myoblasts (a process associated with Cdk5 hyperactivation), nestin depletion (or mutation of the Cdk5-phosphosite) decreases both membrane bound and total Cdk5 activity at NMJs (Yang et al., 2011), which eventually prevents NMJ dispersion. In other words, (phosphorylated) nestin is first required for activation of Cdk5/p35 at NMJs. Activated Cdk5 phosphorylates and increases soluble nestin at NMJs (Yang et al., 2011), leading to further Cdk5/p35-complex formation at the membrane. Thus, in both models soluble nestin causes Cdk5/p35 stabilization. At NMJs, soluble nestin/Cdk5/p35 is required for normal NMJ development, and depletion of nestin would disturb Cdk5 activation. On the other hand, we know that calpain-mediated p25 generation is required for muscle differentiation (de Thonel et al., 2010). When (hypothetically soluble) nestin is depleted from differentiating myoblasts, p35 is uncontrollably cleaved by calpains, causing an increase in Cdk5/p25 generation, which promotes differentiation. When nestin is overexpressed using the Nest-640 construct, the balance of nestin filaments is severely hampered. A noticeable fraction of the overexpressed Nest-640 remains soluble (I: Supplementary figure 2), and it can be hypothesized, that this particular fraction severely interferes with proper Cdk5 activator turnover. However, further experiments using phosphodeficient nestin-mutants would be a good addition to pinpoint the exact role of Cdk5-mediated phosphorylation in its auto-regulation during muscle differentiation. Thus, the activity of Cdk5 is dynamically regulated by the kinase itself, through nestin, in a complex auto-regulatory feedback loop.

This work demonstrated for the first time the involvement of nestin in regulation of a differentiation process. Through intricate means, nestin and Cdk5 were found to regulate each other in a highly balanced system, which is prone to signaling inputs in a dynamic environment. Similar IFP-kinase interactions have been described in various contexts, highlighting that the IFPs, their interactions as well as their often unnoticed assembly state, are important fine-tuners of signaling processes that determine cellular fate. Through its actions on Cdk5 and its activators, nestin negatively controls the cell cycle exit (or perhaps promotes a less differentiated state) after a permissive differentiation stimulus has been granted. Besides Cdk5, it is equally plausible that the functions nestin reach to yet unidentified proteins. Also, whether nestin acts at the doorways of differentiation in other cellular systems, needs to be addressed in future experiments.

2 Nestin regulates skeletal muscle homeostasis and regeneration in vivo (II)

While the previous study focused on the molecular signaling functions of the nestin scaffold with regards to Cdk5 regulation mainly in C2C12 myoblasts, the aim of the following study was to address how the genetic knockout of the nestin gene affects skeletal muscle, and therefore, body homeostasis. Whereas the nestin deficient mouse was described to have a NMJ organization defect, the authors did not observe other prevalent phenotypes or dysfunctions (Mohseni et al., 2011). In addition, skeletal muscle as such was described as having no phenotype under normal conditions. As many IFP knockout models appear normal until they are challenged, our main aim was to study skeletal muscle under stress in mice lacking nestin.

2.1 Gender and age-dependent variability in myoblast p35 expression

Data from myoblasts (I) indicated that the transient downregulation of nestin in C2C12 myoblasts increased the processing of p35 to p25 upon serum withdrawal, thereby accelerating the progress of differentiation. Therefore, primary myoblast cultures were initially isolated from WT and nestin deficient mice, and differentiated in low-serum media to examine their behavior in relation to previous results. Contrary to our expectations, there was no significant change in expression of differentiation markers between WT and nestin null myoblasts (II: Figure 1), and myoblasts from both genotypes seemed to form myotubes well in culture. Hence, differentiation seemed to occur regardless of the nestin status of the cells. We could not detect

any differences in the organization or protein levels of other major IFPs in nestin null myoblasts that would suggest direct compensation of the lack of nestin (II: Figure 1). Interestingly, a similar null phenotype of differentiating myoblasts has been observed with other IFP knockout model systems: when for example desmin, the major IFP in muscle, is genetically targeted, desmin^{-/-} myoblasts seem to form myotubes at comparable rates to their wildtype counterparts (Li et al., 1997; Milner et al., 1996). On the contrary, when desmin is transiently downregulated in C2C12 cells, a clear defect in myoblast differentiation is discerned already at early stages (Li et al., 1994), pointing out that there may be some unidentified acquired compensatory mechanism in the desmin null mice that allow cell functioning in a situation that would otherwise result in excruciating chaos. Thus, it is feasible that a comparable situation occurs in nestin knockout myoblasts, explaining the difference of transient nestin downregulation compared to genetic targeting. It should also be taken into consideration that there may be molecular differences in the immortalized C2C12 cells compared to primary myoblasts that may affect the expected outcome. C2C12 cells do, however, have a similar setup and dynamics of the major IFPs, as well as Cdk5-related proteins, making them a convenient model system to study the function of nestin.

Although the rate of differentiation was similar in all studied myoblast cultures, which were derived from mice of different age and gender, p35 protein levels were found slightly elevated in nestin knockout myoblasts from young (P3) males, and the difference was even more striking in adult (2 month old) male-derived myoblast cultures (Figure 12). Even though p35 levels were highly upregulated in male nestin null myoblasts, p25 was never found to be altered. As p25content is the key switch to allow Cdk5 activation and differentiation (de Thonel et al., 2010), it is perhaps not completely surprising that no change in differentiation could be distinguished either. Unexpectedly, female myoblasts never showed genotype-derived changes in p35 protein levels (Figure 12). The mechanism of p35 accumulation in nestin null myoblasts is not clear, but is not likely to be a direct consequence of nestin ablation, the effect being both gender- and age specific. To more directly analyze the impact of increased p35 on Cdk5 activity in nestin^{-/-} myoblasts, Cdk5 was immunoprecipitated from differentiating myoblasts from adult male mice, and subjected to kinase activity measurements. As a result of increased p35 expression, total Cdk5 kinase activity towards histone was found to be dramatically increased in nestin null myoblasts after 24 hours of differentiation (II: Figure 1), a relatively early time point of differentiation when Cdk5 activity is known to increase strongly.

It can only be speculated at this time that the highly active Cdk5 in nestin knockout myoblasts is sequestered by p35 mainly to the membrane and cytoplasm. As nestin null myoblasts showed no increased p25 generation during any time points after induction of differentiation, the overly active kinase would not perform its differentiation-related functions any differently from the wildtype situation, and hence, no change in the differentiation pace could be distinguished. Regardless of the mechanism utilized to target nestin (by siRNA in I, or genetically in II), which seem to differently affect p35 turnover, the absence of the nestin scaffold in myogenic tissue causes deregulation of Cdk5 activity in both cases. To fully understand the myogenic signaling of Cdk5, it would be essential to analyze the substrates of the kinase in muscle, and to understand completely the distinction in substrate specificity between p35 and p25, i.e. why p25 generation is essential in the first place. After all, the kinase is likely to have differentiationrelated substrates, which do not relate to its functions at the NMJ at all, as evidence supports that Cdk5 abrogation has direct effects on the expression of early myogenic transcription factors and somitogenesis (Philpott et al., 1997). Furthermore, it would be highly interesting to study more specifically Cdk5 activity levels in other tissues in the nestin null mice. Such dramatic changes in kinase activity, as observed in the myoblasts, could be detrimental under particular circumstances, such as apoptosis or during tissue-specific stress (e.g. in kidneys), or

alternatively, in Cdk5-related disease contexts (e.g. diabetes or cancer). As p35 levels did not reveal great variation in muscle lysates, it is probable that a specific stimulus (such as myoblast activation in this case, or a stress situation in other organs) may be required to distinguish altered Cdk5 signaling and related phenotypes in the nestin null mouse.



Figure 12 Expression of p35 in proliferating and differentiating primary nestin^{-/-} **myoblasts.** Myoblast cultures were isolated from mice of different age and gender and induced to differentiate, after which samples were analyzed for p35 expression using Western blotting. p35 levels did not differ greatly in male (A) or female (B) pup (P3) myoblast cultures, except slight elevations of p35 in knockout (KO) male pups compared to wildtype (WT). p25 is not visible due to short exposure of the film. On the contrary, nestin null male adult myoblasts showed great up-regulation of p35 in all time points analyzed when compared to WT samples (C), whereas this trend was never observed in females (D). p25 generation can be faintly detected at 24 hours in both males and females, but never showed genotype-dependent differences. The p35 double band likely represents differentially modified PTM isoforms.

2.2 Nestin^{-/-} mice have less lean mass and show signs of spontaneous muscle regeneration

Regardless of the unexpected myoblast data, we wanted to make a comprehensive analysis of nestin^{-/-} mice with emphasis on skeletal muscle, and a series of follow-up experiments were designed to cover the remaining questions regarding muscle health and stem cell function. First, the weight of male mice was measured from the age of 1 month onwards. During the first time point (age 4 weeks), the nestin-^{*i*}- mice were indistinguishable from the control animals, but from the time they reached sexual maturity (circa 8 weeks onwards), nestin deficient mice started to appear smaller in terms of total body weight. At the age of 3 months, the weight difference was small, but recurring (less than one gram, statistically significant) (II: Figure 2). At an old age (>15 months) nestin^{-/-} male mice weighed significantly less (divergence more than 7 grams by average) (II: Supplementary figure 1), including some remarkably lean individuals. To understand the basis of the observed differences, mice of different age and gender were examined with EchoMRI body composition analyzer for lean and fat mass distribution. While the mean fat mass was not significantly different, nestin-/- male mice did show significant reductions in lean mass at the age of 3 months and in the age group >15 months (II: Figure 2, Supplementary figure 1). The body weight and body composition analysis revealed a similar trend for 12 week old females (II: Supplementary figure 1), demonstrating the genderindependent nature of the lean nestin-/- phenotype. As an interesting note, the lesser body weight of nestin-/- mice seems to stem nearly directly from the reduced amount of lean mass, at least when genotypic mean values are compared.

To further dissect the cause of the lean mass phenotype, individual skeletal muscles from the back limbs of mature male mice were weighed, some of which were found to be significantly lighter in weight. Both the TA (mainly a fast twitch muscle) and EDL (fast twitch) muscles

weighed significantly less in nestin-^{*i*-} mice, whereas the slow soleus showed no marked weight alterations between genotypes (II: Figure 3). TA and soleus are typical weight bearing muscles. As the size of individual myofibers was similar in WT and nestin null mice (II: Figure 3), the myofibers do seem to mature normally, and hence, a defect maturation is not a likely explanation for the difference in muscle weight. Furthermore, the amount of Pax7+ satellite cells in nestin knockout muscle was comparable to the WT (II: Figure 1), suggesting that the lean muscles of mice lacking nestin are not a consequence of satellite cell deficiency either. When examining the detailed histology of nestin null TA, EDL and soleus muscles, we were greatly surprised to find an increased incidence of myofibers containing centrally located nuclei in TA and soleus muscles (II: Figure 4), indicating that there is a spontaneous degeneration/regeneration cycle in nestin deficient muscle. A mild regenerative phenotype was not observed by Mohseni and co-authors (2011), possibly due to the fact that the muscle phenotype varies with muscle types, and can therefore be easily missed. Furthermore, it was obvious that the severity of the muscle regeneration/degeneration phenotype varied between individuals, as it was found to be more severe in certain animals, and more evident in particular muscles. We could not detect other signs of severe muscle malfunction, such as intramuscular fat accumulation or spontaneous fibrosis, which can be typically found in more difficult muscle conditions (II: Figure 4).

Thus, in contrast to what was previously reported, we found that nestin^{-/-} mice do show a reduction in muscle mass and have a mild spontaneous regenerative skeletal muscle phenotype. The cause of the mild regenerative phenotype observed in nestin null mice remains to be identified, but seems to stem from the properties of the mature myofibers. As we could not observe differences in satellite cell numbers, and as the differentiation as measured by myoblast commitment and in 2D-cultures was apparently normal, the regeneration does not seem to stem from aberrant myoblast behavior (II: Figure 1). Given that nestin null muscle develops normally (Mohseni et al., 2011), and that any differences in body weight seems to come with age (and does not originate from differences in myofiber size per se), it seems as myofibers indeed develop and mature normally. Based on these observations, it seems particularly clear that the observed lean muscles and the increased number of regenerating myofibers in nestin knockout mice derive from myofiber-intrinsic defects that are likely to accumulate during minor muscle stress, such as exercise. As innervation of muscle is a major pathway that determines muscle growth, it is possible that the defective NMJs of nestin knockout mice (Mohseni et al., 2011) may contribute to the observed phenotype. On the other hand, the regenerating fibers were often dispersed evenly throughout the muscle, suggesting that the phenotype is not caused by impaired neuronal input. As nestin is found in large quantities at myotendinous junctions as well, it is possible that it may play a role in the mechanosensing properties of the muscle, which is only revealed when the muscle is under stress. Therefore, it is possible that muscle lacking nestin is more fragile to tissue stress, which is the case of many other IFPs. However, these questions need to be addressed more carefully with further experimental data.

2.3 Muscle healing after injury is delayed in nestin-/- mice

Finally, to study the functionality of nestin deficient muscle during ultimate stress, a muscle injury model was established. In brief, muscle injury was induced under anesthesia by a transverse cut in the TA muscle and the mice were allowed to recover freely motile in their cages until the time of sacrifice. Based on immunohistochemical staining of nestin during different time points of recovery after injury, nestin was first upregulated in proliferating myoblasts in the site of injury after 2-3 days. Later, when regenerating myofibers started to dominate the wound area (after one week), nestin was detectable in the newly forming

myotubes, and could be detected until day 28 after injury (II: Figure 5). Given the long-lasting expression of nestin in our model system, day 28 was finally selected as the end-point to study whether there is a difference in muscle healing between genotypes. The degree of regenerating muscle was determined by the area occupied by regenerating myofibers (identified by centrally located myonuclei) compared to the total muscle area, and was found to be greatly increased in nestin null muscle, suggesting that nestin is required for proper muscle healing (II: Figure 5). The muscle scar area was histologically indistinguishable between genotypes, suggesting that also the impaired regeneration stems from a myofiber-intrinsic defect (II: Figure 5), and is likely to originate from same causes as the spontaneous regeneration. We could not observe histological changes in the early time points in regenerating muscle between WT and nestin null muscle (Figure 13), which suggests that myofiber degeneration and differentiation occurs at similar times in both genotypes.



Figure 13 Early stages of muscle regeneration in WT and nestin null muscle. The TA muscle of WT and nestin null (KO) muscle was subjected to a cut injury, and the injury was allowed to heal for indicated time points. Samples were collected for H&E staining. Both genotypes showed similar pattern of early regeneration at a histological level, i.e. death and degeneration of injured myofibers, which appear light and fragmented under the microscope (day 2), immune cell infiltration (particularly evident at day 3), and finally, myotube formation through myoblast fusion (day 7). Large images are 2 x 2 mm, and inserts 0.5 x 0.5 mm in size.

Together these results highlighted that nestin is required for maintenance of normal muscle homeostasis, and that its absence delays muscle healing. Although the phenotype is not severe, the results do indicate that nestin is an IFP that will affect muscle condition and health. The genetic ablation of other IFPs has revealed their functions in many aspects of muscle biology. Desmin seems to be a major IFP required for myoblast commitment, but it is also an active organizer of muscle architecture (Agbulut et al., 2001; Li et al., 1994; Li et al., 1997; Milner et al., 1996). Recent studies of two separate synemin knockout mouse models revealed that this IFP is involved in maintenance of membrane integrity and muscle structure (Garcia-Pelagio et al., 2015; Zhenlin et al., 2014). Also keratin 19 seems to act as a structural component of muscle (Stone et al., 2007). IFs are also essential parts of the cell adhesion structures that maintain tissue integrity during stress; a fundamental function of IFs which will inevitably affect tissue stress tolerance. Therefore, it seems as the IFs are especially important for skeletal muscle integrity, probably by acting as organizing building blocks of this highly stress-prone organ, at

least partly through their scaffolding functions exerted towards signaling proteins. In this sense, the functions of nestin that have portrayed it as a signaling scaffold for Cdk5 during differentiation, as well as its role in maintaining mature and regenerating muscle (perhaps through Cdk5-dependent mechanisms as well), suit well in the proposed functions of other IFs in skeletal muscle. However, all IFPs seem to have highly specialized and unique functions, as demonstrated by the various muscle phenotypes of IFP knockout animals.

3 Cdk5 controls prostate cancer cell proliferation through Akt and AR (III)

Although prostate cancer genomics is complicated by the heterogeneity of the tumors, it can be roughly stated that some of the most common genetic lesions in aggressive prostate cancer are found in *AR*, *TP53*, *PTEN*, and *SPOP* (a subunit of a E3 ubiquitin ligase), and *RB1*, but also include gene fusions between *TMPRSS2* and the Ets family of transcription factors (e.g. TMRPSS2-ERG fusion products) (Barbieri et al., 2012; Taylor et al., 2010). Most therapeutic approaches against prostate cancer are targeted towards the AR, but the tolerance against these drugs in CRPC calls for the need of novel strategies. There is, therefore, a great need to understand prostate cancer development and progression in terms of gene alterations and signaling pathways that contribute to cellular oncogenic behavior.

3.1 Nestin - a Cdk5 scaffold in prostate cancer?

Prior to initiation of this work, there were indications pointing towards seemingly separate roles for both Cdk5 and nestin in prostate cancer cell motility (Kleeberger et al., 2007; Strock et al., 2006), but only limited information existed on the role of the proteins in prostate cancer proliferation. Since then, several publications have added to the knowledge of both Cdk5 and nestin in cancer, however leaving often considerable gaps regarding their specific signaling functions. Interestingly, both nestin (Reimer et al., 2009) and Cdk5 (Kino et al., 2007; Kino et al., 2010) have been separately implicated in regulation of members of the steroid hormone receptor-family: the Cdk5-mediated N-terminal phosphorylation of GR (Ser203, Ser211) was associated with suppression of receptor activation through altered GR/co-activator interactions (Kino et al., 2007). Thus, Cdk5 was found to affect the specificity of GR targets, thereby finetuning its signaling capacity. Phosphorylation of GR Ser203 and Ser266, detected with phospho-specific antibodies, was also increased in vimentin-positive subclones of glioma cells (where nestin remains filamentous) compared to subclones lacking vimentin (soluble nestin) (Reimer et al., 2009). As manipulation of the vimentin cytoskeleton has direct consequences on nestin solubility and stability, the Cdk5-related scaffolding properties of nestin (if relevant) would be altered in this model system. Given the strong link between nestin and Cdk5 in muscle and neuronal models (Sahlgren et al., 2003; Sahlgren et al., 2006), it is inviting to raise the question whether the nestin-dependent GR regulation could involve a Cdk5-dependent mechanism. With this hypothesis in mind, I speculated further whether a similar connection could exist in prostate cancer, where the steroid hormone receptor AR is one of the key drivers of prostate carcinogenesis. Steroid hormone receptor PTMs are known to play a crucial role in receptor transactivation, localization, stabilization and target gene selection. Thus, the first purpose of this project was to assess whether Cdk5 could regulate AR together with (or independently of) nestin in prostate cancer cells.

The possible role of nestin as a Cdk5 scaffold in prostate cancer is an obvious question with regards to the theme of this thesis. However, a few key observations suggest that nestinmediated scaffolding of Cdk5 is not unconditionally crucial for Cdk5 functions in prostate cancer. Firstly, nestin is not very abundantly expressed in prostate cancer cells and is found prominently in filamentous organization only in PC-3 cells, and at lesser extent in DU-145 prostate cancer cells (Kleeberger et al., 2007). 22Rv1 prostate cancer cells do express nestin, but its organization is atypical and appears dotted under the microscope. In patient samples, nestin was found to be expressed in the cancer cells of high grade metastatic lesions as well as the primary tumors themselves (Kleeberger et al., 2007), and the authors argued that nestin expression correlates with advanced disease. On the contrary, all tumor cells in the prostate cancer samples in the Human Protein Atlas-web resource (Uhlén et al., 2005) appear nestin negative after analysis with four different antibodies, whereas the tumor stroma showed nestin immunoreactivity (www.proteinatlas.org; accessed 12.5.2015). Therefore, nestin expression in prostate tumor cells in situ remains unclear. Kleeberger and co-authors (2007) also reported that nestin mRNA is faintly induced by androgen deprivation in LNCaP prostate cancer cells, whereas long term androgen starvation failed to induce nestin at protein levels in our hands (J. Lindqvist, J. Eriksson, unpublished data). As nestin is not found in all cell lines (i.e. LNCaP) where Cdk5 in turn is found, the proteins are likely to be regulated by separate means. In addition, Cdk5 does not seem to affect nestin protein levels or organization significantly in PC-3 cells, nor has an interaction been observed between the two proteins (J. Lindqvist, J. Eriksson, unpublished data). Therefore, the nestin scaffold does not seem to be essential for Cdk5 functions in prostate cancer cells.

3.2 Cdk5 phosphorylates AR and guides its target gene specificity

Regardless of the less convincing nestin-Cdk5 connection in prostate cancer, experiments focusing solely on Cdk5 were pursued, as Cdk5 has several phosphorylation motifs on AR, including serines 81, 94, 256, 308, 424 and 524 in the AR N-terminal domain, and Ser650 in the ligand-binding domain (Chen et al., 2006). Between the N-terminal domain and ligand binding domain lays the AR DNA-binding domain, essential for AR-mediated transcriptional regulation. The AR is activated in a multistep process through ligand binding (i.e. by testosterone, 5α -dihydrotestosterone or similar compounds), which causes dimerization and nuclear translocation of the receptor complex. In the nucleus, AR binds to androgen response elements in the DNA, thereby modulating transcription of its target genes. Additionally, AR activation is regulated by molecular interactions of co-factors that bind to the activation function 1-domain (spanning amino acids 101-370 in the N-terminal domain). Thus, the AR N-terminal domain is crucial for maximal AR activity, and so it eventually fine-tunes the androgen response (reviewed by Helsen and Claessens, 2014).

To investigate potential Cdk5 phosphorylation sites on AR, sensitive mass spectrometry was chosen as a screening method. AR was immunoprecipitated from VCaP cells, phosphorylated in vitro with recombinant Cdk5/p25-complex, and analyzed by mass spectrometry (III: Figure 2). Compared to non-phosphorylated samples (-kinase) Ser308 was the only identified phosphorylation site induced by Cdk5/p25, and counteracted by roscovitine. To confirm the phosphorylation of Ser308 in vivo, LNCaP cells were subjected to Cdk5 or control siRNA, after which AR was immunoprecipitated and analyzed for altered phosphosites, revealing that Ser308 phosphorylation was indeed suppressed in cells lacking Cdk5 (III: Table 1, Supplementary figure 3). The presence of p-Ser308 in LNCaP cells grown in regular growth media was confirmed by immunolabeling (III: Figure 2), and the staining pattern was found to partly overlap with Cdk5. While this set of experiments demonstrated that Cdk5 phosphorylates AR Ser308 both in vitro and in vivo, only little is known of the biological significance of Ser308 phosphorylation. The only recognized kinase for Ser308 to date is Cdk11p58/cyclin D3 (Zong et al., 2007). Contrary to other Cdks in prostate cancer, Cdk11p58/cyclin D3-activity has a negative impact on androgen-dependent proliferation and AR activity measured by luciferase reporter (Zong et al., 2007). Furthermore, the effect of the kinase on AR activation was shown to depend on Ser308, since S308A mutation counteracted the outcome of the kinase on AR activity (Zong et al., 2007). However, the evidence does not directly support that Ser308 phosphorylation would block AR transactivation, as a phospho-mimicking mutant was never studied and because the phospho-deficient mutant did not increase AR activity further. It is possible, that a yet unidentified mechanism initiated by Ser308 could play a role in AR regulation. As an interesting note, S308A mutation causes the abrogation of two metabolically labelled phosphopeptides in the phosphopeptide mapping-experiments that originally identified this particular phosphosite in vivo (Gioeli et al., 2002), opening the possibility that Ser308 could certainly be regulating a sequential cascade of other PTMs. Thus, the role of Ser308 phosphorylation should be investigated in more detail, especially as it lies in the regulatory activation function-1 domain that coordinates AR activity and interactions.

While this project was ongoing, a separate report from another laboratory suggested, after phosphoantibody-analysis, that Cdk5 promotes AR Ser81 phosphorylation (Hsu et al., 2011). Ser81 phosphorylation is important mainly for AR stability, and the site is also phosphorylated by other Cdk family members (Cdk1 and Cdk9) (Chen et al., 2006; Chen et al., 2012b). In reality, it is likely that several kinases (Cdk1, Cdk5, Cdk9) contribute to the maintenance of the exceptionally high phosphorylation stoichiometry of Ser81 (Gioeli et al., 2002), a phosphorylation site crucial for receptor stability (Chen et al., 2006), localization and chromatin binding (Chen et al., 2012b). Our results added to the knowledge by demonstrating a second Cdk5 phosphorylation site, Ser308, on AR. In the in vivo context, Cdk5 can almost certainly phosphorylate several AR residues (both Ser81 and Ser308) depending on the cellular circumstances, thereby initiating a unique PTM-fingerprint that has implications for AR functions. By analyzing a broad range of known AR targets, we found that in the absence of Cdk5, some AR target genes were suppressed, while others were induced or unchanged, highlighting that Cdk5 plays a complex role in AR target gene specification (III: Figure 2, Supplementary figure 4). In contrast to previous publications (Hsu et al., 2011), our results imply that Cdk5 can also have adverse effect on specific AR targets, which resembles the Cdk5mediated regulation of GR (Kino et al., 2007). It is possible, that in the absence of Cdk5, AR coactivator or co-repressor complexes do not form normally, thus giving rise to the altered gene selectivity of the AR, which has consequences on the proliferative androgen pathway.

3.3 Cdk5 regulates prostate cancer cell proliferation

To study the function of Cdk5 in prostate cancer, a number of different cell lines were initially utilized to provide a comprehensive view of Cdk5 functions. In Table 7, where the molecular signature of the used cell lines is summarized, the term androgen response refers to the capacity of androgens to stimulate cell proliferation. In 22Rv1 prostate cancer cells, androgen stimulation does induce AR stabilization and activation, but does not increase their proliferation: in this case, the term "androgen responsive" is applied. Although present in most cells, the AR is altered in all utilized cell lines. A mutation in the LNCaP AR ligand binding domain causes both promiscuous activation by other steroid hormones and anti-androgens, as well as activation and nuclear localization of AR in the absence of ligands (Veldscholte et al., 1990). VCaP cells on the other hand, express as much as 12 times more AR than LNCaP cells, which makes the cells extremely sensitive to androgens (Waltering et al., 2009). The cell lines are also different in terms of p53 status. Thus, the cell lines have distinct molecular characteristics that reflect different stages of prostate carcinogenesis, and these distinctions were taken into consideration when interpreting experimental results.

To study the proliferation of prostate cancer cells, Cdk5 was downregulated using RNAi, and cells were counted or followed with live cell microscopy. The absence of Cdk5 was found to dramatically abrogate the proliferation of LNCaP, 22Rv1 and PC-3 cells (III: Figure 1, Supplementary figure 1, Supplementary videos 1-8), while VCaP was the only cancer cell line

not to respond to Cdk5 modulation (III: Figure 6). Also, overexpression of WT-Cdk5 increased cell population size in LNCaPs (III: Figure 1), suggesting that Cdk5 can boost proliferation, at least to a certain extent, in the cancer cells that from the beginning have a high metabolism. The cells did not show signs of increased apoptosis. When taking into consideration the specific molecular characteristics of the used cell lines, two key features could be distinguished. Firstly, the impact of Cdk5 siRNA on the proliferation of the AR-null PC-3 cell line was not less effective than its effect on the AR-positive LNCaP and 22Rv1. Thus, it seemed as the AR status of the cells did not matter for the effect of Cdk5 on proliferation. This was rather surprising, since we and others found that Cdk5 does regulate AR through phosphorylation, which is one of the major growth-promoting pathways in prostate cancer. Next, the intact Phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN) status and the virtually non-existent Akt activity of VCaP cells at basal levels (Ha et al., 2011) seemed particularly eye-catching. Genetic aberrations that cause hyperactivation of the PI3K-Akt pathway in prostate cancer also include PIK3CA-mutations in addition to PTEN, and 1/3 of advanced prostate cancers have mutation in either one (Sun et al., 2009). Although 22Rv1 cells have normal PTEN, they are characterized by an activating mutation in PIK3CA encoding the catalytic p85α-subunit of PI3K; a mutation that leaves the Akt kinase hyperactive. Thus, the fact that the only Cdk5 siRNA non-responsive cancer cell line was independent of Akt, suggested that this signaling pathway should be examined more closely in relation to Cdk5.

	LNCaP	VCaP	22Rv1	PC-3
AR status	positive (mutated)	positive (amplified)	positive (mutated)	null
Androgen response	androgen dependent	androgen dependent	androgen responsive	androgen independent
p53 status	WT	mutated	mutated	null
PTEN status	mutated	WT	WT	null
Origin	lymph node metastasis	vertebral metastasis	carcinoma xenograft	bone metastasis

Table 7 Molecular signature of utilized prostate cancer cell lines.

3.4 Complex Cdk5-Akt-androgen interplay in prostate cancer cells

LNCaP cells were utilized as the main model system to study the signaling pathways downstream of Cdk5 due to their wide expression of signaling proteins, as opposed to other cell lines. Cdk5 was downregulated in LNCaP cells that were either depleted from all hormones or stimulated with synthetic androgen, as LNCaP cell proliferation is under strict regulation of the androgen receptor. In the absence of Cdk5, active (phosphorylated) Akt (Ser473) was strongly repressed (III: Figure 3). Similarly, several of its downstream targets were suppressed/activated accordingly. The Cdk5-dependent regulation of Akt targets was, however, found to be variably androgen dependent; while p-Akt and p-GSK3 β (Ser9; indicating activation of the kinase) levels were equally low after Cdk5 siRNA in both androgen starved and androgen stimulated conditions, phosphorylation of ribosomal protein S6 (p-S6, Ser235/236) was highly androgen dependent. Androgen treatment caused by itself a stabilization of S6 and an increase in its phosphorylation, denoting hormone dependent activation of the mTOR-S6 kinase-S6 growthpromoting signaling pathway. It seems as in the presence of hormones, the inhibitory effect of Cdk5 downregulation is actively counteracted by simultaneous AR feedback into the strongly growth-promoting mTOR pathway. Although the growth-promoting pathways regulated by Cdk5 can translate differently, depending on the specific protein expression pattern of the cell lines used, the effect of Cdk5 on p-Akt is androgen independent, which is particularly obvious



Figure 14 Effect of Akt inhibitor VIII on Cdk5 activity. Akt kinase activity was inhibited in LNCaP cells using 1µM Akt inhibitor VIII (Calbiochem) for 24 hours. Akt inhibitor VIII binds to the PH-domain of Akt, and therefore disturbs the membrane binding and the phosphorylation-mediated activation of the kinase. After treatment, Cdk5 was immunoprecipitated from DMSO and Akt inhibitor-treated samples (Akt i VIII) and subjected to kinase activity measurements in vitro using histone H1 as substrate and [γ^{-32} P] ATP incorporation as a measure of Cdk5 activity. Cdk5 activity was not affected by Akt inhibiton.

in the AR null PC-3 cell line (III: Figure 3), and true for those prostate cancer cells that possess hyperactive Akt. Last, the relationship between Cdk5 and the multipurpose kinase Akt was further questioned through measuring Cdk5 activity after Akt inhibition, results which revealed that abrogation of Akt does not affect Cdk5 activity (Figure 14). Therefore Cdk5 can be placed upstream of Akt in the signaling hierarchy of prostate cancer cells, and not vice versa.

To understand better the mechanism of Cdk5-mediated Akt regulation, the intracellular localization of Akt was studied. When Akt is activated, it associates with phosphatidylinositols in the plasma membrane, where the kinase is activated through phosphorylation on

serines 308 and 473. Therefore, the membrane localization of Akt is crucial for its activation. Using subcellular fractionation and imaging, we found that the membrane localization of Akt was indeed disturbed when Cdk5 was silenced (III: Figure 4). Furthermore, Cdk5 and Akt could be co-immunoprecipitated from LNCaP cells, suggesting that there is a direct interaction between the two proteins (III: Figure 4). Considering these results, Cdk5 seems to act as a crucial regulator of Akt activity in prostate cancer cells: without Cdk5, Akt activation at the membrane does not occur, and the growth-promoting effects of Akt are strongly suppressed. The Cdk5-Akt regulatory axis was further validated with rescue experiments, where expression of constitutively active (myristoylated) Akt partially rescued the growth retardation of Cdk5 downregulated LNCaP cells (III: Figure 6). Although the same experimental setup could not be repeated in the transfection-sensitive PC-3 cells, the roscovitine-induced lag in proliferation of PC-3 cells could be overcome when CA-Akt was expressed (Figure 15). Thus, regardless of the AR status of the cell, the effect of Cdk5 dysfunction in cell proliferation can be rescued by restoration of membrane bound, constitutively active Akt.

The results propose that Cdk5 is a key regulator of prostate cancer proliferation through its multimodal and simultaneous actions on both AR and Akt signaling. Although the Akt-pathway was ultimately the prime target of Cdk5-induced prostate cancer proliferation, the Cdk5-dependent regulation of AR is likely to be important in those cells, where AR is present. As many of the AR target genes that were found to be regulated by Cdk5 in an androgen-dependent manner are central cancer-associated proteins (III: Figure 2), this mode of regulation should not be underestimated. Especially in vivo, individual patients or even one single tumor will contain cells that differ in their proteome, and that rely on different mechanisms for survival. In this setting, Cdk5 will theoretically have the capability to act in several cell types in a pro-proliferative manner.

Given the strong effects of Cdk5 inhibition on cell proliferation, further we questioned what effect Cdk5 downregulation would have on the cell cycle. In fact, the many growth-promoting and anti-apoptotic key signaling pathways in carcinogenesis are significantly intertwined. Akt is known to negatively regulate p53 stability through the direct phosphorylation of the p53 E3 ubiquitin ligase Mdm2 (Zhou et al., 2001). Therefore, the state of the



Figure 15 Expression of constitutively active Akt rescues roscovitine-induced lag in PC-3 cell proliferation. Cells were transfected with GFP or GFPconjugated CA-Akt, re-plated the following day in equal numbers and immediately treated with DMSO or roscovitine. Cell numbers were counted after 48 hours. Relative proliferation indicates cell counts compared to the 0 hour time point. Results are plotted as mean±S.E.M (One-way ANOVA). Western blotting verifies efficient transfection.

p53-p21 signaling axis was assessed. As could be expected from the repressed Akt signaling, the downregulation of Cdk5 strongly upregulated the cell cycle inhibitors p53 (at protein level) and p21 (at protein and mRNA level) (III: Figure 5), which is reflected also in the strong cell cycle arrest of LNCaP cells in response to Cdk5 siRNA. Interestingly, p21 mRNA is also influenced by the androgen status: the Cdk5 siRNA-mediated cell cycle suppression is slightly alleviated in hormone-stimulated cells that are primed to proliferate faster, once again illustrating the complex relationship between the signaling pathways in the prostate cancer cell cycle. Thus, the lack of Cdk5 seemed to induce a p21-dependent cell cycle arrest, which is reflected in the altered cell proliferation. As an important note, the p53-p21 signaling is not a general Cdk5regulated pathway, as PC-3 cells, which are equally Cdk5-dependent in terms of proliferation, are p53 null. Rather, the p53-p21 signaling provides yet another mode of action for the inhibited Akt and AR pathways in LNCaP cells to efficiently disturb proliferation. Especially when Cdk5 was inhibited with 10 µM roscovitine (III: Supplementary figure 2), which will target all cells in a population, compared to transfections that are effective only on a subpopulation, the growth-inhibitory effect of roscovitine was much stronger in LNCaP cells compared to PC-3. Therefore, it seems as LNCaP cells are more sensitive to Cdk5 inhibition,

perhaps through the tripartite actions on these three imperative cancer-sustaining pathways. It is attractive to speculate that when Cdk5 is efficiently inhibited in LNCaP cells, its simultaneous effects on both Akt (including the strong p53/p21 upregulation) and AR, which the cells are in general highly dependent on, makes the cells especially sensitive to Cdk5 inhibition, with drastic consequences on proliferation. The androgen independent PC-3 cells, on the other hand, show similar degree of proliferation inhibition after both Cdk5 siRNA (III: Figure 1) and 10 µM roscovitine treatment (III: Supplementary figure 2). Importantly, titration of roscovitine concentrations demonstrated its efficiency already at lower concentrations than what was used in the original study (2.5-5 µM), when other Cdks would remain virtually unaffected (Figure 16).



Figure 16 Effect of roscovitine on LNCaP population size. Cells were plated in equal amounts, treated with DMSO or various concentrations of roscovitine, and counted after 48 hours. Cell population size is displayed as relative growth (compared to the 0 h time point). At concentrations 10 μ M roscovitine and higher, the cell population shrinks compared to the 0h time point.

Although many facts suggested that nestin is not required for Cdk5 functions in prostate cancer, nestin was found to regulate the same targets as Cdk5 in 22Rv1 cells: when nestin was downregulated with siRNA, both p-Akt and AR levels were altered (Figure 17). Since nestin depletion was found to cause an increase in Cdk5-activity in neuronal (Sahlgren et al., 2006) and muscle cells (I), it is tempting to speculate that a similar chain of events may occur in prostate cancer cells. If the hypothesis held, and the nestin-Cdk5 connection acted in a similar manner in 22Rv1 cells as in the other tissues, an increase in p-Akt and AR levels could be expected in nestin knockdown cells, due to increased Cdk5 activity, as indeed was the case (Figure 17). Thus far, the nestin-Cdk5 connection has not been verified in 22Rv1 cells and the observed phenomena of similar targets may be unrelated, but it would be an interesting aspect to address in more detail in future experiments. LNCaP cells are, in turn, naturally nestin deficient, and express no vimentin either that would allow nestin filament formation to occur. Therefore, with the lack of convenient prostate cancers model systems, the concept of nestin-Cdk5-AR interplay was not developed further. Instead of prostate cancer models, it could be more meaningful to study a possible nestin-AR interaction in a tissue like skeletal muscle, where both are present and have physiological functions. Also other model systems resembling prostate cancer, such as breast cancer models, would be interesting to approach in terms of Cdk5-nestin-mediated regulation of the hormonal signaling pathways. For example, breast cancer has many similarities to prostate cancer, where deregulated receptor tyrosine kinases are frequent, but where tumorigenesis is instead primarily driven by the estrogen receptor instead of androgen receptor. Nestin expression does in fact seem to correlate with poor prognosis in breast cancer (Gao et al., 2014; Piras et al., 2011). Given the emerging role of Cdk5 in breast cancer epithelial-mesenchymal transition (Liang et al., 2013), and our newly found role of Cdk5 as a regulator of Akt-signaling (which is commonly deregulated in breast carcinoma), it would be of great interest to study the Cdk5/nestin signaling interactions in breast cancer models in the future.



Figure 17 Nestin downregulation affects Akt and AR expression in 22Rv1 prostate cancer cells. (A) 22Rv1 cells were transfected with scrambled (Scr) or nestin siRNA (Nes), or left untreated (Untr), and samples were collected for Western blotting 48 hours later. Compared to controls, nestin knockdown increased the p-Akt/Akt ratio. (B) 22Rv1 cells were first transfected with indicated siRNA, and then either androgen treated or starved for 24 hours. Nestin downregulation did cause an increase in AR protein levels regardless of hormone treatment. Androgen treatment stabilized the AR and caused a PTM-induced band shift, as expected.

In the end, this work demonstrated that can Cdk5 act either separately, or simultaneously, on two important prostate cancer promoters, namely Akt and AR (Figure 18). It is intriguing to speculate that Cdk5 may offer a growth advantage for prostate cancer cells through promoting cell cycle progression. Cdk5 could even, under specific circumstances, compensate functionally for cell cycle Cdks in a cancerous environment, as the kinases have many mutual targets. Its multifaceted functions in neuronal cell death and nociceptive signaling have raised a therapeutic interest towards Cdk5 as a potential drug target in the field of neuropsychiatric diseases, analgesia and addiction. Given its well-reported role in cancer cell invasion and now proliferation, Cdk5 should be considered as a potential cancer drug target. Whereas Cdk5
inhibition in neuronal tissues may be beneficial in terms of development of novel pain relief medication and in the prevention of neuronal loss triggered by neurodegenerative diseases or ischemia, contraindications that may disturb the positive activity of Cdk5 in memory formation, podocyte biology or muscle differentiation are serious health risks that should be taken into consideration. However, roscovitine and well as other pan-Cdk inhibitors have generally been well tolerated in clinical trials, with minimal reported toxicity. This supports the fact that targeting of Cdk5 even with less-specific inhibitors or through other mechanisms could be a real opportunity in the drug development field.



Figure 18 Cdk5 regulates prostate cancer proliferation through Akt and AR signaling. Cdk5 promotes the proliferation of prostate cancer cells through various mechanisms; firstly, Cdk5 phosphorylates the AR, which has target-gene selective effects on AR activation, and promotes prostate carcinogenesis through the androgen pathway. However, the androgen signaling axis is not fully required for Cdk5-mediated regulation of prostate cancer proliferation in an androgen independent stage. Instead, Cdk5 seems to mainly drive the proliferation of cancer cells through the multifunctional growth-promoting Akt kinase in both androgen dependent and independent cells. When Cdk5 is depleted from prostate cancer cells, Akt activation at the membrane is disturbed, and both pro- and anti-proliferative effectors of Akt are affected.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

During the progress of this thesis work, there has been an apparent growing interest towards understanding the non-neuronal functions of Cdk5 in the research community. Not only is Cdk5 considered to be a stress-sensor that determines the balance between life and death of a neuron, but it has newly found functions in cell transcription, proliferation, differentiation, cell architecture and motility in a wide range of dividing and terminally differentiated cell types, and in physiology and disease. This thesis studied the functions of Cdk5 in two atypical settings: muscle and proliferating cancer cells. By utilizing in vitro and in vivo methods, nestin was revealed to act as a critical scaffold for Cdk5 in muscle, as was originally hypothesized. The presence and state of the nestin scaffold ultimately determines whether Cdk5 is allowed to execute its p25-dependent functions following a differentiation-permissive signal, or alternatively, whether the myogenic cells continue proliferation and expansion instead. In cancer cells, the frequently differentiation-associated Cdk5 was found to promote proliferation instead, indications of which have existed in literature before. When unleashed, Cdk5 activity has the capability to boost many essential cell cycle-related signaling pathways. Thus, cancer cells seem to be able to utilize Cdk5 to gain a growth advantage compared to non-cancer cells, which in the case of prostate cancer, was found to be realized through its simultaneous actions on Akt and AR. Therefore, Cdk5 not only promotes initiation of differentiation processes, as noted already in early experiments, but the kinase can also advance cell proliferation in a disease context (Figure 19). Contrary to expectations, nestin did not appear to be a pre-requisite for the functions of Cdk5 in prostate cancer, although its modulation may affect the signaling capacity of the kinase in certain cell models.

Also the field of IFs is changing, as we are coming to understand the complexity of the phenotypes of the many knockout mouse models that were originally defined as "normal". An example was described yet again using the nestin knockout mouse: although appearing grossly normal, closer inspection of skeletal muscles of nestin null mice revealed underlying complications in skeletal muscle homeostasis and healing. Therefore, the results suggest that nestin plays a novel role in maintenance of muscle integrity. Although IFs play a significant role in the preservation of tissue integrity, studies on knockout and knock-in models of a variety of IF proteins are collectively suggesting that their function not only occur at the cellular level, but reaches from homeostasis of the whole body to regulation of metabolism, and ultimately disease. In intricate and unexpected ways they suppress, activate and modify cell signaling pathways through modulation of protein kinases and other signaling proteins, with broadranging consequences on tissue function and well-being.



Figure 19 Cdk5 balances between cell proliferation and differentiation. Cdk5 has multiple newly found functions in determination of cell fate: Cdk5 activity promotes the progress of differentiation processes in neurons and muscle, whereas deregulated Cdk5 activity in cancer can support cell division instead. The signaling capacity of Cdk5 can be modified by the bi-directional relationship with the nestin scaffold, which fine-tunes the processes that Cdk5 is involved in.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was conducted during 2009-2015 at Turku Centre of Biotechnology at University of Turku and Åbo Akademi University, and in recent years at the Department of Biosciences at Åbo Akademi University. I am grateful to Professor Riitta Lahesmaa for the excellent working facilities and environment at CBT. I owe my gratitude especially to the technical personnel at CBT, who made my working days flow smoothly with their vital everyday work efforts. The personnel at Cell Imaging Core are especially thanked for their valuable support and willingness to help in any situation. In addition, all personnel at the Department of Biosciences at Åbo Akademi are gratefully acknowledged for their inputs in creating a friendly working environment. In particular, I want to thank Helena, Gunilla and Thomas for their kind assistance in technical matters. Director Olli Lassila and the Turku Doctoral Programme of Biomedical Sciences are acknowledged for funding of my Ph.D. studies. I appreciate all travel support from TuBS that made it possible to attend many inspiring conferences during the years.

I am most grateful to Professor John Eriksson for welcoming me into the lab already as an undergraduate student and for guiding me throughout this journey. I am thankful for the freedom to explore and develop my projects through failure and eventually success, and for your continuous encouragement: this experience has truly shaped me as a person. Thank you for everything. During the years I have genuinely admired the dedication towards science that Professor Lea Sistonen has expressed. Thank you also for your true interest in the world of IFs, and for the fantastic lab you have been running alongside John's.

Professor Thomas Magin and Docent Maria Vartiainen are warmly thanked for the great work on reviewing my thesis and all the valuable remarks that certainly improved the thesis. In addition, I want to extend my appreciation to my thesis supervisory committee members, Maria Vartiainen and Diana Toivola, for the support throughout the years, all the highly valued comments on my work and your kindness. Both of you show an optimism towards science and life, which is truly remarkable.

This work would certainly not have been possible without all the skillful collaborators whom I have had the pleasure to work with; I want to thank especially my co-authors John Eriksson, Hanna-Mari Pallari, Elin Torvaldson, Tao He, Cecilia Sahlgren, Josef Gullmets, Henok Karvonen, Pekka Taimen, Susumu Imanishi, Marjo Malinen, Mika Remes, Fanny Örn and Jorma Palvimo.

I want to thank all past and present members of the Eriksson-Sistonen labs for all the great times in the 5th floor and 2nd floor labs, and all the fun outside work. I want to thank Hanna-Mari Pallari for taking me under your wing when I first joined the lab. Thank you for your support, friendship and for teaching me all the tricks that one needs to know about IFs. I want to thank Aura Kaunisto, Johanna Ahlskog, Saima Ferraris and Emmi Peuhu for their advice during my early days in the lab. I truly owe Tomoko Asaoka and Claire Hyder for their great friendship and continuous comedy; you two made the lab feel like home. I also want to thank Alexandra for all the laughs; Preethy and Senthil for friendship; Rose for all the great dumplings and chats; Alia for being the kindest person I know; Ponnu and Erik for your help. Also special thanks go to all my students during the years (Jolanta, Iris, Isabel, Fanny, Henok and Num) for showing your interest in nestin and Cdk5 and your hard work. Lastly, I want to thank my comusketeers and partners in crime: Elin Torvaldson for your wonderful work and fun times in Iceland and elsewhere, and Josef Gullmets for proper office entertainment and for lending an ear when needed. This project almost proved impossible, and would certainly have been that without you two. Last, I want to thank all the numerous colleagues and friends on the 5^{th} and 2^{nd} floors who contributed to a great working environment.

I especially want to thank "pojat" for being such wonderful friends! Thank you Hanni, Seba, Inkku, Miku, Annina, Jonas, Otto, Inkeri, Katri, Tumppu, Kurre, Iina, Outi, Jussi, Dani, Heidi, Ville, Minna. These twenty-or-so years have covered so much fun and something that is best described as "höntyily", many great weekends at mökki and elsewhere, and some great work out to maintain a good balance in life, all of which takes me far away from the world of cells - thank you for that! I am also grateful for the friendship of Mika and Anna, who are most appropriately described in the wine-terms spicy, elegantly bubbly and sweet.

Thank you to Annika and Markku for so kindly welcoming me to your family, for all the great dinners and for your care. I am particularly grateful to Ilona and Kaisa for your friendship and support, and for some seriously fun Aussie times!

I want to thank my family and relatives for their love and continuous encouragement throughout the years. I would like to extend my deepest gratitude to my parents for their warmth, affection and support in everything I do: kiitos äiti, och tack pappa! Thanks to Jenny, my dearest Iso-Jii, and Markku for taking such good care of me, for bringing me back to earth when needed and for raising such adorable kids, who will undoubtedly grow as bright as you are. Last, all my love goes to Juho, my scaffold and my best friend. Thank you for understanding my quirkiness and passion for cells, thanks for your patience and consolation, and for giving me your love and seriously needed reality checks in the toughest times.

Lastly, the Turku Doctoral Programme of Biomedical Sciences, the Åbo Akademi University Endowment, the rector for Åbo Akademi University, the Swedish Cultural Foundation in Finland, the Oskar Öflund foundation, the Waldemar von Frenckell foundation, the medical research foundation Liv och Hälsa, the Otto A. Malm foundation, the K. Albin Johansson foundation, the Finnish Cancer organizations, the Cancer Society of Southwestern Finland, the Instrumentarium foundation, and the Magnus Ehrnrooth foundation are gratefully acknowledged for financial support of this work.

REFERENCES

Abate-Shen, C. (2000). Molecular genetics of prostate cancer. Genes Dev. 14, 2410-2434.

- Abdullah, C., Wang, X. and Becker, D. (2011). Expression analysis and molecular targeting of cyclin-dependent kinases in advanced melanoma. Cell Cycle 10, 977–988.
- About, I., Laurent-Maquin, D., Lendahl, U. and Mitsiadis, T. A. (2000). Nestin expression in embryonic and adult human teeth under normal and pathological conditions. Am. J. Pathol. 157, 287–95.
- Ackerley, S., Thornhill, P., Grierson, A. J., Brownlees, J., Anderton, B. H., Leigh, P. N., Shaw, C. E. and Miller, C. C. J. (2003). Neurofilament heavy chain side arm phosphorylation regulates axonal transport of neurofilaments. J. Cell Biol. 161, 489–95.
- Agbulut, O., Li, Z., Périé, S., Ludosky, M. A., Paulin, D., Cartaud, J. and Butler-Browne, G. (2001). Lack of desmin results in abortive muscle regeneration and modifications in synaptic structure. *Cell Motil. Cytoskeleton* 49, 51–66.
- Ahlijanian, M. K., Barrezueta, N. X., Williams, R. D., Jakowski, A., Kowsz, K. P., McCarthy, S., Coskran, T., Carlo, A., Seymour, P. A., Burkhardt, J. E., et al. (2000). Hyperphosphorylated tau and neurofilament and cytoskeletal disruptions in mice overexpressing human p25, an activator of cdk5. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 97, 2910–5.
- Ajay, A. K., Upadhyay, A. K., Singh, S., Vijayakumar, M. V, Kumari, R., Pandey, V., Boppana, R. and Bhat, M. K. (2010). Cdk5 phosphorylates non-genotoxically overexpressed p53 following inhibition of PP2A to induce cell cycle arrest/apoptosis and inhibits tumor progression. *Mol. Cancer* 9, 204.
- Akiyama, M., Matsuda, Y., Ishiwata, T., Naito, Z. and Kawana, S. (2013). Inhibition of the stem cell marker nestin reduces tumor growth and invasion of malignant melanoma. J. Invest. Dermatol. 133, 1384–7.
- Alexander, K., Yang, H.-S. and Hinds, P. W. (2004). Cellular senescence requires CDK5 repression of Rac1 activity. Mol. Cell. Biol. 24, 2808– 19.
- Amin, N. D., Albers, W. and Pant, H. C. (2002). Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 (cdk5) activation requires interaction with three domains of p35. J. Neurosci. Res. 67, 354–62.
- Asada, A., Yamamoto, N., Gohda, M., Saito, T., Hayashi, N. and Hisanaga, S.-I. (2008). Myristoylation of p39 and p35 is a determinant of cytoplasmic or nuclear localization of active cyclin-dependent kinase 5 complexes. J. Neurochem. 106, 1325–36.
- Asakura, A., Rudnicki, M. A. and Komaki, M. (2001). Muscle satellite cells are multipotential stem cells that exhibit myogenic, osteogenic, and adipogenic differentiation. *Differentiation* 68, 245–253.
- Banks, A. S., McAllister, F. E., Camporez, J. P. G., Zushin, P.-J. H., Jurczak, M. J., Laznik-Bogoslavski, D., Shulman, G. I., Gygi, S. P. and Spiegelman, B. M. (2014). An ERK/Cdk5 axis controls the diabetogenic actions of PPARy. Nature.
- Bankston, A. N., Li, W., Zhang, H., Ku, L., Liu, G., Papa, F., Zhao, L., Bibb, J. A., Cambi, F., Tiwari-Woodruff, S. K., et al. (2013). p39, the primary activator for cyclin-dependent kinase 5 (Cdk5) in oligodendroglia, is essential for oligodendroglia differentiation and myelin repair. J. Biol. Chem. 288, 18047–57.
- Barbieri, C. E., Baca, S. C., Lawrence, M. S., Demichelis, F., Blattner, M., Theurillat, J.-P., White, T. A., Stojanov, P., Van Allen, E., Stransky, N., et al. (2012). Exome sequencing identifies recurrent SPOP, FOXA1 and MED12 mutations in prostate cancer. Nat. Genet. 44, 685–9.
- Barbieri, C. E., Bangma, C. H., Bjartell, A., Catto, J. W. F., Culig, Z., Grönberg, H., Luo, J., Visakorpi, T. and Rubin, M. A. (2013). The mutational landscape of prostate cancer. Eur. Urol. 64, 567–76.
- Bareja, A. and Billin, A. N. (2013). Satellite cell therapy from mice to men. Skelet. Muscle 3, 2.
- Beckmann, J. S. and Spencer, M. (2008). Calpain 3, the "gatekeeper" of proper sarcomere assembly, turnover and maintenance. Neuromuscul. Disord. 18, 913–21.
- Bernardo, A. S., Barrow, J., Hay, C. W., McCreath, K., Kind, A. J., Schnieke, A. E., Colman, A., Hart, A. W. and Docherty, K. (2006). Presence of endocrine and exocrine markers in EGFP-positive cells from the developing pancreas of a nestin/EGFP mouse. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.* 253, 14–21.
- Bertelli, E., Regoli, M., Lucattelli, M., Bastianini, A. and Fonzi, L. (2002). Nestin expression in rat adrenal gland. Histochem. Cell Biol. 117, 371–7.
- Birbrair, A., Wang, Z.-M., Messi, M. L., Enikolopov, G. N. and Delbono, O. (2011). Nestin-GFP transgene reveals neural precursor cells in adult skeletal muscle. PLoS One 6, e16816.
- Birbrair, A., Zhang, T., Wang, Z.-M., Messi, M. L., Enikolopov, G. N., Mintz, A. and Delbono, O. (2013a). Skeletal muscle neural progenitor cells exhibit properties of NG2-glia. Exp. Cell Res. 319, 45–63.
- Birbrair, A., Zhang, T., Wang, Z.-M., Messi, M. L., Enikolopov, G. N., Mintz, A. and Delbono, O. (2013b). Role of pericytes in skeletal muscle regeneration and fat accumulation. Stem Cells Dev. 22, 2298–314.
- Blaauw, B., Canato, M., Agatea, L., Toniolo, L., Mammucari, C., Masiero, E., Abraham, R., Sandri, M., Schiaffino, S. and Reggiani, C. (2009). Inducible activation of Akt increases skeletal muscle mass and force without satellite cell activation. FASEB J. 23, 3896–905.
- Bodine, S. C., Stitt, T. N., Gonzalez, M., Kline, W. O., Stover, G. L., Bauerlein, R., Zlotchenko, E., Scrimgeour, A., Lawrence, J. C., Glass, D. J., et al. (2001). Akt/mTOR pathway is a crucial regulator of skeletal muscle hypertrophy and can prevent muscle atrophy in vivo. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 3, 1014–9.
- Bosnakovski, D., Xu, Z., Li, W., Thet, S., Cleaver, O., Perlingeiro, R. C. R. and Kyba, M. (2008). Prospective isolation of skeletal muscle stem cells with a Pax7 reporter. Stem Cells 26, 3194–204.
- Bouzakri, K., Zachrisson, A., Al-Khalili, L., Zhang, B. B., Koistinen, H. A., Krook, A. and Zierath, J. R. (2006). siRNA-based gene silencing reveals specialized roles of IRS-1/Akt2 and IRS-2/Akt1 in glucose and lipid metabolism in human skeletal muscle. Cell Metab. 4, 89– 96.
- Brazil, D. P. and Hemmings, B. A. (2001). Ten years of protein kinase B signalling: a hard Akt to follow. Trends Biochem. Sci. 26, 657-664.
- Brinkkoetter, P. T., Olivier, P., Wu, J. S., Henderson, S., Krofft, R. D., Pippin, J. W., Hockenbery, D., Roberts, J. M. and Shankland, S. J. (2009). Cyclin I activates Cdk5 and regulates expression of Bcl-2 and Bcl-XL in postmitotic mouse cells. J. Clin. Invest. 119, 3089–101.
- Brinkkoetter, P. T., Pippin, J. W. and Shankland, S. J. (2010). Cyclin 1-Cdk5 governs survival in post-mitotic cells. *Cell Cycle* 9, 1729–31. Bu, B., Li, J., Davies, P. and Vincent, I. (2002). Deregulation of cdk5, hyperphosphorylation, and cytoskeletal pathology in the Niemann-Pick
- type C murine model. J. Neurosci. 22, 6515-25.
- Carlsson, L., Li, Z., Paulin, D. and Thornell, L. E. (1999). Nestin is expressed during development and in myotendinous and neuromuscular junctions in wild type and desmin knock-out mice. *Exp. Cell Res.* 251, 213–23.

- Carver, B. S., Chapinski, C., Wongvipat, J., Hieronymus, H., Chen, Y., Chandarlapaty, S., Arora, V. K., Le, C., Koutcher, J., Scher, H., et al. (2011). Reciprocal Feedback Regulation of PI3K and Androgen Receptor Signaling in PTEN-Deficient Prostate Cancer. Cancer Cell 19, 575–586.
- Catania, A., Urban, S., Yan, E., Hao, C., Barron, G. and Allalunis-Turner, J. (2001). Expression and localization of cyclin-dependent kinase 5 in apoptotic human glioma cells. *Neuro. Oncol.* **3**, 89–98.
- Chae, T., Kwon, Y. T., Bronson, R., Dikkes, P., Li, E. and Tsai, L.-H. H. (1997). Mice lacking p35, a neuronal specific activator of Cdk5, display cortical lamination defects, seizures, and adult lethality. *Neuron* 18, 29–42.
- Chang, N. C. and Rudnicki, M. A. (2014). Satellite cells: the architects of skeletal muscle. Curr. Top. Dev. Biol. 107, 161-81.
- Chang, Y., Ostling, P., Akerfelt, M., Trouillet, D., Rallu, M., Gitton, Y., El Fatimy, R., Fardeau, V., Le Crom, S., Morange, M., et al. (2006). Role of heat-shock factor 2 in cerebral cortex formation and as a regulator of p35 expression. *Genes Dev.* 20, 836–47.
- Chang, K.-H., Multani, P. S., Sun, K.-H., Vincent, F., de Pablo, Y., Ghosh, S., Gupta, R., Lee, H.-P., Lee, H.-G., Smith, M. A., et al. (2011). Nuclear envelope dispersion triggered by deregulated Cdk5 precedes neuronal death. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 22, 1452–62.
- Chang, K.-H., Vincent, F. and Shah, K. (2012). Deregulated Cdk5 triggers aberrant activation of cell cycle kinases and phosphatases inducing neuronal death. J. Cell Sci. 125, 5124–37.
- Chang, K.-W., Huang, Y.-L., Wong, Z.-R., Su, P.-H., Huang, B.-M., Ju, T.-K. and Yang, H.-Y. (2013). Fibroblast growth factor-2 upregulates the expression of nestin through the Ras-Raf-ERK-Sp1 signaling axis in C6 glioma cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 434, 854–60.
- Chen, S., Xu, Y., Yuan, X., Bubley, G. J. and Balk, S. P. (2006). Androgen receptor phosphorylation and stabilization in prostate cancer by cyclin-dependent kinase 1. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 103, 15969–74.
- Chen, H.-L., Yuh, C.-H. and Wu, K. K. (2010). Nestin is essential for zebrafish brain and eye development through control of progenitor cell apoptosis. PLoS One 5, e9318.
- Chen, M.-C., Huang, C.-Y., Hsu, S.-L., Lin, E., Ku, C.-T., Lin, H. and Chen, C.-M. (2012a). Retinoic Acid Induces Apoptosis of Prostate Cancer DU145 Cells through Cdk5 Overactivation. Evid. Based. Complement. Alternat. Med. 2012, 580736.
- Chen, S., Gulla, S., Cai, C. and Balk, S. P. (2012b). Androgen receptor serine 81 phosphorylation mediates chromatin binding and transcriptional activation. J. Biol. Chem. 287, 8571–83.
- Chen, Z., Wang, J., Cai, L., Zhong, B., Luo, H., Hao, Y., Yu, W., Wang, B., Su, C., Lei, Y., et al. (2014). Role of the stem cell-associated intermediate filament nestin in malignant proliferation of non-small cell lung cancer. PLoS One 9, e85584.
- Cheng, K., Li, Z., Fu, W.-Y., Wang, J. H., Fu, A. K. Y. and Ip, N. Y. (2002). Pctairel interacts with p35 and is a novel substrate for Cdk5/p35. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 31988–93.
- Cheng, L., Jin, Z., Liu, L., Yan, Y., Li, T., Zhu, X. and Jing, N. (2004). Characterization and promoter analysis of the mouse nestin gene. FEBS Lett. 565, 195–202.
- Chergui, K., Svenningsson, P. and Greengard, P. (2004). Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 regulates dopaminergic and glutamatergic transmission in the striatum. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 101, 2191–6.
- Cheung, Z. H., Gong, K. and Ip, N. Y. (2008). Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 supports neuronal survival through phosphorylation of Bcl-2. J. Neurosci. 28, 4872–7.
- Chew, J., Chen, M. J., Lee, A. Y.-W., Peng, Z. F., Chong, K. W. Y., He, L., Bay, B. H., Ng, J. M. J., Qi, R. Z. and Cheung, N. S. (2010). Identification of p10 as a neurotoxic product generated from the proteolytic cleavage of the neuronal Cdk5 activator. J. Cell. Biochem. 111, 1359–66.
- Choi, H. S., Lee, Y., Park, K. H., Sung, J. S., Lee, J.-E., Shin, E.-S., Ryu, J.-S. and Kim, Y. H. (2009). Single-nucleotide polymorphisms in the promoter of the CDK5 gene and lung cancer risk in a Korean population. J. Hum. Genet. 54, 298–303.
- Choi, J. H., Banks, A. S., Estall, J. L., Kajimura, S., Boström, P., Laznik, D., Ruas, J. L., Chalmers, M. J., Kamenecka, T. M., Blüher, M., et al. (2010). Anti-diabetic drugs inhibit obesity-linked phosphorylation of PPARgamma by Cdk5. *Nature* 466, 451–6.
- Choi, J. H., Banks, A. S., Kamenecka, T. M., Busby, S. A., Chalmers, M. J., Kumar, N., Kuruvilla, D. S., Shin, Y., He, Y., Bruning, J. B., et al. (2011). Antidiabetic actions of a non-agonist PPARγ ligand blocking Cdk5-mediated phosphorylation. *Nature* 477, 477–81.
- Chou, Y. H., Ngai, K. L. and Goldman, R. (1991). The regulation of intermediate filament reorganization in mitosis. p34cdc2 phosphorylates vimentin at a unique N-terminal site. J. Biol. Chem. 266, 7325–8.
- Chou, Y.-H., Khuon, S., Herrmann, H. and Goldman, R. D. (2003). Nestin promotes the phosphorylation-dependent disassembly of vimentin intermediate filaments during mitosis. Mol. Biol. Cell 14, 1468–78.
- Chou, Y.-H., Kuo, W.-L., Rosner, M. R., Tang, W.-J. and Goldman, R. D. (2009). Structural changes in intermediate filament networks alter the activity of insulin-degrading enzyme. FASEB J. 23, 3734–42.
- Chow, H.-M., Guo, D., Zhou, J.-C., Zhang, G.-Y., Li, H.-F., Herrup, K. and Zhang, J. (2014). CDK5 activator protein p25 preferentially binds and activates GSK3β. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.
- Cleasby, M. E., Reinten, T. A., Cooney, G. J., James, D. E. and Kraegen, E. W. (2007). Functional studies of Akt isoform specificity in skeletal muscle in vivo; maintained insulin sensitivity despite reduced insulin receptor substrate-1 expression. Mol. Endocrinol. 21, 215–28.
- Collins, C. A., Olsen, I., Zammit, P. S., Heslop, L., Petrie, A., Partridge, T. A. and Morgan, J. E. (2005). Stem cell function, self-renewal, and behavioral heterogeneity of cells from the adult muscle satellite cell niche. *Cell* 122, 289–301.
- Colucci-Guyon, E., Portier, M. M., Dunia, I., Paulin, D., Pournin, S. and Babinet, C. (1994). Mice lacking vimentin develop and reproduce without an obvious phenotype. *Cell* 79, 679–94.
- Conboy, I. M., Conboy, M. J., Wagers, A. J., Girma, E. R., Weissman, I. L. and Rando, T. A. (2005). Rejuvenation of aged progenitor cells by exposure to a young systemic environment. *Nature* 433, 760–4.
- Connell-Crowley, L., Le Gall, M., Vo, D. J. and Giniger, E. (2000). The cyclin-dependent kinase Cdk5 controls multiple aspects of axon patterning in vivo. Curr. Biol. 10, 599–603.
- Connell-Crowley, L., Vo, D., Luke, L. and Giniger, E. (2007). Drosophila lacking the Cdk5 activator, p35, display defective axon guidance, age-dependent behavioral deficits and reduced lifespan. Mech. Dev. 124, 341–9.
- Contreras-Vallejos, E., Utreras, E., Bórquez, D. A., Prochazkova, M., Terse, A., Jaffe, H., Toledo, A., Arruti, C., Pant, H. C., Kulkarni, A. B., et al. (2014). Searching for novel Cdk5 substrates in brain by comparative phosphoproteomics of wild type and Cdk5-/- mice. *PLoS One* 9, e90363.
- Cooper, R. N., Tajbakhsh, S., Mouly, V., Cossu, G., Buckingham, M. and Butler-Browne, G. S. (1999). In vivo satellite cell activation via Myf5 and MyoD in regenerating mouse skeletal muscle. J. Cell Sci. 112 (Pt 1, 2895–901.

- Corbel, S. Y., Lee, A., Yi, L., Duenas, J., Brazelton, T. R., Blau, H. M. and Rossi, F. M. V (2003). Contribution of hematopoietic stem cells to skeletal muscle. Nat. Med. 9, 1528–32.
- Cruz, J. C., Tseng, H.-C., Goldman, J. A., Shih, H. and Tsai, L.-H. (2003). Aberrant Cdk5 activation by p25 triggers pathological events leading to neurodegeneration and neurofibrillary tangles. *Neuron* 40, 471–83.
- Dahlstrand, J., Zimmerman, L. B., McKay, R. D. and Lendahl, U. (1992a). Characterization of the human nestin gene reveals a close evolutionary relationship to neurofilaments. J. Cell Sci. 103 (Pt 2, 589–97.
- Dahlstrand, J., Collins, V. P. and Lendahl, U. (1992b). Expression of the class VI intermediate filament nestin in human central nervous system tumors. *Cancer Res.* 52, 5334–41.
- Dahlstrand, J., Lardelli, M. and Lendahl, U. (1995). Nestin mRNA expression correlates with the central nervous system progenitor cell state in many, but not all, regions of developing central nervous system. Brain Res. Dev. Brain Res. 84, 109–29.
- Daniel, C., Albrecht, H., Lüdke, A. and Hugo, C. (2008). Nestin expression in repopulating mesangial cells promotes their proliferation. Lab. Invest. 88, 387–97.
- Danoviz, M. E. and Yablonka-Reuveni, Z. (2012). Skeletal muscle satellite cells: background and methods for isolation and analysis in a primary culture system. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 798, 21–52.
- Daval, M., Gurlo, T., Costes, S., Huang, C.-J. and Butler, P. C. (2011). Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 promotes pancreatic β-cell survival via Fak-Akt signaling pathways. Diabetes 60, 1186–97.
- Davidoff, M. S., Middendorff, R., Enikolopov, G., Riethmacher, D., Holstein, A. F. and Müller, D. (2004). Progenitor cells of the testosterone-producing Leydig cells revealed. J. Cell Biol. 167, 935–44.
- Day, K., Shefer, G., Richardson, J. B., Enikolopov, G. and Yablonka-Reuveni, Z. (2007). Nestin-GFP reporter expression defines the quiescent state of skeletal muscle satellite cells. Dev. Biol. 304, 246–59.
- De Thonel, A., Ferraris, S. E., Pallari, H.-M., Imanishi, S. Y., Kochin, V., Hosokawa, T., Hisanaga, S., Sahlgren, C. and Eriksson, J. E. (2010). Protein kinase Czeta regulates Cdk5/p25 signaling during myogenesis. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 21, 1423–34.
- Dellavalle, A., Sampaolesi, M., Tonlorenzi, R., Tagliafico, E., Sacchetti, B., Perani, L., Innocenzi, A., Galvez, B. G., Messina, G., Morosetti, R., et al. (2007). Pericytes of human skeletal muscle are myogenic precursors distinct from satellite cells. Nat. Cell Biol. 9, 255–67.
- Demelash, A., Rudrabhatla, P., Pant, H. C., Wang, X., Amin, N. D., McWhite, C. D., Naizhen, X. and Linnoila, R. I. (2012). Achaete-scute homologue-1 (ASH1) stimulates migration of lung cancer cells through Cdk5/p35 pathway. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 23, 2856–66.
- Dorner, D., Vlcek, S., Foeger, N., Gajewski, A., Makolm, C., Gotzmann, J., Hutchison, C. J. and Foisner, R. (2006). Lamina-associated polypeptide 2alpha regulates cell cycle progression and differentiation via the retinoblastoma-E2F pathway. J. Cell Biol. 173, 83–93.
- Eggers, J. P., Grandgenett, P. M., Collisson, E. C., Lewallen, M. E., Tremayne, J., Singh, P. K., Swanson, B. J., Andersen, J. M., Caffrey, T. C., High, R. R., et al. (2011). Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 is amplified and overexpressed in pancreatic cancer and activated by mutant K-Ras. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 17, 6140–50.
- Eliasson, C., Sahlgren, C., Berthold, C.-H., Stakeberg, J., Celis, J. E., Betsholtz, C., Eriksson, J. E. and Pekny, M. (1999). Intermediate Filament Protein Partnership in Astrocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 23996–24006.
- Feldman, B. J. and Feldman, D. (2001). The development of androgen-independent prostate cancer. Nat. Rev. Cancer 1, 34-45.
- Feldmann, G., Mishra, A., Hong, S.-M., Bisht, S., Strock, C. J., Ball, D. W., Goggins, M., Maitra, A. and Nelkin, B. D. (2010). Inhibiting the cyclin-dependent kinase CDK5 blocks pancreatic cancer formation and progression through the suppression of Ras-Ral signaling. *Cancer Res.* 70, 4460–9.
- Fernando, P., Sandoz, J. S., Ding, W., de Repentigny, Y., Brunette, S., Kelly, J. F., Kothary, R. and Megeney, L. A. (2009). Bin1 SRC homology 3 domain acts as a scaffold for myofiber sarcomere assembly. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 27674–86.
- Fletcher, A. I. (1999). Regulation of Exocytosis by Cyclin-dependent Kinase 5 via Phosphorylation of Munc18. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 4027–4035.
- Flørenes, V. A., Holm, R., Myklebost, O., Lendahl, U. and Fodstad, O. (1994). Expression of the neuroectodermal intermediate filament nestin in human melanomas. *Cancer Res.* 54, 354–6.
- Frisén, J., Johansson, C. B., Török, C., Risling, M. and Lendahl, U. (1995). Rapid, widespread, and longlasting induction of nestin contributes to the generation of glial scar tissue after CNS injury. J. Cell Biol. 131, 453–64.
- Frock, R. L., Kudlow, B. A., Evans, A. M., Jameson, S. A., Hauschka, S. D. and Kennedy, B. K. (2006). Lamin A/C and emerin are critical for skeletal muscle satellite cell differentiation. *Genes Dev.* 20, 486–500.
- Fröjdman, K., Pelliniemi, L. J., Lendahl, U., Virtanen, I. and Eriksson, J. E. (1997). The intermediate filament protein nestin occurs transiently in differentiating testis of rat and mouse. *Differentiation*. 61, 243–9.
- Fu, A. K., Fu, W. Y., Cheung, J., Tsim, K. W., Ip, F. C., Wang, J. H. and Ip, N. Y. (2001). Cdk5 is involved in neurogulin-induced AChR expression at the neuromuscular junction. *Nat. Neurosci.* 4, 374–81.
- Fu, W.-Y., Fu, A. K. Y., Lok, K.-C., Ip, F. C. F. and Ip, N. Y. C. (2002). Induction of Cdk5 activity in rat skeletal muscle after nerve injury. *Neuroreport* 13, 243–7.
- Fu, A. K. Y., Fu, W.-Y., Ng, A. K. Y., Chien, W. W. Y., Ng, Y.-P., Wang, J. H. and Ip, N. Y. (2004). Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 phosphorylates signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 and regulates its transcriptional activity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 101, 6728–33.
- Fu, A. K. Y., Ip, F. C. F., Fu, W.-Y., Cheung, J., Wang, J. H., Yung, W.-H. and Ip, N. Y. (2005). Aberrant motor axon projection, acetylcholine receptor clustering, and neurotransmission in cyclin-dependent kinase 5 null mice. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 102, 15224–9.
- Fu, X., Choi, Y.-K., Qu, D., Yu, Y., Cheung, N. S. and Qi, R. Z. (2006). Identification of nuclear import mechanisms for the neuronal Cdk5 activator. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 39014–21.
- Fu, W.-Y., Chen, Y., Sahin, M., Zhao, X.-S., Shi, L., Bikoff, J. B., Lai, K.-O., Yung, W.-H., Fu, A. K. Y., Greenberg, M. E., et al. (2007). Cdk5 regulates EphA4-mediated dendritic spine retraction through an ephexin1-dependent mechanism. *Nat. Neurosci.* 10, 67–76.
- Fuchs, E. and Weber, K. (1994). Intermediate filaments: structure, dynamics, function, and disease. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 63, 345-82.
- Fujita, S., Hideshima, K. and Ikeda, T. (2006). Nestin expression in odontoblasts and odontogenic ectomesenchymal tissue of odontogenic tumours. J. Clin. Pathol. 59, 240–5.
- Gao, C., Negash, S., Wang, H. S., Ledee, D., Guo, H., Russell, P. and Zelenka, P. (2001). Cdk5 mediates changes in morphology and promotes apoptosis of astrocytoma cells in response to heat shock. J. Cell Sci. 114, 1145–53.
- Gao, N., Xu, H., Liu, C., Xu, H., Chen, G., Wang, X., Li, Y. and Wang, Y. (2014). Nestin: predicting specific survival factors for breast cancer. *Tumour Biol.* 35, 1751–5.
- Garcia-Pelagio, K. P., Muriel, J., O Neill, A., Desmond, P. F., Lovering, R. M., Lund, L., Bond, M. and Bloch, R. J. (2015). Myopathic Changes in Murine Skeletal Muscle Lacking Synemin. AJP Cell Physiol. ajpcell.00331.2014.

- Gardner, S., Anguiano, M. and Rotwein, P. (2012). Defining Akt actions in muscle differentiation. Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 303, C1292-300.
- Gautel, M., Leonard, K. and Labeit, S. (1993). Phosphorylation of KSP motifs in the C-terminal region of titin in differentiating myoblasts. EMBO J. 12, 3827–34.
- Gioeli, D., Ficarro, S. B., Kwiek, J. J., Aaronson, D., Hancock, M., Catling, A. D., White, F. M., Christian, R. E., Settlage, R. E., Shabanowitz, J., et al. (2002). Androgen receptor phosphorylation. Regulation and identification of the phosphorylation sites. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 29304–14.
- Godsel, L. M., Hobbs, R. P. and Green, K. J. (2008). Intermediate filament assembly: dynamics to disease. Trends Cell Biol. 18, 28–37.
- Goll, D. E., Thompson, V. F., Li, H., Wei, W. and Cong, J. (2003). The calpain system. Physiol. Rev. 83, 731-801.
- Gong, X., Tang, X., Wiedmann, M., Wang, X., Peng, J., Zheng, D., Blair, L. A. C., Marshall, J. and Mao, Z. (2003). Cdk5-mediated inhibition of the protective effects of transcription factor MEF2 in neurotoxicity-induced apoptosis. *Neuron* 38, 33–46.
- Gordon, V., Bhadel, S., Wunderlich, W., Zhang, J., Ficarro, S. B., Mollah, S. A., Shabanowitz, J., Hunt, D. F., Xenarios, I., Hahn, W. C., et al. (2010). CDK9 regulates AR promoter selectivity and cell growth through serine 81 phosphorylation. *Mol. Endocrinol.* 24, 2267–80.
- Gotic, I., Schmidt, W. M., Biadasiewicz, K., Leschnik, M., Spilka, R., Braun, J., Stewart, C. L. and Foisner, R. (2010). Loss of LAP2 alpha delays satellite cell differentiation and affects postnatal fiber-type determination. *Stem Cells* 28, 480–8.
- Green, S. M., Mostaghel, E. A. and Nelson, P. S. (2012). Androgen action and metabolism in prostate cancer. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 360, 3-13.
- Griffin, S. V, Hiromura, K., Pippin, J., Petermann, A. T., Blonski, M. J., Krofft, R., Takahashi, S., Kulkarni, A. B. and Shankland, S. J. (2004). Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 is a regulator of podocyte differentiation, proliferation, and morphology. Am. J. Pathol. 165, 1175– 85
- Griffin, S. V, Olivier, J. P., Pippin, J. W., Roberts, J. M. and Shankland, S. J. (2006). Cyclin I protects podocytes from apoptosis. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 28048–57.
- Grigelioniené, G., Blennow, M., Török, C., Fried, G., Dahlin, I., Lendahl, U. and Lagercrantz, H. (1996). Cerebrospinal fluid of newborn infants contains a deglycosylated form of the intermediate filament nestin. *Pediatr. Res.* 40, 809–14.
- Gu, G., Yuan, J., Wills, M. and Kasper, S. (2007). Prostate cancer cells with stem cell characteristics reconstitute the original human tumor in vivo. Cancer Res. 67, 4807–15.
- Guérette, D., Khan, P. A., Savard, P. E. and Vincent, M. (2007). Molecular evolution of type VI intermediate filament proteins. BMC Evol. Biol. 7, 164.
- Guidato, S., McLoughlin, D. M., Grierson, A. J. and Miller, C. C. (1998). Cyclin D2 interacts with cdk-5 and modulates cellular cdk-5/p35 activity. J. Neurochem. 70, 335–40.
- Ha, S., Ruoff, R., Kahoud, N., Franke, T. F. and Logan, S. K. (2011). Androgen receptor levels are upregulated by Akt in prostate cancer. Endocr. Relat. Cancer 18, 245–55.
- Hamdane, M., Bretteville, A., Sambo, A.-V., Schindowski, K., Bégard, S., Delacourte, A., Bertrand, P. and Buée, L. (2005). p25/Cdk5mediated retinoblastoma phosphorylation is an early event in neuronal cell death. J. Cell Sci. 118, 1291–8.
- Hanahan, D. and Weinberg, R. A. (2011). Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell 144, 646-74.
- Harada, T., Morooka, T., Ogawa, S. and Nishida, E. (2001). ERK induces p35, a neuron-specific activator of Cdk5, through induction of Egr1. Nat. Cell Biol. 3, 453–9.
- He, Q.-Z., Luo, X.-Z., Zhou, Q., Wang, K., Li, S.-X., Li, Y., Zhu, H.-T. and Duan, T. (2013). Expression of nestin in ovarian serous cancer and its clinicopathologic significance. Eur. Rev. Med. Pharmacol. Sci. 17, 2896–901.
- Heald, R. and McKeon, F. (1990). Mutations of phosphorylation sites in lamin A that prevent nuclear lamina disassembly in mitosis. Cell 61, 579–89.
- Hellmich, M. R., Pant, H. C., Wada, E. and Battey, J. F. (1992). Neuronal cdc2-like kinase: a cdc2-related protein kinase with predominantly neuronal expression. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 89, 10867–71.
- Hellmich, M. R., Kennison, J. a, Hampton, L. L. and Battey, J. F. (1994). Cloning and characterization of the Drosophila melanogaster CDK5 homolog. FEBS Lett. 356, 317–21.
- Helsen, C. and Claessens, F. (2014). Looking at nuclear receptors from a new angle. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 382, 97-106.
- Hemken, P. M., Bellin, R. M., Sernett, S. W., Becker, B., Huiatt, T. W. and Robson, R. M. (1997). Molecular Characteristics of the Novel Intermediate Filament Protein Paranemin: SEQUENCE REVEALS EAP-300 AND IFAPa-400 ARE HIGHLY HOMOLOGOUS TO PARANEMIN. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 32489–32499.
- Héron-Milhavet, L., Franckhauser, C., Rana, V., Berthenet, C., Fisher, D., Hemmings, B. A., Fernandez, A. and Lamb, N. J. C. (2006). Only Akt1 is required for proliferation, while Akt2 promotes cell cycle exit through p21 binding. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 26, 8267–80.
- Herrera, M. B., Bruno, S., Buttiglieri, S., Tetta, C., Gatti, S., Deregibus, M. C., Bussolati, B. and Camussi, G. (2006). Isolation and characterization of a stem cell population from adult human liver. Stem Cells 24, 2840–50.
- Herrmann, H., Strelkov, S. V, Burkhard, P. and Aebi, U. (2009). Intermediate filaments: primary determinants of cell architecture and plasticity. J. Clin. Invest. 119, 1772–83.
- Hirai, T. (2003). Protein Kinase Czeta (PKCzeta): Activation Mechanisms and Cellular Functions. J. Biochem. 133, 1-7.
- Hockfield, S. and McKay, R. D. (1985). Identification of major cell classes in the developing mammalian nervous system. J. Neurosci. 5, 3310–28.
- Hosokawa, T., Saito, T., Asada, A., Fukunaga, K. and Hisanaga, S.-I. (2010). Quantitative measurement of in vivo phosphorylation states of Cdk5 activator p35 by Phos-tag SDS-PAGE. Mol. Cell. Proteomics 9, 1133–43.
- Hsu, F.-N., Chen, M.-C., Chiang, M.-C., Lin, E., Lee, Y.-T., Huang, P.-H., Lee, G.-S. and Lin, H. (2011). Regulation of androgen receptor and prostate cancer growth by cyclin-dependent kinase 5. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 33141–9.
- Hsu, F.-N., Chen, M.-C., Lin, K.-C., Peng, Y.-T., Li, P.-C., Lin, E., Chiang, M.-C., Hsieh, J.-T. and Lin, H. (2013). Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 modulates STAT3 and androgen receptor activation through phosphorylation of Ser727 on STAT3 in prostate cancer cells. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 305, E975–86.
- Huang, D., Patrick, G., Moffat, J., Tsai, L.-H. and Andrews, B. (1999). Mammalian Cdk5 is a functional homologue of the budding yeast Pho85 cyclin-dependent protein kinase. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 96, 14445–14450.
- Huang, Y.-L., Shi, G.-Y., Jiang, M.-J., Lee, H., Chou, Y.-W., Wu, H.-L. and Yang, H.-Y. (2008). Epidermal growth factor up-regulates the expression of nestin through the Ras-Raf-ERK signaling axis in rat vascular smooth muscle cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 377, 361–6.

- Huang, C., Rajfur, Z., Yousefi, N., Chen, Z., Jacobson, K. and Ginsberg, M. H. (2009a). Talin phosphorylation by Cdk5 regulates Smurflmediated talin head ubiquitylation and cell migration. Nat. Cell Biol. 11, 624–30.
- Huang, Y.-L., Shi, G.-Y., Lee, H., Jiang, M.-J., Huang, B.-M., Wu, H.-L. and Yang, H.-Y. (2009b). Thrombin induces nestin expression via the transactivation of EGFR signalings in rat vascular smooth muscle cells. Cell. Signal. 21, 954–68.
- Huang, Y.-L., Wu, C.-M., Shi, G.-Y., Wu, G. C.-C., Lee, H., Jiang, M.-J., Wu, H.-L. and Yang, H.-Y. (2009c). Nestin serves as a prosurvival determinant that is linked to the cytoprotective effect of epidermal growth factor in rat vascular smooth muscle cells. J. Biochem. 146, 307–15.
- Humbert, S., Dhavan, R. and Tsai, L. (2000). P39 Activates Cdk5 in Neurons, and Is Associated With the Actin Cytoskeleton. J. Cell Sci. 113 (Pt 6, 975–83.
- Hyder, C. L., Lazaro, G., Pylvänäinen, J. W., Roberts, M. W. G., Qvarnström, S. M. and Eriksson, J. E. (2014). Nestin regulates prostate cancer cell invasion by influencing the localisation and functions of FAK and integrins. J. Cell Sci. 127, 2161–73.
- Imanishi, S. Y., Kochin, V., Ferraris, S. E., de Thonel, A., Pallari, H.-M., Corthals, G. L. and Eriksson, J. E. (2007). Reference-facilitated phosphoproteomics: fast and reliable phosphopeptide validation by microLC-ESI-Q-TOF MS/MS. Mol. Cell. Proteomics 6, 1380–91.
- Ishiwata, T., Matsuda, Y. and Naito, Z. (2011a). Nestin in gastrointestinal and other cancers: effects on cells and tumor angiogenesis. World J. Gastroenterol. 17, 409–18.
- Ishiwata, T., Teduka, K., Yamamoto, T., Kawahara, K., Matsuda, Y. and Naito, Z. (2011b). Neuroepithelial stem cell marker nestin regulates the migration, invasion and growth of human gliomas. Oncol. Rep. 26, 91–9.
- Ishizaki, M., Ishiwata, T., Adachi, A., Tamura, N., Ghazizadeh, M., Kitamura, H., Sugisaki, Y., Yamanaka, N., Naito, Z. and Fukuda, Y. (2006). Expression of nestin in rat and human glomerular podocytes. J. Submicrosc. Cytol. Pathol. 38, 193–200.
- Ito, Y., Asada, A., Kobayashi, H., Takano, T., Sharma, G., Saito, T., Ohta, Y., Amano, M., Kaibuchi, K. and Hisanaga, S.-I. (2014). Preferential targeting of p39-activated Cdk5 to Rac1-induced lamellipodia. Mol. Cell. Neurosci. 61, 34–45.
- Jalouli, M., Lapierre, L. R., Guérette, D., Blais, K., Lee, J.-A., Cole, G. J. and Vincent, M. (2010). Transitin is required for the differentiation of avian QM7 myoblasts into myotubes. Dev. Dyn. 239, 3038–47.
- Jensen, M. R., Audolfsson, T., Factor, V. M. and Thorgeirsson, S. S. (2000). In vivo expression and genomic organization of the mouse cyclin I gene (Ccni). Gene 256. 59–67.
- Jin, J.-K., Tien, P.-C., Cheng, C.-J., Song, J. H., Huang, C., Lin, S.-H. and Gallick, G. E. (2014). Talin1 phosphorylation activates β1 integrins: a novel mechanism to promote prostate cancer bone metastasis. Oncogene.
- Johansson, J. U., Lilja, L., Chen, X.-L., Higashida, H., Meister, B., Noda, M., Zhong, Z.-G., Yokoyama, S., Berggren, P.-O. and Bark, C. (2005). Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 activators p35 and p39 facilitate formation of functional synapses. *Brain Res. Mol. Brain Res.* 138, 215–27.
- Josephson, R., Müller, T., Pickel, J., Okabe, S., Reynolds, K., Turner, P. A., Zimmer, A. and McKay, R. D. (1998). POU transcription factors control expression of CNS stem cell-specific genes. *Development* 125, 3087–100.
- Kachinsky, A. M., Dominov, J. A. and Miller, J. B. (1994). Myogenesis and the intermediate filament protein, nestin. Dev. Biol. 165, 216–28.
- Kachinsky, A. M., Dominov, J. A. and Miller, J. B. (1995). Intermediate filaments in cardiac myogenesis: nestin in the developing mouse heart. J. Histochem. Cytochem. 43, 843–7.
- Kamei, H., Saito, T., Ozawa, M., Fujita, Y., Asada, A., Bibb, J. A., Saido, T. C., Sorimachi, H. and Hisanaga, S.-I. (2007). Suppression of calpain-dependent cleavage of the CDK5 activator p35 to p25 by site-specific phosphorylation. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 1687–94.
- Kang, H., Tian, L., Son, Y.-J., Zuo, Y., Procaccino, D., Love, F., Hayworth, C., Trachtenberg, J., Mikesh, M., Sutton, L., et al. (2007). Regulation of the intermediate filament protein nestin at rodent neuromuscular junctions by innervation and activity. J. Neurosci. 27, 5948–57.
- Kawaguchi, A., Miyata, T., Sawamoto, K., Takashita, N., Murayama, A., Akamatsu, W., Ogawa, M., Okabe, M., Tano, Y., Goldman, S. A., et al. (2001). Nestin-EGFP transgenic mice: visualization of the self-renewal and multipotency of CNS stem cells. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 17, 259–73.
- Kawauchi, T., Chihama, K., Nabeshima, Y. and Hoshino, M. (2006). Cdk5 phosphorylates and stabilizes p27kip1 contributing to actin organization and cortical neuronal migration. Nat. Cell Biol. 8, 17–26.
- Kesavapany, S., Lau, K.-F., McLoughlin, D. M., Brownlees, J., Ackerley, S., Leigh, P. N., Shaw, C. E. and Miller, C. C. J. (2001). p35/cdk5 binds and phosphorylates β-catenin and regulates β-catenin/presenilin-1 interaction. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 13, 241–247.
- Kim, Y., Sung, J. Y., Ceglia, I., Lee, K.-W., Ahn, J.-H., Halford, J. M., Kim, A. M., Kwak, S. P., Park, J. B., Ho Ryu, S., et al. (2006). Phosphorylation of WAVE1 regulates actin polymerization and dendritic spine morphology. *Nature* 442, 814–7.
- Kino, T., Ichijo, T., Amin, N. D., Kesavapany, S., Wang, Y., Kim, N., Rao, S., Player, A., Zheng, Y.-L., Garabedian, M. J., et al. (2007). Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 differentially regulates the transcriptional activity of the glucocorticoid receptor through phosphorylation: clinical implications for the nervous system response to glucocorticoids and stress. *Mol. Endocrinol.* 21, 1552–68.
- Kino, T., Jaffe, H., Amin, N. D., Chakrabarti, M., Zheng, Y.-L., Chrousos, G. P. and Pant, H. C. (2010). Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 modulates the transcriptional activity of the mineralocorticoid receptor and regulates expression of brain-derived neurotrophic factor. *Mol. Endocrinol.* 24, 941–52.
- Kishaba, Y., Matsubara, D. and Niki, T. (2010). Heterogeneous expression of nestin in myofibroblasts of various human tissues. Pathol. Int. 60, 378–85.
- Kissler, A. E., Pettersson, N., Frölich, A., Sigrist, S. J. and Suter, B. (2009). Drosophila cdk5 is needed for locomotive behavior and NMJ elaboration, but seems dispensable for synaptic transmission. Dev. Neurobiol. 69, 365–77.
- Kitzmann, M., Vandromme, M., Schaeffer, V., Carnac, G., Labbe, J.-C., Lamb, N. and Fernandez, A. (1999). cdk1- and cdk2-Mediated Phosphorylation of MyoD Ser200 in Growing C2 Myoblasts: Role in Modulating MyoD Half-Life and Myogenic Activity. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 19, 3167–3176.
- Kleeberger, W., Bova, G. S., Nielsen, M. E., Herawi, M., Chuang, A.-Y., Epstein, J. I. and Berman, D. M. (2007). Roles for the stem cell associated intermediate filament Nestin in prostate cancer migration and metastasis. *Cancer Res.* 67, 9199–206.
- Ko, J., Humbert, S., Bronson, R. T., Takahashi, S., Kulkarni, A. B., Li, E. and Tsai, L.-H. (2001). p35 and p39 Are Essential for Cyclin-Dependent Kinase 5 Function during Neurodevelopment. J. Neurosci. 21, 6758–6771.
- Kobayashi, H., Saito, T., Sato, K., Furusawa, K., Hosokawa, T., Tsutsumi, K., Asada, A., Kamada, S., Ohshima, T. and Hisanaga, S. (2014). Phosphorylation of cyclin-dependent kinase 5 (Cdk5) at Tyr-15 is inhibited by Cdk5 activators and does not contribute to the activation of Cdk5. *J. Biol. Chem.* 289, 19627–36.

- Kochin, V., Shimi, T., Torvaldson, E., Adam, S. A., Goldman, A., Pack, C.-G., Melo-Cardenas, J., Imanishi, S. Y., Goldman, R. D. and Eriksson, J. E. (2014). Interphase phosphorylation of lamin A. J. Cell Sci. 127, 2683–96.
- Kojima, K., Takebayashi, S., Nakagawa, T., Iwai, K. and Ito, J. (2004). Nestin expression in the developing rat cochlea sensory epithelia. Acta Otolaryngol. Suppl. 14–7.
- Kramerova, I., Beckmann, J. S. and Spencer, M. J. (2007). Molecular and cellular basis of calpainopathy (limb girdle muscular dystrophy type 2A). Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1772, 128–44.

Ku, N.-O. and Omary, M. B. (2006). A disease- and phosphorylation-related nonmechanical function for keratin 8. J. Cell Biol. 174, 115-25.

- Kuo, H.-S., Hsu, F.-N., Chiang, M.-C., You, S.-C., Chen, M.-C., Lo, M.-J. and Lin, H. (2009). The role of Cdk5 in retinoic acid-induced apoptosis of cervical cancer cell line. Chin. I. Physiol. 52, 23–30.
- Kusakawa, G., Saito, T., Onuki, R., Ishiguro, K., Kishimoto, T. and Hisanaga, S. (2000). Calpain-dependent proteolytic cleavage of the p35 cyclin-dependent kinase 5 activator to p25. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 17166–72.
- Kwon, Y. T., Gupta, A., Zhou, Y., Nikolic, M. and Tsai, L. H. (2000). Regulation of N-cadherin-mediated adhesion by the p35-Cdk5 kinase. Curr. Biol. 10, 363–72.
- Lachenmayer, A., Lichtenauer, U. D., Cox, T., Schott, M., Malendowicz, L. K., Goretzki, P. E., Cupisti, K., Scherbaum, W. A., Bornstein, S. R. and Willenberg, H. S. (2009). Nestin as a marker in the classification of adrenocortical tumors. *Horm. Metab. Res.* 41, 397–401.
- Lai, S., Piras, F., Spiga, S., Perra, M. T., Minerba, L., Piga, M., Mura, E., Murtas, D., Demurtas, P., Corrias, M., et al. (2013). Nestin and vimentin colocalization affects the subcellular location of glucocorticoid receptor in cutaneous melanoma. *Histopathology* 62, 487–98.
- Lalioti, V., Muruais, G., Dinarina, A., van Damme, J., Vandekerckhove, J. and Sandoval, I. V (2009). The atypical kinase Cdk5 is activated by insulin, regulates the association between GLUT4 and E-Syt1, and modulates glucose transport in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 106, 4249–53.
- Lardon, J., Rooman, I. and Bouwens, L. (2002). Nestin expression in pancreatic stellate cells and angiogenic endothelial cells. Histochem. Cell Biol. 117, 535–40.
- Lazaro, J. B., Kitzmann, M., Poul, M. A., Vandromme, M., Lamb, N. J. and Fernandez, A. (1997). Cyclin dependent kinase 5, cdk5, is a positive regulator of myogenesis in mouse C2 cells. J. Cell Sci. 110 (Pt 1, 1251–60.
- Lee, M. S., Kwon, Y. T., Li, M., Peng, J., Friedlander, R. M. and Tsai, L. H. (2000). Neurotoxicity induces cleavage of p35 to p25 by calpain. Nature 405, 360–4.
- Lee, K.-Y., Rosales, J. L., Lee, B.-C., Chung, S.-H., Fukui, Y., Lee, N.-S., Lee, K.-Y. and Jeong, Y.-G. (2004). Cdk5/p35 expression in the mouse ovary. Mol. Cells 17, 17–22.
- Lee, K.-Y., Mummery, A., Park, J., Tariq, H. and Rosales, J. L. (2010). Localization of CDK5 in the midbody and increased aneuploidy in CDK5-/- cells. Cell Cycle 9, 3629–30.
- Lee, K.-Y., Liu, L., Jin, Y., Fu, S.-B. and Rosales, J. L. (2012a). Cdk5 mediates vimentin Ser56 phosphorylation during GTP-induced secretion by neutrophils. J. Cell. Physiol. 227, 739–50.
- Lee, J.-H., Park, H.-S., Shin, J. M., Chun, M.-H. and Oh, S.-J. (2012b). Nestin expressing progenitor cells during establishment of the neural retina and its vasculature. Anat. Cell Biol. 45, 38–46.
- Lee, C.-W., Zhan, Q., Lezcano, C., Frank, M. H., Huang, J., Larson, A. R., Lin, J. Y., Wan, M. T., Lin, P.-I., Ma, J., et al. (2014). Nestin depletion induces melanoma matrix metalloproteinases and invasion. *Lab. Invest.*
- Lendahl, U., Zimmerman, L. B. and McKay, R. D. (1990). CNS stem cells express a new class of intermediate filament protein. Cell 60, 585–95. Lepper, C., Partridge, T. A. and Fan, C.-M. (2011). An absolute requirement for Pax7-positive satellite cells in acute injury-induced skeletal
- muscle regeneration. Development 138, 3639-46. Leshchenko, V. V, Kuo, P.-Y., Shaknovich, R., Yang, D. T., Gellen, T., Petrich, A., Yu, Y., Remache, Y., Weniger, M. A., Rafiq, S., et al.
- (2010). Genomewide DNA methylation analysis reveals novel targets for drug development in mantle cell lymphoma. Blood 116, 1025-34.
- Lew, J., Beaudette, K., Litwin, C. M. and Wang, J. H. (1992a). Purification and characterization of a novel proline-directed protein kinase from bovine brain. J. Biol. Chem. 267, 13383–90.
- Lew, J., Winkfein, R. J., Paudel, H. K. and Wang, J. H. (1992b). Brain proline-directed protein kinase is a neurofilament kinase which displays high sequence homology to p34cdc2. J. Biol. Chem. 267, 25922–6.
- Lew, J., Huang, Q. Q., Qi, Z., Winkfein, R. J., Aebersold, R., Hunt, T. and Wang, J. H. (1994). A brain-specific activator of cyclin-dependent kinase 5. Nature 371, 423–6.
- Levacque, Z., Rosales, J. L. and Lee, K.-Y. (2012). Level of cdk5 expression predicts the survival of relapsed multiple myeloma patients. Cell Cycle 11, 4093–5.
- Li, H., Choudhary, S. K., Milner, D. J., Munir, M. I., Kuisk, I. R. and Capetanaki, Y. (1994). Inhibition of desmin expression blocks myoblast fusion and interferes with the myogenic regulators MyoD and myogenin. J. Cell Biol. 124, 827–41.
- Li, Z., Mericskay, M., Agbulut, O., Butler-Browne, G., Carlsson, L., Thornell, L. E., Babinet, C. and Paulin, D. (1997). Desmin is essential for the tensile strength and integrity of myofibrils but not for myogenic commitment, differentiation, and fusion of skeletal muscle. J. Cell Biol. 139, 129–44.
- Li, B.-S., Zhang, L., Gu, J., Amin, N. D. and Pant, H. C. (2000). Integrin alpha 1beta 1-Mediated Activation of Cyclin-Dependent Kinase 5 Activity Is Involved in Neurite Outgrowth and Human Neurofilament Protein H Lys-Ser-Pro Tail Domain Phosphorylation. J. Neurosci. 20, 6055–6062.
- Li, B. S., Sun, M. K., Zhang, L., Takahashi, S., Ma, W., Vinade, L., Kulkarni, A. B., Brady, R. O. and Pant, H. C. (2001). Regulation of NMDA receptors by cyclin-dependent kinase-5. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 98, 12742–7.
- Li, B.-S., Zhang, L., Takahashi, S., Ma, W., Jaffe, H., Kulkarni, A. B. and Pant, H. C. (2002). Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 prevents neuronal apoptosis by negative regulation of c-Jun N-terminal kinase 3. EMBO J. 21, 324–33.
- Li, L., Mignone, J., Yang, M., Matic, M., Penman, S., Enikolopov, G. and Hoffman, R. M. (2003). Nestin expression in hair follicle sheath progenitor cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 100, 9958–61.
- Li, H., Cherukuri, P., Li, N., Cowling, V., Spinella, M., Cole, M., Godwin, A. K., Wells, W. and DiRenzo, J. (2007). Nestin is expressed in the basal/myoepithelial layer of the mammary gland and is a selective marker of basal epithelial breast tumors. *Cancer Res.* 67, 501–10.
- Liang, Q., Li, L., Zhang, J., Lei, Y., Wang, L., Liu, D.-X., Feng, J., Hou, P., Yao, R., Zhang, Y., et al. (2013). CDK5 is essential for TGF-β1induced epithelial-mesenchymal transition and breast cancer progression. Sci. Rep. 3, 2932.
- Lilja, L., Yang, S. N., Webb, D. L., Juntti-Berggren, L., Berggren, P. O. and Bark, C. (2001). Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 promotes insulin exocytosis. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 34199–205.

- Lilja, L., Johansson, J. U., Gromada, J., Mandic, S. A., Fried, G., Berggren, P.-O. and Bark, C. (2004). Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 associated with p39 promotes Munc18-1 phosphorylation and Ca(2+)-dependent exocytosis. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 29534–41.
- Lin, H., Juang, J.-L. and Wang, P. S. (2004). Involvement of Cdk5/p25 in digoxin-triggered prostate cancer cell apoptosis. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 29302–7.
- Lin, W., Dominguez, B., Yang, J., Aryal, P., Brandon, E. P., Gage, F. H. and Lee, K.-F. (2005). Neurotransmitter acetylcholine negatively regulates neuromuscular synapse formation by a Cdk5-dependent mechanism. *Neuron* 46, 569–79.

Lin, H., Chen, M.-C., Chiu, C.-Y., Song, Y.-M. and Lin, S.-Y. (2007). Cdk5 regulates STAT3 activation and cell proliferation in medullary thyroid carcinoma cells. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 2776–84.

Lin, H., Chen, M.-C. and Ku, C.-T. (2009). Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 regulates steroidogenic acute regulatory protein and androgen production in mouse Leydig cells. *Endocrinology* 150, 396–403.

Liu, F., Su, Y., Li, B., Zhou, Y., Ryder, J., Gonzalez-DeWhitt, P., May, P. C. and Ni, B. (2003). Regulation of amyloid precursor protein (APP) phosphorylation and processing by p35/Cdk5 and p25/Cdk5. FEBS Lett. 547, 193–6.

- Liu, R., Tian, B., Gearing, M., Hunter, S., Ye, K. and Mao, Z. (2008). Cdk5-mediated regulation of the PIKE-A-Akt pathway and glioblastoma cell invasion. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 105, 7570–5.
- Liu, C., Chen, B., Zhu, J., Zhang, R., Yao, F., Jin, F., Xu, H. and Lu, P. (2010). Clinical implications for nestin protein expression in breast cancer. Cancer Sci. 101, 815–9.
- Liu, W., Zhang, Y., Hao, J., Liu, S., Liu, Q., Zhao, S., Shi, Y. and Duan, H. (2012). Nestin protects mouse podocytes against high glucoseinduced apoptosis by a Cdk5-dependent mechanism. J. Cell. Biochem. 113, 3186–96.
- Liu, W., Zhang, Y., Liu, S., Liu, Q., Hao, J., Shi, Y., Zhao, S. and Duan, H. (2013). The expression of intermediate filament protein nestin and its association with cyclin-dependent kinase 5 in the glomeruli of rats with diabetic nephropathy. Am. J. Med. Sci. 345, 470–7.
- Lobo, M. V. T., Arenas, M. I., Alonso, F. J. M., Gomez, G., Bazán, E., Paíno, C. L., Fernández, E., Fraile, B., Paniagua, R., Moyano, A., et al. (2004). Nestin, a neuroectodermal stem cell marker molecule, is expressed in Leydig cells of the human testis and in some specific cell types from human testicular tumours. *Cell Tissue Res.* **316**, 369–76.
- Lockwood, W. W., Chari, R., Coe, B. P., Girard, L., Macaulay, C., Lam, S., Gazdar, A. F., Minna, J. D. and Lam, W. L. (2008). DNA amplification is a ubiquitous mechanism of oncogene activation in lung and other cancers. Oncogene 27, 4615–24.
- Lowman, X. H., McDonnell, M. A., Kosloske, A., Odumade, O. A., Jenness, C., Karim, C. B., Jemmerson, R. and Kelekar, A. (2010). The proapoptotic function of Noxa in human leukemia cells is regulated by the kinase Cdk5 and by glucose. *Mol. Cell* 40, 823–33.
- Lu, J. T., Muchir, A., Nagy, P. L. and Worman, H. J. (2011). LMNA cardiomyopathy: cell biology and genetics meet clinical medicine. Dis. Model. Mech. 4, 562–8.
- Luo, F., Burke, K., Kantor, C., Miller, R. H. and Yang, Y. (2014). Cyclin-Dependent Kinase 5 Mediates Adult OPC Maturation and Myelin Repair through Modulation of Akt and GsK-3β Signaling. J. Neurosci. 34, 10415–29.
- Mahler, J. and Driever, W. (2007). Expression of the zebrafish intermediate neurofilament Nestin in the developing nervous system and in neural proliferation zones at postembryonic stages. BMC Dev. Biol. 7, 89.

Majumder, P. K. and Sellers, W. R. (2005). Akt-regulated pathways in prostate cancer. Oncogene 24, 7465-74.

- Mann, C. J., Perdiguero, E., Kharraz, Y., Aguilar, S., Pessina, P., Serrano, A. L. and Muñoz-Cánoves, P. (2011). Aberrant repair and fibrosis development in skeletal muscle. Skelet. Muscle 1, 21.
- Manning, G., Whyte, D. B., Martinez, R., Hunter, T. and Sudarsanam, S. (2002). The protein kinase complement of the human genome. Science 298, 1912–34.
- Matsuda, Y., Naito, Z., Kawahara, K., Nakazawa, N., Korc, M. and Ishiwata, T. (2011). Nestin is a novel target for suppressing pancreatic cancer cell migration, invasion and metastasis. *Cancer Biol. Ther*, 11, 512–23.
- Matsuda, Y., Hagio, M. and Ishiwata, T. (2013). Nestin: a novel angiogenesis marker and possible target for tumor angiogenesis. World J. Gastroenterol. 19, 42–8.
- Mellodew, K., Suhr, R., Uwanogho, D. A., Reuter, I., Lendahl, U., Hodges, H. and Price, J. (2004). Nestin expression is lost in a neural stem cell line through a mechanism involving the proteasome and Notch signalling. *Brain Res. Dev. Brain Res.* 151, 13–23.
- Mendez, R., Kollmorgen, G., White, M. and Rhoads, R. (1997). Requirement of protein kinase C zeta for stimulation of protein synthesis by insulin. Mol. Cell. Biol. 17, 5184–5192.
- Méndez-Ferrer, S., Michurina, T. V, Ferraro, F., Mazloom, A. R., Macarthur, B. D., Lira, S. A., Scadden, D. T., Ma'ayan, A., Enikolopov, G. N. and Frenette, P. S. (2010). Mesenchymal and haematopoietic stem cells form a unique bone marrow niche. Nature 466, 829–34.
- Meyerson, M., Enders, G. H., Wu, C. L., Su, L. K., Gorka, C., Nelson, C., Harlow, E. and Tsai, L. H. (1992). A family of human cdc2-related protein kinases. *EMBO J.* 11, 2909–17.
- Middeldorp, J. and Hol, E. M. (2011). GFAP in health and disease. Prog. Neurobiol. 93, 421-43.
- Mignone, J. L., Kukekov, V., Chiang, A.-S., Steindler, D. and Enikolopov, G. (2004). Neural stem and progenitor cells in nestin-GFP transgenic mice. J. Comp. Neurol. 469, 311–24.
- Mii, S., Amoh, Y., Katsuoka, K. and Hoffman, R. M. (2014). Comparison of nestin-expressing multipotent stem cells in the tongue fungiform papilla and vibrissa hair follicle. J. Cell. Biochem. 115, 1070–6.
- Milner, D. J., Weitzer, G., Tran, D., Bradley, A. and Capetanaki, Y. (1996). Disruption of muscle architecture and myocardial degeneration in mice lacking desmin. J. Cell Biol. 134, 1255–70.
- Minegishi, S., Asada, A., Miyauchi, S., Fuchigami, T., Saito, T. and Hisanaga, S.-I. (2010). Membrane association facilitates degradation and cleavage of the cyclin-dependent kinase 5 activators p35 and p39. *Biochemistry* 49, 5482–93.
- Mitchell, K. J., Pannérec, A., Cadot, B., Parlakian, A., Besson, V., Gomes, E. R., Marazzi, G. and Sassoon, D. A. (2010). Identification and characterization of a non-satellite cell muscle resident progenitor during postnatal development. Nat. Cell Biol. 12, 257–66.

Miyagoe-Suzuki, Y., Fukada, S. and Takeda, S. (2012). Muscular Dystrophy. In (ed. Hegde, M.), InTech.

- Mohseni, P., Sung, H.-K., Murphy, A. J., Laliberte, C. L., Pallari, H.-M., Henkelman, M., Georgiou, J., Xie, G., Quaggin, S. E., Thorner, P. S., et al. (2011). Nestin is not essential for development of the CNS but required for dispersion of acetylcholine receptor clusters at the area of neuromuscular junctions. J. Neurosci. 31, 11547–52.
- Mokrý, J., Cízková, D., Filip, S., Ehrmann, J., Osterreicher, J., Kolár, Z. and English, D. (2004). Nestin expression by newly formed human blood vessels. Stem Cells Dev. 13, 658–64.
- Morabito, M. A., Sheng, M. and Tsai, L.-H. (2004). Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 phosphorylates the N-terminal domain of the postsynaptic density protein PSD-95 in neurons. J. Neurosci. 24, 865–76.

- Muchir, A., Shan, J., Bonne, G., Lehnart, S. E. and Worman, H. J. (2009). Inhibition of extracellular signal-regulated kinase signaling to prevent cardiomyopathy caused by mutation in the gene encoding A-type lamins. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 18, 241–7.
- Muchir, A., Kim, Y. J., Reilly, S. A., Wu, W., Choi, J. C. and Worman, H. J. (2013). Inhibition of extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2 signaling has beneficial effects on skeletal muscle in a mouse model of Emery-Dreifuss muscular dystrophy caused by lamin A/C gene mutation. Skelet. Muscle 3, 17.
- Murray, M. E., Mendez, M. G. and Janmey, P. A. (2014). Substrate stiffness regulates solubility of cellular vimentin. Mol. Biol. Cell 25, 87-94.
- Muruáis, G., Lalioti, V. and Sandoval, I. V (2009). The Cdk5 inhibitor roscovitine strongly inhibits glucose uptake in 3T3-L1 adipocytes without altering GLUT4 translocation from internal pools to the cell surface. J. Cell. Physiol. 220, 238–44.
- Musa, F. R., Tokuda, M., Kuwata, Y., Ogawa, T., Tomizawa, K., Konishi, R., Takenaka, I. and Hatase, O. (1998). Expression of cyclindependent kinase 5 and associated cyclins in Leydig and Sertoli cells of the testis. J. Androl. 19, 657–66.
- Musa, F. R., Takenaka, I., Konishi, R. and Tokuda, M. (2000). Effects of luteinizing hormone, follicle-stimulating hormone, and epidermal growth factor on expression and kinase activity of cyclin-dependent kinase 5 in Leydig TM3 and Sertoli TM4 cell lines. J. Androl. 21, 392–402.
- Nagano, T., Hashimoto, T., Nakashima, A., Hisanaga, S., Kikkawa, U. and Kamada, S. (2013). Cyclin I is involved in the regulation of cell cycle progression. *Cell Cycle* 12, 2617–24.
- Nakamura, S., Kawamoto, Y., Nakano, S., Akiguchi, I. and Kimura, J. (1997). p35nck5a and cyclin-dependent kinase 5 colocalize in Lewy bodies of brains with Parkinson's disease. Acta Neuropathol. 94, 153–7.
- Nakano, S., Akiguchi, I., Nakamura, S., Satoi, H., Kawashima, S. and Kimura, J. (1999). Aberrant expression of cyclin-dependent kinase 5 in inclusion body myositis. *Neurology* 53, 1671–6.
- Neri, L. M., Martelli, A. M., Borgatti, P., Colamussi, M. L., Marchisio, M. and Capitani, S. (1999). Increase in nuclear phosphatidylinositol 3kinase activity and phosphatidylinositol (3,4,5) trisphosphate synthesis precede PKC-{zeta} translocation to the nucleus of NGFtreated PC12 cells. FASEB J 13, 2299–2310.
- Nguyen, M. D., Larivière, R. C. and Julien, J.-P. (2001). Deregulation of Cdk5 in a Mouse Model of ALS. Neuron 30, 135-148.
- Niethammer, M., Smith, D. S., Ayala, R., Peng, J., Ko, J., Lee, M. S., Morabito, M. and Tsai, L. H. (2000). NUDEL is a novel Cdk5 substrate that associates with LIS1 and cytoplasmic dynein. *Neuron* 28, 697–711.
- Niki, T., Pekny, M., Hellemans, K., Bleser, P. D., Berg, K. V, Vaeyens, F., Quartier, E., Schuit, F. and Geerts, A. (1999). Class VI intermediate filament protein nestin is induced during activation of rat hepatic stellate cells. *Hepatology* 29, 520–7.
- Nikolic, M., Dudek, H., Kwon, Y. T., Ramos, Y. F. and Tsai, L. H. (1996). The cdk5/p35 kinase is essential for neurite outgrowth during neuronal differentiation. Genes Dev. 10, 816–825.
- Noble, W., Olm, V., Takata, K., Casey, E., Mary, O., Meyerson, J., Gaynor, K., LaFrancois, J., Wang, L., Kondo, T., et al. (2003). Cdk5 is a key factor in tau aggregation and tangle formation in vivo. *Neuron* 38, 555–65.
- Nohara, A., Okada, S., Ohshima, K., Pessin, J. E. and Mori, M. (2011). Cyclin-dependent kinase-5 is a key molecule in tumor necrosis factorα-induced insulin resistance. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 33457-65.
- Oda, E., Ohki, R., Murasawa, H., Nemoto, J., Shibue, T., Yamashita, T., Tokino, T., Taniguchi, T. and Tanaka, N. (2000). Noxa, a BH3-only member of the Bcl-2 family and candidate mediator of p53-induced apoptosis. *Science* 288, 1053–8.
- Odajima, J., Wills, Z. P., Ndassa, Y. M., Terunuma, M., Kretschmannova, K., Deeb, T. Z., Geng, Y., Gawrzak, S., Quadros, I. M., Newman, J., et al. (2011). Cyclin E constrains Cdk5 activity to regulate synaptic plasticity and memory formation. *Dev. Cell* 21, 655–68.
- Ohshima, T., Ward, J. M., Huh, C. G., Longenecker, G., Veeranna, Pant, H. C., Brady, R. O., Martin, L. J. and Kulkarni, a B. (1996). Targeted disruption of the cyclin-dependent kinase 5 gene results in abnormal corticogenesis, neuronal pathology and perinatal death. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 93, 11173–8.
- Oikawa, H., Hayashi, K., Maesawa, C., Masuda, T. and Sobue, K. (2010). Expression profiles of nestin in vascular smooth muscle cells in vivo and in vitro. Exp. Cell Res. 316, 940-50.
- Okada, S., Yamada, E., Saito, T., Ohshima, K., Hashimoto, K., Yamada, M., Uchara, Y., Tsuchiya, T., Shimizu, H., Tatei, K., et al. (2008). CDK5-dependent phosphorylation of the Rho family GTPase TC10(alpha) regulates insulin-stimulated GLUT4 translocation. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 35455–63.
- Ono, N., Ono, W., Mizoguchi, T., Nagasawa, T., Frenette, P. S. and Kronenberg, H. M. (2014). Vasculature-associated cells expressing nestin in developing bones encompass early cells in the osteoblast and endothelial lineage. Dev. Cell 29, 330–9.
- Pant, A. C., Pant, H. C., Amin, N. and Veeranna (1997). Phosphorylation of human high molecular weight neurofilament protein (hNF-H) by neuronal cyclin-dependent kinase 5 (cdk5). Brain Res. 765, 259–266.
- Pareek, T. K., Keller, J., Kesavapany, S., Pant, H. C., Iadarola, M. J., Brady, R. O. and Kulkarni, A. B. (2006). Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 activity regulates pain signaling. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 103, 791–6.
- Pareek, T. K., Keller, J., Kesavapany, S., Agarwal, N., Kuner, R., Pant, H. C., Iadarola, M. J., Brady, R. O. and Kulkarni, A. B. (2007). Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 modulates nociceptive signaling through direct phosphorylation of transient receptor potential vanilloid 1. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 104, 660–5.
- Pareek, T. K., Lam, E., Zheng, X., Askew, D., Kulkarni, A. B., Chance, M. R., Huang, A. Y., Cooke, K. R. and Letterio, J. J. (2010). Cyclindependent kinase 5 activity is required for T cell activation and induction of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J. Exp. Med. 207, 2507–19.
- Park, D., Xiang, A. P., Mao, F. F., Zhang, L., Di, C.-G., Liu, X.-M., Shao, Y., Ma, B.-F., Lee, J.-H., Ha, K.-S., et al. (2010). Nestin is required for the proper self-renewal of neural stem cells. Stem Cells 28, 2162–71.
- Pasut, A., Oleynik, P. and Rudnicki, M. A. (2012). Isolation of muscle stem cells by fluorescence activated cell sorting cytometry. Methods Mol. Biol. 798, 53–64.
- Patrick, G. N., Zhou, P., Kwon, Y. T., Howley, P. M. and Tsai, L.-H. (1998a). p35, the Neuronal-specific Activator of Cyclin-dependent Kinase 5 (Cdk5) Is Degraded by the Ubiquitin-Proteasome Pathway. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 24057–24064.
- Patrick, G. N., Zhou, P., Kwon, Y. T., Howley, P. M. and Tsai, L.-H. (1998b). p35, the Neuronal-specific Activator of Cyclin-dependent Kinase 5 (Cdk5) Is Degraded by the Ubiquitin-Proteasome Pathway. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 24057–24064.
- Patrick, G. N., Zukerberg, L., Nikolic, M., de la Monte, S., Dikkes, P. and Tsai, L. H. (1999). Conversion of p35 to p25 deregulates Cdk5 activity and promotes neurodegeneration. *Nature* 402, 615–22.
- Patzke, H. and Tsai, L.-H. (2002a). Cdk5 sinks into ALS. Trends Neurosci. 25, 8–10.
- Patzke, H. and Tsai, L.-H. (2002b). Calpain-mediated cleavage of the cyclin-dependent kinase-5 activator p39 to p29. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 8054–60.

Paulin, D. and Li, Z. (2004). Desmin: a major intermediate filament protein essential for the structural integrity and function of muscle. Exp. Cell Res. 301, 1–7.

Paulin, D., Huet, A., Khanamyrian, L. and Xue, Z. (2004). Desminopathies in muscle disease. J. Pathol. 204, 418-27.

Perry, J., Ho, M., Viero, S., Zheng, K., Jacobs, R. and Thorner, P. S. (2007). The intermediate filament nestin is highly expressed in normal human podocytes and podocytes in glomerular disease. *Pediatr. Dev. Pathol.* 10, 369–82.

- Peter, M., Nakagawa, J., Dorée, M., Labbé, J. C. and Nigg, E. A. (1990). In vitro disassembly of the nuclear lamina and M phase-specific phosphorylation of lamins by cdc2 kinase. Cell 61, 591–602.
- Peuhu, E., Rivero-Müller, A., Stykki, H., Torvaldson, E., Holmbom, T., Eklund, P., Unkila, M., Sjöholm, R. and Eriksson, J. E. (2010). Inhibition of Akt signaling by the lignan matairesinol sensitizes prostate cancer cells to TRAIL-induced apoptosis. Oncogene 29, 898– 908.
- Philpott, A., Porro, E. B., Kirschner, M. W. and Tsai, L. H. (1997). The role of cyclin-dependent kinase 5 and a novel regulatory subunit in regulating muscle differentiation and patterning. *Genes Dev.* 11, 1409–21.
- Piedrahita, D., Hernández, I., López-Tobón, A., Fedorov, D., Obara, B., Manjunath, B. S., Boudreau, R. L., Davidson, B., Laferla, F., Gallego-Gómez, J. C., et al. (2010). Silencing of CDK5 reduces neurofibrillary tangles in transgenic alzheimer's mice. J. Neurosci. 30, 13966–76.
- Piras, F., Jonta, M. T., Lai, S., Perra, M. T., Atzori, F., Minerba, L., Pusceddu, V., Maxia, C., Murtas, D., Demurtas, P., et al. (2011). Nestin expression associates with poor prognosis and triple negative phenotype in locally advanced (T4) breast cancer. Eur. J. Histochem. 55, e39.
- Poon, R. Y. C., Lew, J. and Hunter, T. (1997). Identification of Functional Domains in the Neuronal Cdk5 Activator Protein. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 5703–5708.
- Pozo, K., Castro-Rivera, E., Tan, C., Plattner, F., Schwach, G., Siegl, V., Meyer, D., Guo, A., Gundara, J., Mettlach, G., et al. (2013). The role of Cdk5 in neuroendocrine thyroid cancer. *Cancer Cell* 24, 499–511.
- Qi, Z., Huang, Q.-Q., Lee, K.-Y., Lew, J. and Wang, J. H. (1995). Reconstitution of Neuronal Cdc2-like Kinase from Bacteria-expressed Cdk5 and an Active Fragment of the Brain-specific Activator: KINASE ACTIVATION IN THE ABSENCE OF Cdk5 PHOSPHORYLATION. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 10847–10854.
- Qin, H. R., Kim, H.-J., Kim, J.-Y., Hurt, E. M., Klarmann, G. J., Kawasaki, B. T., Duhagon Serrat, M. A. and Farrar, W. L. (2008). Activation of signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 through a phosphomimetic serine 727 promotes prostate tumorigenesis independent of tyrosine 705 phosphorylation. *Cancer Res.* 68, 7736–41.
- Quintavalle, M., Elia, L., Price, J. H., Heynen-Genel, S. and Courtneidge, S. A. (2011). A cell-based high-content screening assay reveals activators and inhibitors of cancer cell invasion. Sci. Signal. 4, ra49.
- Ralat, L. A., Kalas, V., Zheng, Z., Goldman, R. D., Sosnick, T. R. and Tang, W.-J. (2011). Ubiquitin is a novel substrate for human insulindegrading enzyme. J. Mol. Biol. 406, 454–66.
- Rea, K., Sensi, M., Anichini, A., Canevari, S. and Tomassetti, A. (2013). EGFR/MEK/ERK/CDK5-dependent integrin-independent FAK phosphorylated on serine 732 contributes to microtubule depolymerization and mitosis in tumor cells. *Cell Death Dis.* 4, e815.
- Reimer, R., Helmbold, H., Szalay, B., Hagel, C., Hohenberg, H., Deppert, W. and Bohn, W. (2009). Nestin modulates glucocorticoid receptor function by cytoplasmic anchoring. PLoS One 4, e6084.
- Rosales, J. L., Lee, B.-C., Modarressi, M., Sarker, K. P., Lee, K.-Y., Jeong, Y.-G., Oko, R. and Lee, K.-Y. (2004a). Outer dense fibers serve as a functional target for Cdk5.p35 in the developing sperm tail. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 1224–32.
- Rosales, J. L., Ernst, J. D., Hallows, J. and Lee, K.-Y. (2004b). GTP-dependent secretion from neutrophils is regulated by Cdk5. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 53932–6.
- Rosse, C., Linch, M., Kermorgant, S., Cameron, A. J. M., Boeckeler, K. and Parker, P. J. (2010). PKC and the control of localized signal dynamics. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 11, 103–12.
- Rotwein, P. and Wilson, E. M. (2009). Distinct actions of Akt1 and Akt2 in skeletal muscle differentiation. J. Cell. Physiol. 219, 503-11.
- Rudrabhatla, P., Grant, P., Jaffe, H., Strong, M. J. and Pant, H. C. (2010). Quantitative phosphoproteomic analysis of neuronal intermediate filament proteins (NF-M/H) in Alzheimer's disease by iTRAQ. FASEB J. 24, 4396–407.
- Rytinki, M., Kaikkonen, S., Sutinen, P., Paakinaho, V., Rahkama, V. and Palvimo, J. J. (2012). Dynamic SUMOylation is linked to the activity cycles of androgen receptor in the cell nucleus. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 32, 4195–205.
- Ryuge, S., Sato, Y., Wang, G. Q., Matsumoto, T., Jiang, S. X., Katono, K., Inoue, H., Satoh, Y. and Masuda, N. (2011). Prognostic significance of nestin expression in resected non-small cell lung cancer. *Chest* 139, 862–9.
- Sacco, A., Doyonnas, R., Kraft, P., Vitorovic, S. and Blau, H. M. (2008). Self-renewal and expansion of single transplanted muscle stem cells. *Nature* 456, 502–6.
- Sahlgren, C. M., Mikhailov, A., Hellman, J., Chou, Y. H., Lendahl, U., Goldman, R. D. and Eriksson, J. E. (2001). Mitotic reorganization of the intermediate filament protein nestin involves phosphorylation by cdc2 kinase. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 16456–63.
- Sahlgren, C. M., Mikhailov, A., Vaittinen, S., Pallari, H.-M., Kalimo, H., Pant, H. C. and Eriksson, J. E. (2003). Cdk5 regulates the organization of Nestin and its association with p35. Mol. Cell. Biol. 23, 5090-106.
- Sahlgren, C. M., Pallari, H.-M., He, T., Chou, Y.-H., Goldman, R. D. and Eriksson, J. E. (2006). A nestin scaffold links Cdk5/p35 signaling to oxidant-induced cell death. EMBO J. 25, 4808–19.
- Saito, T., Onuki, R., Fujita, Y., Kusakawa, G., Ishiguro, K., Bibb, J. A., Kishimoto, T. and Hisanaga, S. (2003). Developmental Regulation of the Proteolysis of the p35 Cyclin-Dependent Kinase 5 Activator by Phosphorylation. J. Neurosci. 23, 1189–1197.
- Saito, T., Yano, M., Kawai, Y., Asada, A., Wada, M., Doi, H. and Hisanaga, S. (2013). Structural basis for the different stability and activity between the Cdk5 complexes with p35 and p39 activators. J. Biol. Chem. 288, 32433–9.
- Sakamaki, J.-I., Fu, A., Reeks, C., Baird, S., Depatie, C., Al Azzabi, M., Bardeesy, N., Gingras, A.-C., Yee, S.-P. and Screaton, R. A. (2014). Role of the SIK2-p35-PJA2 complex in pancreatic β-cell functional compensation. Nat. Cell Biol. 16, 234–44.
- Sarker, K. P. and Lee, K.-Y. (2004). L6 myoblast differentiation is modulated by Cdk5 via the PI3K-AKT-p70S6K signaling pathway. Oncogene 23, 6064–70.
- Sasaki, Y., Cheng, C., Uchida, Y., Nakajima, O., Ohshima, T., Yagi, T., Taniguchi, M., Nakayama, T., Kishida, R., Kudo, Y., et al. (2002). Fyn and Cdk5 Mediate Semaphorin-3A Signaling, Which Is Involved in Regulation of Dendrite Orientation in Cerebral Cortex. *Neuron* 35, 907–920.

- Scobioala, S., Klocke, R., Kuhlmann, M., Tian, W., Hasib, L., Milting, H., Koenig, S., Stelljes, M., El-Banayosy, A., Tenderich, G., et al. (2008). Up-regulation of nestin in the infarcted myocardium potentially indicates differentiation of resident cardiac stem cells into various lineages including cardiomyocytes. *FASEB J.* 22, 1021–31.
- Seale, P., Sabourin, L. A., Girgis-Gabardo, A., Mansouri, A., Gruss, P. and Rudnicki, M. A. (2000). Pax7 is required for the specification of myogenic satellite cells. Cell 102, 777–86.
- Sejersen, T. and Lendahl, U. (1993). Transient expression of the intermediate filament nestin during skeletal muscle development. J. Cell Sci. 106 (Pt 4, 1291–300.
- Session, D. R., Fautsch, M. P., Avula, R., Jones, W. R., Nehra, A. and Wieben, E. D. (2001). Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 is expressed in both Sertoli cells and metaphase spermatocytes. *Fertil. Steril.* 75, 669–73.
- Shea, T. B., Yabe, J. T., Ortiz, D., Pimenta, A., Loomis, P., Goldman, R. D., Amin, N. and Pant, H. C. (2004). Cdk5 regulates axonal transport and phosphorylation of neurofilaments in cultured neurons. J. Cell Sci. 117, 933–41.
- Shih, A. H. and Holland, E. C. (2006). Notch signaling enhances nestin expression in gliomas. Neoplasia 8, 1072-82.
- Shukla, V., Skuntz, S. and Pant, H. C. (2012). Deregulated Cdk5 activity is involved in inducing Alzheimer's disease. Arch. Med. Res. 43, 655–62.
- Singh, K. K., Ge, X., Mao, Y., Drane, L., Meletis, K., Samuels, B. A. and Tsai, L.-H. (2010). Dixdc1 is a critical regulator of DISC1 and embryonic cortical development. *Neuron* 67, 33–48.
- Sjöberg, G., Edström, L., Lendahl, U. and Sejersen, T. (1994a). Myofibers from Duchenne/Becker muscular dystrophy and myositis express the intermediate filament nestin. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 53, 416–23.
- Sjöberg, G., Jiang, W. Q., Ringertz, N. R., Lendahl, U. and Sejersen, T. (1994b). Colocalization of nestin and vimentin/desmin in skeletal muscle cells demonstrated by three-dimensional fluorescence digital imaging microscopy. *Exp. Cell Res.* 214, 447–58.
- Snider, N. T. and Omary, M. B. (2014). Post-translational modifications of intermediate filament proteins: mechanisms and functions. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 15, 163–77.
- Songyang, Z., Lu, K., Kwon, Y., Tsai, L., Filhol, O., Cochet, C., Brickey, D., Soderling, T., Bartleson, C., Graves, D., et al. (1996). A structural basis for substrate specificities of protein Ser/Thr kinases: primary sequence preference of casein kinases I and II, NIMA, phosphorylase kinase, calmodulin-dependent kinase II, CDK5, and Erk1. Mol. Cell. Biol. 16, 6486–6493.
- Sorimachi, H. and Ono, Y. (2012). Regulation and physiological roles of the calpain system in muscular disorders. Cardiovasc. Res. 96, 11-22.
- Sorimachi, H., Hata, S. and Ono, Y. (2010). Expanding members and roles of the calpain superfamily and their genetically modified animals. *Exp. Anim.* 59, 549–66.
- Standaert, M. L., Galloway, L., Karnam, P., Bandyopadhyay, G., Moscat, J. and Farese, R. V. (1997). Protein Kinase C-{zeta} as a Downstream Effector of Phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase during Insulin Stimulation in Rat Adipocytes: POTENTIAL ROLE IN GLUCOSE TRANSPORT. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 30075–30082.
- Steinert, P. M., Chou, Y.-H., Prahlad, V., Parry, D. A. D., Marekov, L. N., Wu, K. C., Jang, S.-I. and Goldman, R. D. (1999). A High Molecular Weight Intermediate Filament-associated Protein in BHK-21 Cells Is Nestin, a Type VI Intermediate Filament Protein: Limited Co-assembly In Vitro to Form Heteropolymers With Type III Vimentin and Type IV a-internexin. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 9881– 9890.
- Stone, M. R., O'Neill, A., Lovering, R. M., Strong, J., Resneck, W. G., Reed, P. W., Toivola, D. M., Ursitti, J. A., Omary, M. B. and Bloch, R. J. (2007). Absence of keratin 19 in mice causes skeletal myopathy with mitochondrial and sarcolemmal reorganization. J. Cell Sci. 120, 3999–4008.
- Strelkov, S. V, Herrmann, H. and Aebi, U. (2003). Molecular architecture of intermediate filaments. Bioessays 25, 243-51.
- Strock, C. J., Park, J.-I., Nakakura, E. K., Bova, G. S., Isaacs, J. T., Ball, D. W. and Nelkin, B. D. (2006). Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 activity controls cell motility and metastatic potential of prostate cancer cells. *Cancer Res.* 66, 7509–15.
- Su, S. C. and Tsai, L.-H. (2011). Cyclin-dependent kinases in brain development and disease. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 27, 465-91.
- Su, W., Chen, J., Yang, H., You, L., Xu, L., Wang, X., Li, R., Gao, L., Gu, Y., Lin, S., et al. (2007). Expression of nestin in the podocytes of normal and diseased human kidneys. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 292, R1761–7.
- Su, P.-H., Chen, C.-C., Chang, Y.-F., Wong, Z.-R., Chang, K.-W., Huang, B.-M. and Yang, H.-Y. (2013a). Identification and cytoprotective function of a novel nestin isoform, Nes-S, in dorsal root ganglia neurons. J. Biol. Chem. 288, 8391–404.
- Su, H.-T., Weng, C.-C., Hsiao, P.-J., Chen, L.-H., Kuo, T.-L., Chen, Y.-W., Kuo, K.-K. and Cheng, K.-H. (2013b). Stem cell marker nestin is critical for TGF-β1-mediated tumor progression in pancreatic cancer. Mol. Cancer Res. 11, 768–79.
- Sun, D., Leung, C. L. and Liem, R. K. (1996). Phosphorylation of the high molecular weight neurofilament protein (NF-H) by Cdk5 and p35. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 14245–51.
- Sun, X., Huang, J., Homma, T., Kita, D., Klocker, H., Schafer, G., Boyle, P. and Ohgaki, H. (2009). Genetic alterations in the PI3K pathway in prostate cancer. Anticancer Res. 29, 1739–43.
- Svachova, H., Pour, L., Sana, J., Kovarova, L., Raja, K. R. M. and Hajek, R. (2011). Stem cell marker nestin is expressed in plasma cells of multiple myeloma patients. *Leuk. Res.* 35, 1008–13.
- Swift, J., Ivanovska, I. L., Buxboim, A., Harada, T., Dingal, P. C. D. P., Pinter, J., Pajerowski, J. D., Spinler, K. R., Shin, J.-W., Tewari, M., et al. (2013). Nuclear lamin-A scales with tissue stiffness and enhances matrix-directed differentiation. *Science* 341, 1240104.
- Takahashi, S., Saito, T., Hisanaga, S., Pant, H. C. and Kulkarni, A. B. (2003). Tau phosphorylation by cyclin-dependent kinase 5/p39 during brain development reduces its affinity for microtubules. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 10506–15.
- Takakuwa, O., Maeno, K., Kunii, E., Ozasa, H., Hijikata, H., Uemura, T., Kasai, D., Ohkubo, H., Miyazaki, M., Oguri, T., et al. (2013). Involvement of intermediate filament nestin in cell growth of small-cell lung cancer. Lung Cancer 81, 174–9.
- Tamir, Y. and Bengal, E. (2000). Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase Induces the Transcriptional Activity of MEF2 Proteins during Muscle Differentiation. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 34424–34432.
- Tan, T. C., Valova, V. A., Malladi, C. S., Graham, M. E., Berven, L. A., Jupp, O. J., Hansra, G., McClure, S. J., Sarcevic, B., Boadle, R. A., et al. (2003). Cdk5 is essential for synaptic vesicle endocytosis. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 5, 701–10.
- Tanaka, T., Serneo, F. F., Tseng, H.-C., Kulkarni, A. B., Tsai, L.-H. and Gleeson, J. G. (2004a). Cdk5 Phosphorylation of Doublecortin Ser297 Regulates Its Effect on Neuronal Migration. Neuron 41, 215–227.
- Tanaka, S., Kamachi, Y., Tanouchi, A., Hamada, H., Jing, N. and Kondoh, H. (2004b). Interplay of SOX and POU factors in regulation of the Nestin gene in neural primordial cells. Mol. Cell. Biol. 24, 8834–46.
- Tang, D., Yeung, J., Lee, K.-Y., Matsushita, M., Matsui, H., Tomizawa, K., Hatase, O. and Wang, J. H. (1995). An Isoform of the Neuronal Cyclin-dependent Kinase 5 (Cdk5) Activator. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 26897–26903.

- Tang, J., Ip, J. P. K., Ye, T., Ng, Y.-P., Yung, W.-H., Wu, Z., Fang, W., Fu, A. K. Y. and Ip, N. Y. (2014). Cdk5-dependent Mst3 phosphorylation and activity regulate neuronal migration through RhoA inhibition. J. Neurosci. 34, 7425–36.
- Taniguchi, Y., Pippin, J. W., Hagmann, H., Krofft, R. D., Chang, A. M., Zhang, J., Terada, Y., Brinkkoetter, P. and Shankland, S. J. (2012). Both cyclin I and p35 are required for maximal survival benefit of cyclin-dependent kinase 5 in kidney podocytes. Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol. 302, F1161–71.
- Tarricone, C., Dhavan, R., Peng, J., Areces, L. B., Tsai, L.-H. and Musacchio, A. (2001). Structure and Regulation of the CDK5-p25nck5a Complex. Mol. Cell 8, 657–669.
- Taylor, B. S., Schultz, N., Hieronymus, H., Gopalan, A., Xiao, Y., Carver, B. S., Arora, V. K., Kaushik, P., Cerami, E., Reva, B., et al. (2010). Integrative genomic profiling of human prostate cancer. *Cancer Cell* 18, 11–22.
- Terling, C., Rass, A., Mitsiadis, T. A., Fried, K., Lendahl, U. and Wroblewski, J. (1995). Expression of the intermediate filament nestin during rodent tooth development. Int. J. Dev. Biol. 39, 947–56.
- Thomas, C., Lamoureux, F., Crafter, C., Davies, B. R., Beraldi, E., Fazli, L., Kim, S., Thaper, D., Gleave, M. E. and Zoubeidi, A. (2013). Synergistic targeting of PI3K/AKT pathway and androgen receptor axis significantly delays castration-resistant prostate cancer progression in vivo. *Mol. Cancer Ther.* 12, 2342–55.
- Tian, B., Yang, Q. and Mao, Z. (2009). Phosphorylation of ATM by Cdk5 mediates DNA damage signalling and regulates neuronal death. Nat. Cell Biol. 11, 211–8.
- Timper, K., Seboek, D., Eberhardt, M., Linscheid, P., Christ-Crain, M., Keller, U., Müller, B. and Zulewski, H. (2006). Human adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells differentiate into insulin, somatostatin, and glucagon expressing cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 341, 1135–40.
- Titeux, M., Brocheriou, V., Xue, Z., Gao, J., Pellissier, J. F., Guicheney, P., Paulin, D. and Li, Z. (2001). Human synemin gene generates splice variants encoding two distinct intermediate filament proteins. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 268, 6435–49.
- Toma, J. G., McKenzie, I. A., Bagli, D. and Miller, F. D. (2005). Isolation and characterization of multipotent skin-derived precursors from human skin. Stem Cells 23, 727–37.
- Tomé, M., Lindsay, S. L., Riddell, J. S. and Barnett, S. C. (2009). Identification of nonepithelial multipotent cells in the embryonic olfactory mucosa. Stem Cells 27, 2196–208.
- Tomizawa, K., Sunada, S., Lu, Y.-F., Oda, Y., Kinuta, M., Ohshima, T., Saito, T., Wei, F.-Y., Matsushita, M., Li, S.-T., et al. (2003). Cophosphorylation of amphiphysin I and dynamin I by Cdk5 regulates clathrin-mediated endocytosis of synaptic vesicles. J. Cell Biol. 163, 813–24.
- Tsai, L. H., Takahashi, T., Caviness, V. S. and Harlow, E. (1993). Activity and expression pattern of cyclin-dependent kinase 5 in the embryonic mouse nervous system. Development 119, 1029–40.
- Tsai, L. H., Delalle, I., Caviness, V. S., Chae, T. and Harlow, E. (1994). p35 is a neural-specific regulatory subunit of cyclin-dependent kinase 5. Nature 371, 419–23.
- Tschaharganeh, D. F., Xue, W., Calvisi, D. F., Evert, M., Michurina, T. V, Dow, L. E., Banito, A., Katz, S. F., Kastenhuber, E. R., Weissmueller, S., et al. (2014). p53-dependent Nestin regulation links tumor suppression to cellular plasticity in liver cancer. *Cell* 158, 579–92.
- Tsujimura, T., Makiishi-Shimobayashi, C., Lundkvist, J., Lendahl, U., Nakasho, K., Sugihara, A., Iwasaki, T., Mano, M., Yamada, N., Yamashita, K., et al. (2001). Expression of the intermediate filament nestin in gastrointestinal stromal tumors and interstitial cells of Cajal. Am. J. Pathol. 158, 817–23.
- Ubeda, M., Kemp, D. M. and Habener, J. F. (2004). Glucose-induced expression of the cyclin-dependent protein kinase 5 activator p35 involved in Alzheimer's disease regulates insulin gene transcription in pancreatic beta-cells. *Endocrinology* 145, 3023–31.
- Ubeda, M., Rukstalis, J. M. and Habener, J. F. (2006). Inhibition of cyclin-dependent kinase 5 activity protects pancreatic beta cells from glucotoxicity. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 28858–64.
- Uhlén, M., Björling, E., Agaton, C., Szigyarto, C. A.-K., Amini, B., Andersen, E., Andersson, A.-C., Angelidou, P., Asplund, A., Asplund, C., et al. (2005). A human protein atlas for normal and cancer tissues based on antibody proteomics. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* 4, 1920– 32.
- Utreras, E., Futatsugi, A., Rudrabhatla, P., Keller, J., Iadarola, M. J., Pant, H. C. and Kulkarni, A. B. (2009). Tumor necrosis factor-alpha regulates cyclin-dependent kinase 5 activity during pain signaling through transcriptional activation of p35. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 2275– 84.
- Wagner, N., Wagner, K.-D., Scholz, H., Kirschner, K. M. and Schedl, A. (2006). Intermediate filament protein nestin is expressed in developing kidney and heart and might be regulated by the Wilms' tumor suppressor Wt1. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 291, R779–87.
- Vaittinen, S., Lukka, R., Sahlgren, C., Rantanen, J., Hurme, T., Lendahl, U., Eriksson, J. E. and Kalimo, H. (1999). Specific and innervationregulated expression of the intermediate filament protein nestin at neuromuscular and myotendinous junctions in skeletal muscle. *Am. J. Pathol.* 154, 591–600.
- Vaittinen, S., Lukka, R., Sahlgren, C., Hurme, T., Rantanen, J., Lendahl, U., Eriksson, J. E. and Kalimo, H. (2001). The expression of intermediate filament protein nestin as related to vimentin and desmin in regenerating skeletal muscle. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 60, 588–97.
- Wakamatsu, Y., Nakamura, N., Lee, J.-A., Cole, G. J. and Osumi, N. (2007). Transitin, a nestin-like intermediate filament protein, mediates cortical localization and the lateral transport of Numb in mitotic avian neuroepithelial cells. Development 134, 2425–33.
- Waltering, K. K., Helenius, M. A., Sahu, B., Manni, V., Linja, M. J., Jänne, O. A. and Visakorpi, T. (2009). Increased expression of androgen receptor sensitizes prostate cancer cells to low levels of androgens. *Cancer Res.* 69, 8141–9.
- Waltering, K. K., Urbanucci, A. and Visakorpi, T. (2012). Androgen receptor (AR) aberrations in castration-resistant prostate cancer. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 360, 38–43.
- Wang, Z., Cui, J., Wong, W. M., Li, X., Xue, W., Lin, R., Wang, J., Wang, P., Tanner, J. A., Cheah, K. S. E., et al. (2013). Kif5b controls the localization of myofibril components for their assembly and linkage to the myotendinous junctions. *Development* 140, 617–26.
- Wei, F.-Y., Nagashima, K., Ohshima, T., Saheki, Y., Lu, Y.-F., Matsushita, M., Yamada, Y., Mikoshiba, K., Seino, Y., Matsui, H., et al. (2005). Cdk5-dependent regulation of glucose-stimulated insulin secretion. *Nat. Med.* 11, 1104–8.
- Veldscholte, J., Ris-Stalpers, C., Kuiper, G. G., Jenster, G., Berrevoets, C., Claassen, E., van Rooij, H. C., Trapman, J., Brinkmann, A. O. and Mulder, E. (1990). A mutation in the ligand binding domain of the androgen receptor of human LNCaP cells affects steroid binding characteristics and response to anti-androgens. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 173, 534–40.

- Verstegen, A. M. J., Tagliatti, E., Lignani, G., Marte, A., Stolero, T., Atias, M., Corradi, A., Valtorta, F., Gitler, D., Onofri, F., et al. (2014). Phosphorylation of synapsin I by cyclin-dependent kinase-5 sets the ratio between the resting and recycling pools of synaptic vesicles at hippocampal synapses. J. Neurosci. 34, 7266–80.
- Veselska, R., Hermanova, M., Loja, T., Chlapek, P., Zambo, I., Vesely, K., Zitterbart, K. and Sterba, J. (2008). Nestin expression in osteosarcomas and derivation of nestin/CD133 positive osteosarcoma cell lines. BMC Cancer 8, 300.
- Wiese, C., Rolletschek, A., Kania, G., Blyszczuk, P., Tarasov, K. V, Tarasova, Y., Wersto, R. P., Boheler, K. R. and Wobus, A. M. (2004). Nestin expression--a property of multi-lineage progenitor cells? *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 61, 2510–22.
- Wilczynski, G. M., Engel, W. K. and Askanas, V. (2000). Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 colocalizes with phosphorylated tau in human inclusionbody myositis paired-helical filaments and may play a role in tau phosphorylation. *Neurosci. Lett.* 293, 33–36.
- Wissing, M. D., Dadon, T., Kim, E., Piontek, K. B., Shim, J. S., Kaelber, N. S., Liu, J. O., Kachhap, S. K. and Nelkin, B. D. (2014). Smallmolecule screening of PC3 prostate cancer cells identifies tilorone dihydrochloride to selectively inhibit cell growth based on cyclindependent kinase 5 expression. Oncol. Rep. 32, 419–24.
- Wong, Z.-R., Su, P.-H., Chang, K.-W., Huang, B.-M., Lee, H. and Yang, H.-Y. (2013). Identification of a rod domain-truncated isoform of nestin, Nes-SA₁₀₇₋₂₅₄, in rat dorsal root ganglia. *Neurosci. Lett.* 553, 181-5.
- Xie, Z., Sanada, K., Samuels, B. A., Shih, H. and Tsai, L.-H. (2003). Serine 732 Phosphorylation of FAK by Cdk5 Is Important for Microtubule Organization, Nuclear Movement, and Neuronal Migration. Cell 114, 469–482.
- Xing, B.-M., Yang, Y.-R., Du, J.-X., Chen, H.-J., Qi, C., Huang, Z.-H., Zhang, Y. and Wang, Y. (2012). Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 controls TRPV1 membrane trafficking and the heat sensitivity of nociceptors through KIF13B. J. Neurosci. 32, 14709–21.
- Xue, Z. G., Cheraud, Y., Brocheriou, V., Izmiryan, A., Titeux, M., Paulin, D. and Li, Z. (2004). The mouse synemin gene encodes three intermediate filament proteins generated by alternative exon usage and different open reading frames. *Exp. Cell Res.* 298, 431–44.
- Yaffe, D. and Saxel, O. (1977). Serial passaging and differentiation of myogenic cells isolated from dystrophic mouse muscle. *Nature* 270, 725–7.
- Yamaguchi, T., Goto, H., Yokoyama, T., Silljé, H., Hanisch, A., Uldschmid, A., Takai, Y., Oguri, T., Nigg, E. A. and Inagaki, M. (2005). Phosphorylation by Cdk1 induces Plk1-mediated vimentin phosphorylation during mitosis. J. Cell Biol. 171, 431–6.
- Yang, H.-S. and Hinds, P. W. (2006). Phosphorylation of ezrin by cyclin-dependent kinase 5 induces the release of Rho GDP dissociation inhibitor to inhibit Rac1 activity in senescent cells. *Cancer Res.* 66, 2708–15.
- Yang, J., Bian, W., Gao, X., Chen, L. and Jing, N. (2000). Nestin expression during mouse eye and lens development. Mech. Dev. 94, 287-91.
- Yang, J., Cheng, L., Yan, Y., Bian, W., Tomooka, Y., Shiurba, R. and Jing, N. (2001). Mouse nestin cDNA cloning and protein expression in the cytoskeleton of transfected cells. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Gene Struct. Expr.* 1520, 251–254.
- Yang, J., Dominguez, B., de Winter, F., Gould, T. W., Eriksson, J. E. and Lee, K.-F. (2011). Nestin negatively regulates postsynaptic differentiation of the neuromuscular synapse. Nat. Neurosci. 14, 324–30.
- Yang, Y., Wang, H., Zhang, J., Luo, F., Herrup, K., Bibb, J. A., Lu, R. and Miller, R. H. (2013). Cyclin dependent kinase 5 is required for the normal development of oligodendrocytes and myelin formation. Dev. Biol. 378, 94–106.
- Yin, H., Price, F. and Rudnicki, M. A. (2013). Satellite cells and the muscle stem cell niche. Physiol. Rev. 93, 23-67.
- Zammit, P. S., Golding, J. P., Nagata, Y., Hudon, V., Partridge, T. A. and Beauchamp, J. R. (2004). Muscle satellite cells adopt divergent fates: a mechanism for self-renewal? J. Cell Biol. 166, 347–57.
- Zhang, H., Xiong, Y. and Beach, D. (1993). Proliferating cell nuclear antigen and p21 are components of multiple cell cycle kinase complexes. Mol. Biol. Cell 4, 897–906.
- Zhang, J., Krishnamurthy, P. K. and Johnson, G. V. W. (2002). Cdk5 phosphorylates p53 and regulates its activity. J. Neurochem. 81, 307-13.
- Zhang, W., Zhu, J., Efferson, C. L., Ware, C., Tammam, J., Angagaw, M., Laskey, J., Bettano, K. A., Kasibhatla, S., Reilly, J. F., et al. (2009). Inhibition of tumor growth progression by antiandrogens and mTOR inhibitor in a Pten-deficient mouse model of prostate cancer. *Cancer Res.* 69, 7466–72.
- Zhang, J., Li, H., Yabut, O., Fitzpatrick, H., D'Arcangelo, G. and Herrup, K. (2010a). Cdk5 suppresses the neuronal cell cycle by disrupting the E2F1-DP1 complex. J. Neurosci. 30, 5219–28.
- Zhang, P., Yu, P.-C., Tsang, A. H. K., Chen, Y., Fu, A. K. Y., Fu, W.-Y., Chung, K. K. and Ip, N. Y. (2010b). S-nitrosylation of cyclindependent kinase 5 (cdk5) regulates its kinase activity and dendrite growth during neuronal development. J. Neurosci. 30, 14366–70.
- Zhang, L, Liu, W., Szumlinski, K. K. and Lew, J. (2012). p10, the N-terminal domain of p35, protects against CDK5/p25-induced neurotoxicity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 109, 20041–6.
- Zhang, Y., Li, H., Hao, J., Zhou, Y. and Liu, W. (2014). High glucose increases Cdk5 activity in podocytes via transforming growth factor-β1 signaling pathway. Exp. Cell Res. 326, 219–29.
- Zhao, C., Li, K., Li, J., Zheng, W., Liang, X., Geng, A., Li, N. and Yuan, X. (2009). PKCdelta regulates cortical radial migration by stabilizing the Cdk5 activator p35. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 106, 21353–8.
- Zhao, Z., Lu, P., Zhang, H., Xu, H., Gao, N., Li, M. and Liu, C. (2014). Nestin positively regulates the Wnt/β-catenin pathway and the proliferation, survival, and invasiveness of breast cancer stem cells. *Breast Cancer Res.* 16, 408.
- Zheng, M., Leung, C. L. and Liem, R. K. (1998). Region-specific expression of cyclin-dependent kinase 5 (cdk5) and its activators, p35 and p39, in the developing and adult rat central nervous system. J. Neurobiol. 35, 141–59.
- Zheng, Y., Li, B.-S., Amin, N. D., Albers, W. and Pant, H. C. (2002). A peptide derived from cyclin-dependent kinase activator (p35) specifically inhibits Cdk5 activity and phosphorylation of tau protein in transfected cells. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 269, 4427–4434.
- Zheng, Y.-L., Li, B.-S., Rudrabhatla, P., Shukla, V., Amin, N. D., Maric, D., Kesavapany, S., Kanungo, J., Pareek, T. K., Takahashi, S., et al. (2010a). Phosphorylation of p27Kip1 at Thr187 by cyclin-dependent kinase 5 modulates neural stem cell differentiation. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 21, 3601–14.
- Zheng, Y.-L., Amin, N. D., Hu, Y.-F., Rudrabhatla, P., Shukla, V., Kanungo, J., Kesavapany, S., Grant, P., Albers, W. and Pant, H. C. (2010b). A 24-residue peptide (p5), derived from p35, the Cdk5 neuronal activator, specifically inhibits Cdk5-p25 hyperactivity and tau hyperphosphorylation. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 34202–12.
- Zheng, Y.-L., Hu, Y.-F., Zhang, A., Wang, W., Li, B., Amin, N., Grant, P. and Pant, H. C. (2010c). Overexpression of p35 in Min6 pancreatic beta cells induces a stressed neuron-like apoptosis. J. Neurol. Sci. 299, 101–7.
- Zheng, Y.-L., Li, C., Hu, Y.-F., Cao, L., Wang, H., Li, B., Lu, X.-H., Bao, L., Luo, H.-Y., Shukla, V., et al. (2013). Cdk5 inhibitory peptide (CIP) inhibits Cdk5/p25 activity induced by high glucose in pancreatic beta cells and recovers insulin secretion from p25 damage. PLoS One 8, e63332.

- Zhenlin, L., Parlakian, A., Coletti, D., Alonso-Martin, S., Hourdé, C., Joanne, P., Gao-Li, J., Blanc, J., Ferry, A., Paulin, D., et al. (2014). Synemin acts as a regulator of signalling molecules in skeletal muscle hypertrophy. J. Cell Sci.
- Zhou, B. P., Liao, Y., Xia, W., Zou, Y., Spohn, B. and Hung, M. C. (2001). HER-2/neu induces p53 ubiquitination via Akt-mediated MDM2 phosphorylation. Nat. Cell Biol. 3, 973–82.
- Zhu, M.-L. and Kyprianou, N. (2008). Androgen receptor and growth factor signaling cross-talk in prostate cancer cells. Endocr. Relat. Cancer 15, 841–9.
- Zhu, Y. X., Tiedemann, R., Shi, C.-X., Yin, H., Schmidt, J. E., Bruins, L. A., Keats, J. J., Braggio, E., Sereduk, C., Mousses, S., et al. (2011). RNAi screen of the druggable genome identifies modulators of proteasome inhibitor sensitivity in myeloma including CDK5. Blood 117, 3847–57.
- Zhu, H., Bhattacharyya, B. J., Lin, H. and Gomez, C. M. (2013). Skeletal muscle calpain acts through nitric oxide and neural miRNAs to regulate acetylcholine release in motor nerve terminals. J. Neurosci. 33, 7308–24.
- Zhu, H., Pytel, P. and Gomez, C. M. (2014). Selective inhibition of caspases in skeletal muscle reverses the apoptotic synaptic degeneration in slow-channel myasthenic syndrome. Hum. Mol. Genet. 23, 69–77.
- Zimmerman, L., Parr, B., Lendahl, U., Cunningham, M., McKay, R., Gavin, B., Mann, J., Vassileva, G. and McMahon, A. (1994). Independent regulatory elements in the nestin gene direct transgene expression to neural stem cells or muscle precursors. *Neuron* 12, 11–24.
- Zong, H., Chi, Y., Wang, Y., Yang, Y., Zhang, L., Chen, H., Jiang, J., Li, Z., Hong, Y., Wang, H., et al. (2007). Cyclin D3/CDK11p58 complex is involved in the repression of androgen receptor. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 27, 7125–42.
- Zou, J., Yaoita, E., Watanabe, Y., Yoshida, Y., Nameta, M., Li, H., Qu, Z. and Yamamoto, T. (2006). Upregulation of nestin, vimentin, and desmin in rat podocytes in response to injury. Virchows Arch. 448, 485–92.
- Zukerberg, L. R., Patrick, G. N., Nikolic, M., Humbert, S., Wu, C.-L., Lanier, L. M., Gertler, F. B., Vidal, M., Van Etten, R. A. and Tsai, L.-H. (2000). Cables Links Cdk5 and c-Abl and Facilitates Cdk5 Tyrosine Phosphorylation, Kinase Upregulation, and Neurite Outgrowth. Neuron 26, 633–646.
- Zulewski, H., Abraham, E. J., Gerlach, M. J., Daniel, P. B., Moritz, W., Müller, B., Vallejo, M., Thomas, M. K., Habener, J. F. and Muller, B. (2001). Multipotential nestin-positive stem cells isolated from adult pancreatic islets differentiate ex vivo into pancreatic endocrine, exocrine, and hepatic phenotypes. *Diabetes* 50, 521–533.
- Zwerger, M., Jaalouk, D. E., Lombardi, M. L., Isermann, P., Mauermann, M., Dialynas, G., Herrmann, H., Wallrath, L. L. and Lammerding, J. (2013). Myopathic lamin mutations impair nuclear stability in cells and tissue and disrupt nucleo-cytoskeletal coupling. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 22, 2335–49.



ISBN 978-952-12-3239-8 Painosalama Oy – Turku, Finland 2015